ROYAL COMMISSION OF INQUIRY
INTO PROCESSES AND PROCEDURES
FOLLOWED BY THE GOVERNMENT OF PAPUA NEW GUINEA
INTO OBTAINING THE OFF -SHORE LOAN

FROM THE UNION BANK OF SWITZERLAND AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

OUTLINE OF FINAL SUBMISSIONS BY COUNSEL ASSISTING

24 February 2022

May it please the Commission, we navakeour closingsubmissions This will take the best
part of a day. Our aim is to say something of the background to the inquiry, its conduct, and
scope and then peeed to submit key findings of fact and recommendations that we say should

be made, thereby providing further natural justind procedural fairness

We emphasise to those listening that these are submissions by Counsel Assisting which you,
Commissioners, may or may not yourselves make, especially having heard submissions, due in

the next 2 weekie. by 10 Marchfrom persons affected who have leave to appear.

! This has also been provided in questioning of witnesses.
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What follows should be read with the opening statemeatsave earlier made.
Establishment of the Commission

This Commission of Inquiry was established by instrument dated 30 August 2019, amended in
October 2021, both made under @@mmissions of Inquiry Actit followed the tabling in the
National Parliament in May 2019 of tBeecember 2018 Final Report of the Ombudsman
Commissiort. In the circumstances outlined in the opening remarks period in December last
year? the terms of reference were amended and further time provided to complete the hearings
and the report.

The Ombudman Commission investigation had commenced in or about March 2014, shortly
after the approval by the National Executive Council (NEC) for the State to enter into a loan
agreement with the Union Bank of Switzerland (Australian Branch) (UB3Wdr.39 billion to
purchase approximately 149 million newly issued shares in Oil Search Limited, which before its
recent takeover by Santos Ltd, was a lestablished Papua New Guinea oil and gas exploration

company listed on both the Papua New Guinea and Aust@ticenk Exchanges.

The Ombudsman Commi ssionds investigation wa

Supreme Court to resolve challenges to its jurisdiction by interested persons.

2 An Investigation into the alleged improper borrowingdfD1.239 billion loan from the Union Bank of

Switzerland, Aktiengesellschaft (Australia Branch) to purchase 149,390,244 Shares in OillS®&ethand

improper tender and procurement of consultants in relation to the borrowing

36 ( Re}pite the efforts and the cooperation and assistance provided by many witnesses, up to the end of the Augu
hearings, there remained matters which seemeaiant further consideration.

(b) That situation arose, unfortunately, due to a number of factors outside of the control of the Commission, in
particular, delays occasioned by the late and incomplete production of important documents by a humbanof relev
persons and entities.

(c) The need to consider documents produced at a very late stage (and since then, even more has been produced).
(d) A desire to provide one further and final opportunity to hear from key witnesses who had not yet provided
evidenceincluding those in jurisdictions outside of Papua New Guinea.

(e) Continued complications caused by the Covid 19 |
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On assuming office as Prime Minister, the Honourable James Marape MP ukderstablish
a commission of inquiry to investigate the facts surrounding the transaction. The Prime Minister
at the time of the UBS transactions, the Ho

Commission that he supported its establishment and work.

In our submission, it is significant that both the current and former Prime Ministers have
supported the work of this Commission and also have recently agreed with some of the

recommendations which we now put forward.
Jurisdiction
The jurisdiction of tke Commission is set out in t@mmissioaof Inquiry Act 1951

It is important to appreciate what the Commission can and canndth@oCommission has the
power to summons any person to attend the Commission to give oral evidence on oath (ss.6 anc
7).

The Commission also has the power to summons the production of documents (s.6).

It is an offence to fail, without reasonable excuse, to comply with a summons to give oral
evidence or produce documents (s.9) or to give false evidence (s.10A) or to act @n wizgich

amounts to contempt of the Commission (s.11).

However, the Commi ssion, as a commission of
kind of powers extended to those institutions with power to conduct investigations into criminal

conduct ad other offences.
Relevantly:

the powers of the Commission do not have etdratorial application and cannot

compel oral evidence or the production of documents outside Papua New Guinea;

the Commission has no power to establish a taskforcentduct investigations
(although in a more | i mited sense the Mi

appropriate technical or professional e

the Commission cannot seek the assistance, nor resources, of cotsterpider
jurisdictiorsi there is no comity of commissions of inquiry of the kind enjoyed by

Courts or law enforcement agencies;
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the Commission cannot issue or obtain a Goulered warrant to enter and search
premises or seize documents or other mx@ior example, computer hard drives) or to

use an interception device; the Commission also cannot make arrests;

the Commission has no ready access to data matching services with other authorities or

bodies.

Rather the function of the Commission is taquire irto any matter of public welfare (s.2),
assemble the facts using the powers available to it and report on its proceedings and the results
its inquiry (s.15) that is, answer its terms of referericir tabling in Parliament (s.17).

It is thenthe function of other relevant investigative and law enforcement agencies in Papua New
Guinea to investigate and prosecute conduct within their respective jurisdictions utilising the
wider powers referred to above, for example, the Ombudsman CommissiBulaitd

Prosecutor (breaches of the Leadership Code), Public Prosecutor and the police (breaches of th
Criminal Code or prosecutions of other offences) or ICAC (prosecution of corrupt conduct,

including official corruption).
Hearings

The Commission began hearings soon after its establishment, however many factors delayed its
progress, including the wordide Covid19 pandemic (which began in early 2020 and still
continues), delays in finding further suitable persons who could unddhakvork and who had

no conflicts of interest, and thus, were to be found overseas, and obstructive approaches toward
the Commission by some persons and entities with relevant information and docuients.
continue to thank the many persons who didsafise Commission, in private and in public, and

especially those under no legal compulsion to do so.

We will later say something about the recalcitrant withesses and entitieselsay this now

about the Statebds f or mer tobppeakireperson a rechotelyaywy e r
video: the Commission only had powers of compulsion over those within the Independent State,
butas a nation State it iIis not defencel ess,

to youy Commissionerdn theiroral evidencetheir support in principle of our recommendation,

that such persons or entities should be banned, if necessary by law, from doing any work for 5

years for the State or its emanations.
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Following many directions hearings and return of sumn®resed also the tragic death of

former Commissioner Gilmour and the subsequent appointment of Commissioner White, and the
appointments of those assisting, the principal hearings involving witnesses began in March 2021
and continued, intermittently, untiluigust 2021, following which amended terms of reference

were subsequently issued. Hearingsammmenced in December 2021, continued in late January
2022 and this mont h. Foll owing todayds fin
responses by thosdth leave, the report is due by 31 March 2022.

Especially because of Covid, the hearings have been conductedRB@ Hausput with some
counsel and some witnesses (and one Commissjatéines being located elsewhere and
participating by videdink. Although this is not the traditional approach, it has created real and
practical advantages: indeeg submit thait has been a resounding success. Thus, there has
been a very large saving in the accommodation costs and travel expenses for wéandsses,
those assisting, who have not had to travel to and from Port Moresby, some on multiple
occasions. Persons who had ces@lised travednd healthrestrictions have still been able to
appear. The hearings, which have been entirely in public, havdilb®etreamed oifracebook
(with recordings placed on the Commissionos
viewers at a time on the livestream. The Commission has been able to have witnesses from
many overseas locations, sometimes, as in theodasgerts, from multiple overseas locations
simultaneously. We submit this has proved to be a flexible, practical and efficient model which

should be used in the future.

We later have some submissions as to amendments that might be madeamthissios of

Inquiry Act

The Commission has engaged experts to assist it. We acknowledge the detailed work of the
Brattle Groupwho have provided significant financial analysis of the complex transactions
which are the focus of this Commission. There has he#ing in the hearing which has cast
any doubt on their assumptions, analysis or conclusidhsir reportshould be accepted in

theirentirety. We shall return to their reports.
Terms of Reference

The Terms of Reference setout@® mmi ssi ond6s purpose, jurisdi

must be dealt with.
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The instrument containing the Terms of Reference for this Commission begins with a brief

explanation followed by the Terms of Reference:

The objective of the Commission of Ingus to inquire into and establish facts

surrounding:
1. The decision by the Government to obtain the loan fundibigof.3 billion;

2. The decision to seek afhore loan and the decision to select Union Bank of

Switzerland as the preferred financier;

3. Individuals and entities who were instrumental in the negotiation (the middlemen
involved) for and on behalf of the State, how were they engaged and how much

were paid as fees for their services as brokers and negotiators;

4. Whether breaches of mandat&@pnstitutonal requirements have occurred and

the conduct on the part of Leaders and persons involved in the deal.

The ultimate objective of the Commission of Inquiry is to establish whether there were
breaches of PNG laws ar@bnstitutioral requirements in the poess of negotiation and
approval of the UBS Loan, and also establish whether PNG as a country had suffered as
a result of this ofshore deal, and whether the persons involved in the deal can be held

accountable for their conduct.

Those Terms of Referenogay be grouped under a list of financial transactions, follovand

then key issues:

(@)
(b)
()
(d)
()
(f)

Orogen Minerals Merger with Oil Search Limited in 2002;
PNG LNG Project;

IPIC Loan;

UBS Loan ofAUD1.39 billion to the State in 2014;
Purchase of Oil Search Shares Ihg State in 2014,

Elk/Antelope RRL-15 Transaction by Oil Search in 2014;
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(g) Sale of Oil Search Shares by a St@tened Enterprise in 2017;
(h)  Sovereign Wealth Fund;

(1) Who is responsible?

() Who benefited?

(k)  What should be done: recommendations.

Role of theCommission of Inquiry

The Commission is directed to investigate, and establish, the facts relating to these financial
transactions, their lawfulness and propriety, the nature of the conduct of those involved in them

and the consequences for the State hageople of Papua New Guinea.

The Terms of Reference require that this Co
i nquire into, make findings and report onbo
to (gg) inclusive. Given time ando@id constraints and the limits of voluntary-aperation by

those locatedoff hor e, we submit that the inquiry ha

p 0 s s:iydh youwr eport may well lead to others taking action

The Commission is charged with makifiigdings and recommendations arising out of its

findings. We maketwo importantsubmissions about what is involved.

1 First, the Commission is not reviewing the Ombudsman Commission report which was

the catalyst for the establishment of this Commission

1 Second as this Commission is an inquiry, not a court of law, it cannot make
determinations of the legal rights and obligasiaf any persons or entities either within
Papua New Guinea or elsewhere. Nor may it make binding determinations on legal
issues, including those relating to constitutional matters. But it does not transgress those
limits when, as we submit it should gtiCommission expresses an opiniomcasow laws

should be construed.

1. History, the Constitution, and key legal structures

1.1 Answering the Terms of Reference requires some understanding of fundamental matters

of Constitutioral law and practice, and statutevJaspecially such as concern the
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commercial exploitation of natural resources, the potential role of the State in that regard,
and parliamentary control of borrowing by the executive government of the day.

12 The I nquiryds i nit i aobtaimpnh evislence orfthesevopick éramc e
some of the founders of ti@onstitutionof the Independent Staéad contemporary
experts: we refer you to the opening in March last year, and the evidence, particularly
that oftwo key foundersChief Dr John Mo GCL and the Right Honourable Sihief
Julius Chan GCL GCMG KBIwho of course later became Prime Minister)

1.3 Dr Momis in his evidenceaid that the founders such as himself saw the need to have:

fié very strong parliamentary committees to make sure thiaministerial members of
Parliament would also keep a check on the government, make their contribution and at
the same time you have got to allow the government, that is the National Executive
Council, to take initiatives, knowing that they are being Weadcand they would not just

do things without taking into accdédunt th

1.4 Papua New Guinea became the Independent State in 1975 &@whtgutionthen came
into force. By reflecting both spiritua
land and resources, tidonstitutionis unusual, and perhaps unique. Thus, its preamble

states, in terms which must be continually borne in mindignitlguiry:

AAll persons in our country have the fol
descendant s, to each ot her and to the Na

(d) to protect Papua New Guinea and to safeguard the national wealth, resources and
environment in the intests not only of the present generation but also of future

generationso

and additionally, declares that

e al l citizens have an obligation to t

and to the Nation to use profits from economic activitighénadvancement of our

4 Chief Dr John Momis GCL, oral evidence; transc(R2 April 2021 at page 173
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country and our people, and that the law may impose a similar obligation eaitimens

carrying on economic activities in or from our country."

Stateborrowing

15

1.6

It is not uncommon for countries from within the Commonwealth of Matto have
constitutional provisions requiring parliamentary approval for government borrowing and
expenditure. Soitis here. Inthe Independent State the key provision is s 209(1) of the

Constitution which provides:

(1) Notwithstanding anything in $h€Constitution the raising and expenditure of finance
by the National Government, including the imposition of taxation and the raising of loans,
is subject to authorization and control by the Parliament, and shall be regulated by an

Act of the Parliament.

The Ombudsman Commi ssionb6s report on the
complied with in the case of the borrowing arrangements entered into by the State, as
later that year novated to a St&@e/ned entity, Kimul PetroleumHoldingsLimited

(KPHL), concerning the UBS Loan of AUD 1.239 billion in 20Ihe Commission

received much evidence and submissions on this topic. For reasons we will camme to,

submit you shouldhot make the same findingkat s 209 was transgressed

Exploitation of Papua New Guinea natural resources, law and practice

1.7

1.8

The Independent State is rich in many natural resources, among them the valuable, and

internationally marketable, commodities of petroleum and liquefied natural gas (LNG).

National Goal 4 in th€onstitutionconcerns natural resources and the environfent

Papua New Guinea. It states:

" 4. Natural resources and environment.

We declare our fourth goal to be for Papua New Guinea's natural resources and
environment to be conserved and used for the collective benefit of us all and be

replenished for the Imefit of future generations.

WE ACCORDINGLY CALL FGR
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1.9

1.10

(1) wise use to be made of our natural resources and the environment in and on the land
or seabed, in the sea, under the land, and in the air, in the interests of our development

and in trust for futire generations; and

(2) the conservation and replenishment, for the benefit of ourselves and posterity, of the

environment and its sacred, scenic, and historical qualities; and

(3) all necessary steps to be taken to give adequate protection to ned \mtds,

animals, fish, insects, plants and trees."

On this point, Dr Momis said in his evidence that:

e the fourth National Goal and Directi
environment, ... These provisions make clei@ra manner unusuabnd perhaps unique

to a national constitutioin that the protection and management of natural resources are
matters of the greatest importanc@é Papua New Guineans are very closely related to
natural resources, environment. In fact, their relatitipshas an eschatological

dimension to it, in other words, both spiritually important and of course materially
economically also important so it has a double base. People of Papua New Guinea are

very close to their resources."

The proper role of the govemnent in a capitalist system was spoken déagth by the
witnesses who gave evidence in the first phase of hearings. They spoke of four main

governmental functions, namely:

(@) the traditional and essential role of government to make good policiéavesd
that create an environment that is conducive for business growth but without direct
government intervention, while the government focuses on provision of quality

public services such as i education,

5> Supplementary Statement of Chief Dr John Momis (Exhibit "K.2") at pagé2.0088.0004.0001
6 Statement of Sir Michael Somare (Exhibit "B"), page ¥8]T.0001.0002.0002 Sir Charl es Lepan

(Exhibit A @6rpoosaoo3maeog e 2,
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(b)  the government raisdax revenue from private businesses to fund public goods
and services;

(c) the government regulates business in order to achieve proper exploitation of labour
and natural resources and to promote equitable distribution of economic benefits;

and
(d) the gwernment invests in public and private business entergrises.

1.11 There was no dispute over the first, second and third functions. The fourth attracted

different views from witnesses.

1.12 Although Grand Chief Sir Michael Somarassed awalyefore he couldjive oral
evidencethe Grand Chief'testamentary evidence supported direct government
investment. He referenced his time as Prime Minister when the government invested
heavily inState OwnedEnterprises$ o E) vlsich were managed by the then
Independent PuldiBusiness CorporatiotRBC) . These SoE6s incl
Ltd, Air Niugini Ltd and PNG Ports Ltd.
private business ventures such as the St
in the PNG LNG Prject®

1.13 In contrast Sir Julius Chamased that ordinarily government should stay out of business
because it involves a lot of risks.However the notion that government ought to be

involved in business is a good idea, as long as the government mitigatek s 0 .

'St atement of Sir Charl es WITE@aW0003.0§08aternebtioftDr iskbing on p
Sanida (Exhibit "E") at paragraphs [28] and [31] to [32] on pageN5]..0009.0002.000.1

8St atement of Sir Charl esWII.B0P80AG3.000EXx hi bit fACO0O) on pa
°Sir Michael Somare6s st at aWviTe00l.0002080poralevidencéd dBCh)efDat pag
John Momis on 29 April 2021; transcript at page 164
WIT.0008.0003.0003oral evidence of Dr Osborne Sanida; transcript at page483229 April 2021), oral

evidence of Dr Lawrence Sause; transcript at pages 310 to 311(13 May 2021)

10 Statement of Sir Michael Somare (Exhibit "B") at pages 8 ta&MIT,0001.0002.0002

lstatement of Sir Jul i hs[2410ad[46h pageE X th BYIF.0002.0604.60p2oralp ar a g r «
evidence of Sidulius Chan; transcript at pages 282 to 285 (12 May 2021).
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1.14 Dr Osborne Sanida dfie Papua New Guinea National Research Instiaits this!2

éthe Government has been involved in economic affairs in the terms of trying to affect
what happens in the economy as well as been involved in economic or business activities
throughtheSoE'sand i nterest 1in the | argendproj ect
promotes the role of the private sector
also interferes in the economy by being involved in businesses in addition to running the
publici sector affairs of the nation. Ideally, the main focus of taeeShould be on

ensuring that public affairs/Institutions are functioning effectively and efficiently to

provide a conducive environment for the private sector to perform its role as an engine of
growth. However, there is a question as to whether otheopeople are getting

maximum benefit from all the economic and business activities. In my view, one of the
reasons that governments get involved in business is the perceived view that the private

sector is not doing enough for the peadple.

1.15 In our submision,you can find thathere was general agreement amongst witnesses that
under the capitalist free market economic system operating in the country, government
appropriatelytends to avoid involvement in private businesbasif it considers it
necessarto intervene in private business as an investor itself, it can gwaaded,and
we emphasise the following provismy risks inherent in private business investment are
managed properly so as to avoid los§es

1.16 Examples of government investmennetural resource development projects through

equity participation includes the following models:

(&) Government directly taking up equity in a jeurg@nture company with

multinational companiesuch as the Porgera Gold Mine and OK Tedi Mining Ltd;

(b)  Governmentaking over a joirtventure company after purchasing shares of

another joint venture partnesuch as Ok Tedi Mining Ltd;

12 statement of Dr Osborne Sanida, (Exhibit "E"), paragraphs [21] to [27] at paig®¥!3.0009.0002.0001
13 Statement of Dr Waine (Exhibit "F") at pagevBlT.0039.0005.0007
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(c) Government taking up shares in a multinational company that operates the
project,such as BugainvilleCopperLimited; and

(d)  Governmenbuying shares in a multinational corporation that is involved in a
joint-venture with other multinational corporations to conduct a resource

development projeduch as the proposed Papua LNG Project.

1.17 The witnesse%roadly agreed that where business involves investment risks, the
government must be cautious in engaging in business ventures and only undertake such
investments using public funds after a thorough assessment of risk has been undertaken.
The State obtaining loa to finance its equity or shares under any of the above models
increases that risk and extra prudence is then required. Some witnesses expressed the
view that the State should not be involved in a purely private business enterprise
involving multinationhcompanies in which the State does not hold any controlling
interest* because the risks are too high.

1.18 This evidence sets the historical context for the events the Commission is inquiring into.
The Terms of Reference of this Inquiry focus on a numbpetwbleum and LNG
transactions in which the Government of Papua New Guinea and its agencies were

involved.
1.19 Before coming to thosere mention some key legal provisions.

1.20 There are laws such as tlkning Act 1992and theMineral Resources Authority Act
2005 designed to prevent the improper exploitation of natural resotiraes), also to

ensure that the State can participate in the commercialisation of its natural re¥burces.

1.21 TheOil and Gas Act 1988:

“See also Statement of Sir OMBR0O008.6003.00¢3gatement of St qulius b i t i
Chan (Exhibit MAHIO0D02.8004.00020gakevideBce of Bir JBlius Chan; transcript at pages 284

to 288, 12 May 2021; oral evidence of Dr Sanida; transcript at page 321 (13 Rty 20

15 SeeMining Act 1992 Mineral Resources Authority Act 2005il and Gas Act 199&t IV; Environment Act 2000

s 4;Unconventional Hydrocarbons Act 2015

16 SeeQil and Gas Act 199& 165.
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(a) creates a licensing regime of five categories @ae including Petroleum
Development Licence (PDL) and a Petroleum Retention Licence (PRL),

(b)  imposes a duty to compensate traditional landowners affected by the exploitation

of natural resources, and

(c) preserves an optional participating inteiietite 'ba&k-in rights'i for the

Independent State in all petroleum and liquefied gas projects.

1.22 Thus, s 165(1) of th@iland GasAcbr ovi des f or &ébackThen r i ¢
State has the right (but not the obligation) to acquire, directly or througtnainee, all

or any part of a participating interest not exceeding 22.5% in each petroleum project.

1.23 Where the State exercises this right, affected landowners are granted royalties or equity
out of the St at e'§ Histdricaltyehe &itethas bpted tb éxercise this | e
right through a State nominee.

1.24 Itis important to note that there are a number of different ways the Statedamdude

in thisSoE'$ can participate in large petroleum/LNG projects.

1.25 As already noted, some withessesestdhat the State has no role at all to play in such
projects, beyond the traditional role of governments to provide an economically and

politically stable State, which delivers public services as needed, and allows miners and

17The licences are as follows:

PetroleumProspecting Licence, which provides exclusive rights to explore for oil and gas, and to complete the
necessary appraisal processes to determine whether the resource is commercialfy viable;

Petroleum Development Licence, which provides exclusgtgs to explore for, appraise, recover and sell
petroleum and liquefied natural gHs;

Petroleum Retention Licence, which provides exclusive rights to explore, appraise gas fields and, with authorisation
carry out drill stem tests for appraisal of a petum poolt”

Pipeline Licence, which is required to construct, alter or reconstruct a pipeline which is used for transport of
petroleum or liquefied natural gésand

Petroleum Processing Facility Licence, which is required to construct or operate euypetoolliquefied natural gas
processing facility.

18 Oil and Gas Act 199&s 167 and 168.
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their workers to operate sdy. (No-one in this Commission has argued for the
theoretical alternative that the State should itself operate all aspects of petroleum/LNG

projects.)
1.26 Rather, in this inquiry, the debate has been between two available approaches, namely:

(&) exercising (angbaying for) the back in rights under s 165 of @ieand Gas Act
so that when the LNG begins to be exported and sold, the State shares directly in

profits made under the licence; or

(b)  Buying shares in a company which itself owns the licence, so that it receives such
dividends as the company chooses to declare from time to time: there being no

guarantee as to the amount or frequency of dividends.

1.27 Another debate in this inquiry has bebe role of the Sovereign Wealth Fund which is
provided for by existing laws but not yet established. In thReport by the Brattle
Group, they said this:

In general, Sovereign Wealth Funds can be designed to achieve several different
purposes. Oftethese include: a) smoothing out volatile revenues in order to insulate
spending programs from fluctuations, such as those caused by volatile commodity prices;
and b) investing surplus revenues for use later (including possibly much later, to facilitate
Ai Nt ergenerational equityo). I f a fund |
is likely to invest mainly in lowisk, lowreturn assets such as bonds issued by
governments with very strong credit ratings (such as the USA or Japan). Such
investments generally hold their value from one year to the next but do not generate high
returns over the long term. If a fund is mostly investing for the long term, it is more likely
to invest in equities: although the value of equities is volatile, retaver the long term

tend to be much higher than returns from investing in bonds. Thus the investment
mandate of a Sovereign Wealth Fund will depend on whether it is mostly trying to invest
surplus revenues for the long term or is mostly trying to snmdtkolatile revenues to
support current spending. The former will have relatively low and relatively stable

returns, while the latter will have higher returns that are more volatile.
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1.28 We heard some important evidence on this topic from Professor Sir Tim Besley CBE of
the London School of Economics, an expert on developing economies, and Mr David
Murray AO, former Chairman ofovareige Boar d

WealthFund, the Future Fund We shall have more to say about this topic later on.
2. Key Persons and Events
2.1 Let me now mention some key persons and events.

People

2.2 The Prime Minister the Honourable James Marape MP
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2.3 The Right Honourable Grand Chief Sir Michael Somard GCMG CH CF SSI

2.4  Mr Arthur Somare;
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2.5 The Honourabl® et e r CMBWE,ithe flormer Prime Minister

2.6 Mr Dairi Vele, relevantly the former Director of the Gas Production Coordination Office,

Secretary and Acting Secretary of the Department of Treasury

2.7 Mr Wapu SonkCEO of Kumul Petroleum Holdings
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2.8 Mr CarlosCivelli

2.9 Dr Clement Waingformer Secretary and Acting Secretary of the Department of Public

Enterprises and State Investments

2.10 Mr Ben Micah former Minister for Public Enterprises aSthte Investments
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2.11 Mr Anthony Latimey former partner at NRFA

L

2.12 Mr Steven Moeformer Senior Associate at NRFA

2.13 Mr Vittorio Casamentpformer Senior Associate at NRFA

Page20

ME_195780697_5



2.14 Mr Paddy JilekUBS,

2.15 Mr Mitchell Turner UBS,

Companies

2.16 Oil Searchis a companyvhich since 17 December 2021 has been merged with Santos
Limited and is now part of the Santos Group, but before that has for many years describec
itself as O0the | argest single i nwensandr i
because from tim&o-time the State or itSoE'shave been significant shareholders in Oil
Search, it has had significant economic and political influence in Papua New Ghiutea:
we arenot thereby suggesting such influence was bad or inappteprior a long time
Mr Peter BotterAC CBE was its CEO: its local representatives included the dirkbtor
Gerea Aopi.
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2.17 In 2002, Orogen Minerals LimitedDfogen) which was a publicly listed company in
which Mineral Resources Development CompafiiRDC) (a 100% State owned
company) held 51% of the sharamerged with Oil Search. Orogen was created by the

State to hold the Stateds private invest

2.18 UBS AGis a Swiss multinational investment bank and financial servimepany
founded and based in Switzerland. The Australian branch of UBS AG was engaged as
both financial advisor and financier to the Independent State on the UBS loan. UBS
continues to operate out of Sydney, Australia and is not compellable by the Cammmiss
to provide evidence. UBS provided some assistance to the Commission, producing
certain relevant documents, providing a statement of its view of relevant facts and
answering specific questions from the Commissfddespite requests, did not make
ary current oformer UBS employees available to give evidence.

2.19 Norton Rose Fulbright is an international law firm. The Sydney office of the Firm, Norton
Fulbright Australia NRFA), was engaged as a legal advisor for the State on the UBS
Loan. NRFA was engged on a number of other matters throughout 2012 and 2013.
These related matters included:

(@) advising on the establishment off@masek styleenterprise to own and operate

certainSoE'sand hold certain investments for the Stite:
(b)  the IPICExchangeable bonasfinancing; and

(c) advising on the enabling legislation and regulations necessary to give effect to the

Sovereign Wealth Fund and drafting such legislation and regul&tions.

19 Statement by UBS AG, Australia Branch, 4 August 2Q28S.0001.0002.00¢Bupplementary Information from
UBS AG Australia Branchi Response to questions from COI Solicitors Assisting received on 6 August 2021, 9
August 2021UBS.0001.0003.0001

20\WIT.0015.0001.0695t 0691 [2.2].

21 \W|T.0015.0001.0694t 0693 [2.5(3)].
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2.20 The lawyers who were asked to give evidence in this inquiry (who declined) were Mr

Latimer, Mr MoeandMr Casamento

2.21 KPMG is a multinational network of professional firms providing audit, tax and advisory

services.lIt advised the State on the UBS Loan.

SCE's

2.22 We mentionedhat variousSoE'shave been created to participate in petroleum and

liquefied natural gas projects. The main relevant entities for the purpose of this

Commission are as follows:

INDEPENDENT PUBLIC
BUSINESS CORPORATION

Independent Public

K

K"M“& o)

Kumul Conslidated

Business Corporation

-—

Kroton No.2 Limited

| Company of PNG (Kroton)

Holdings

-—

National Petroleum

(20.06.2008 - 23.09.2010)

S —

Petromin PNG Holdings
Limited

Yy

Development of Relevant Corporate Entities

Kumul Petroleum (PNG
LNG) Limited

Limited
(24.09.2010 - 25.09.2015)

S —

Kumul Minerals Holdings
Limited

(29.03.2007 - 01.12.2015)

S —

\ 4

(01.12.2015 - Present)

S —

A4

(25.09.15 - 28.01.2016)

S —

Kumul Petroleum (Kroton)
Limited
(28.01.2016 - Present)

2.23 The key executives include Mr Wapu Sonk the inaugural 6BQumul Petroleum

Limited, who still holds that role.

Two LNG projects

2.24 Commissioners, you will recall that two LNG projects are centrtddavork of the

Commission namely:

(@)
(b)

ME_195780697_5

The PNG LNG Gas Projecnd

The variously named Papua LNBACLNG/ Elk Antelope project.
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2.25

2.26

2.27

2.28

2.29

2.30

231

2.32

2.33

As explained irtheopening submissions in March last year, the PNG LNG Project is one
of the most significant natural resources undertaken in Papua New Guinea. Operated by
ExxonMobil, the PNG LNG Project has already contribiaae USD19 billion to the

devel opment of Papua New Guineads econorr

The PNG LNG Project stretches across the Hela, Western, Southern Highlands, Gulf and
Central provinces. Gas for the project is primarily produced from the Juha, Hides and
Angore gas filels before it is transported by pipeline for storage and liquefication at
facilities located nortlwest of PorMoresby. The liquefied natural gas is then loaded

onto ships for export.

The PNG LNG Project produces approximately 6.9 million tonnes offiggleatural gas

each yeaf? which is exported throughout Asia.

The project is structured as an unincorporated Joint Vefiture.

Gas for the project is sourced f om seve
This project i s ceTetmsdRefetemce.t he Commi ssi o
The other gas project of relevance to this inquiry was known initially as tharidtope

gas field. Itis located to the west of Port Moreshy. It was discovered in 2007 by
InterQil, an oil and gas exploreinterOil subsequengl partnered with the French

company Total which purchased a 60% interest.
We now turn to some key transactions: the IRKchangeable bondsd the UBS Loans.
As we said in opening last March:

In 2009, the late Grand Chief Sir Michael Somare, the firanBrMinister of the

Il ndependent State, was again Prime Minis

23 Between ExxonMobil, Oil Search Limited, Santos, JX Nippon Oil & Gas Exploration, and the Independent State,

through Kumul Petrolem Holdings Limited and Mineral Resources Development Company Limited.
WIT.0014.0001.000&t.0005.

24\WIT.0014.0001.000&t.0006.
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|l ndependent Stateds share of capital 1inv
assets, its 14.7% stake in Oil Search to raise a large sMdD1.7 billion. However, the

Oil Search shares were not worJD1.7 billion and so they were pledged against their
future projected value in a deal with the International Petroleum Investment Company
(IPIC) [a foreign Sovereign Wealth Fund]. Among othertarat it was initially

proposed that IPIC agree that the Independent State would have the rights to buy back
the shares in 2014, provided that the Independent State could then raise the money to do
so. But the eventual agreement was moresihed than tht, with IPIC having the

option of keeping the shares.

2.34 When the bonsicame due in 201the agreement was for IPIC to take the shares unless
there was an agreement otherwiSée government did not seriously attempt to obtain an
extensioruntil it was toodlate,and despite its desite retain the share#1C held onto
the Oil Search sharaacluding the sharethe government or itSoE'shad previously
owned, thus leaving the State with a situation it had not facedtbi@ac@rogen merger
that is, owningno shares in Oil SearchormerPrime MinisterO'Neill said this was
unacceptable sloe persuadelis governmento makethe entirely optional decision to
ask Oil Search to issue 10% of its share capital to the Stateairwe calthe UBS loan
Oil Search agreed as it allowed it to purchase the PacLNG group that held a 22.8%
interest in the EHAntelope field.

2.35 The new Oil Search sharasd the UBS Loawere swiftly transferred to the SOE, Kumul

Petroleum.

2.36 The evidence, in our submission, is tkKatit mu | Petrol eum didnot W
largeUBS Loan debt bufor yearsit could not obtain the permission of its Trustee, Mr
O6 Nei I I , to selll t he shares.

2.37 Theso @ | | veatistrajegic interedof the State in owning Oil Search shares, which was
the stated justification for the UBS Loan,our submission, having regard to the
evidencegeased to be vitathenthe shares were eventually sold, aftexelection which
returned Mr @é&émMNe, | il ®s2@3dirswithneldl antiithen @abeN e i |
Kumul Petroleum permission to sell the sharesytorcommercialpurposes, as Mr Sonk

says he did, that would in our submission, lpptntialbo r each of hi s Tr u
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2.38

2.39

2.40

2.41

2.42

and as we later submaouldbe a leadership Tribunal matter and thuosild justify
referral by this inquiry to the Ombudsman Commissiboould alsg in our submission,
amount to condugtlevant to thé@rganic Law on the Independent Commission Against

Corruption Law 2019

Be that as it mayherecan be little doubt that, unlike the IPEXchangeable bonds
which provided the only realistic way for the State to exercise its valuable bagkts) r
and was cost effective, the UBS Loan was the State and its people, an unnecessary
disasteii andwe use both wordsnnecessargnddisasterdeliberately.

It was entirelyoluntaryi there being no prior obligation to take out the loan; and

enirely unnecessarythe stated rationaliecontinued ownership of a strategic parcel of

Oil Search sharesvas never convincinggndcannotwithstand scrutiny in view of the

almost immediate desire, following the UBS Loan in March 2014, and its novation to
Kumul |l ater that year |forarfearly sate bfth&shanesl and
which did nothapperuntil 2017for apparentlynonrcommercal reasons Thedisaster

was the enormous loss #§862,000,000AUD 340m) and the lost opportunity to put that
money lost to better usA far better financial decision would have been to use money
saved by not entering into the UBR®an to establish é'SovereignVealthFund, to

otherwise invest through back in rights which give direct access to profits of a petroleum
licence,or to pay down debather than being beholden to a company for its dividend

decisions.

The complex UBS Loan was not well unde by the State and its-lrouseofficials
andadvisers, but it turns out to have involved eegkarging by UBS (above iseparately
declared feesof approximatelyK456,000,000AUD180 million) i the State shouloh

our submissiomsk forthis money bak and the Australian authorities should be asked to

investigate and ippropriate take action.

The governmental processes for the assessment of the UBS Loan were inadequate

uncoordinatednd rushed

The NEC/Cabinet processnd the benefits of debate and consideratishauldbring -
was undermined bthethenPr i me Mi ni st er PUbtdtbeiNEGROBS de c i
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2.43

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

Loan of enormous complexity, based on a cabinet submission which no other Cabinet

membeilincluding the Treasurenad prior sight of.
We row turning to the suiparagraphs of the Terms of Reference.

TOR (A): What was the reasoning behind the decision by the MoraatGovernment

to approve the sale of Orogen Minerals to Oil Search Limited

The background to this topic is as followise Mineral Resources Development Company
(MRDC) was established in 1975 as a 100% State owned company to hold and manage
the State and landownéequity interests in mineral and petroleum development projects
in the State.ln 1996, through a successful Initial Public Offering, MRDC launched a
subsidiary company, Orogen Minerals Limit€&rggen), and listed it on the Australian
Stock ExchangeMRDC offered a 49% stake in Orogen to the public and retained 51%.

On 21 January 2002, Oil Search and Orogen announced a proposed rtevgsralso
announced that the State had indicated its support for the riengierBotten's evidence
was that it was (DSearch who was approached by the State and asked whether it would

be interested in putting forward a merger proposal with Orégen.

The merger terms were AUDO0.45 and 1.2 Oil Search ordinary shares for each Orogen
share. This valued Orogen at AUD632 ridn or AUD1.97 a share, 22% higher than the
pre-announcement share price of AUD1.62 a sRarEhe proposed merger would result
in MRDC holding approximately 18% of the Oil Search sh&tes.

On 21 March 202, thethenPrime Minister,The Right Honourabl&ir Mekere Morauta
KCMG, announced that NEC had endorsed a recommendation to accept the merger offer
by Qil Search for Orogef?.

25 Company announcement3ext version- ASX.

26 Further Statement dfeter Botterated 27 January 2022 [¥V/IT.0021.0006.0001

27 Company announcement3ext version- ASX.

22 0SL.0022.0001.0004t .0QL1.

2909..0022.0001.025%t .(627.
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3.5

3.6

3.7

3.8

3.9

3.10

At a Orogen shareholders meeting held in Port Moresby on 26 March 2002, 99.5% of the

votes cast were in favour of the merder.

On 3 April 2002, the merger (by way of Scheme of Arrangement) was approved by the
National Cour!

As tothe reasoning for the merger, the board of Orogen considered that the shares in the
company werérading at a significant discount to their undertywalue. Accordingly,

they examined various options to maximise value for shareholders. The board noted that
the Oil Search offer represented a premium on Orogen's share price and that the merger
was, in their view, the best wao unlock value in the copany??

As noted, the proposed merger offer by Oil Search was supported by NEC, for the
principal reason that was the best way to move the "@asQueensland project" ahead

and at the same time allow the State to participate in the project's dpside.

ABN-AMRO, the Statés advisors, advised in favour of the proposed merger on the basis
that it would assist Oil Search to move ttep®a New Guine&as Project forward and

allow the State to retain its exposure to the profe&imilarly, Grant Samuel &

Associates, who were engaged by Orogen to act as an independent expert to advise on tr
proposed merger, advised that the proposed mesggein the best interests of Orogen
shareholders as the offer represented a premium ted¢batrOrogen share price and the
merger would enable the company to participate in attractive growth opportunities,
including the Rpua New Guine&as Project?

From Oil Search's perspective, Orogess a "very profitable companyOil Search saw
the prgosed merger as an opportunity "to bring more value, not only to the Oil Search

30 Company announcement3ext version ASX.

31 Company announcement3ext version- ASX.

32 Company announcement3ext version- ASX.

33 0SL.0022.0001.0258t .(627.

34WIT.0016.0005.0007

35 0SL.0022.0001.0004at 0082.
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3.11

3.12

3.13

shareholders but also to tfRapuaNew Guinean]Government'®® In this regard, Mr
Botten stated’

One of the factors that contributed to the discount of the Orogen shaeetprihe
underlying value of its assets was the m
State and associated mar ket concerns rel
future ownership, the independence of the Board and the preparedilessState to

permit new equity to be raised to finance new development projects.

At the time of the mergeMr John Franciaupawas the Managing Director and Chief
Executive Officer of Orogeff Mr Kaupadescribed the acquisition of Orogen by Oil
Seach as fda very wunfortunate MKalpawasd day
concerned about the Stédelecision to support the mergen. particular MrKaupawas
critical of the merger, given the financial strength of Orogen and his view that the Oil

Seach offer undervalued Orogép.

Mr Kaupa said his attempts to discuss his concernsthgtithenPrime MinisterSir
Mekere Moat a wer e fit hwartedd and the attempt
with the State wer e dslsewastoldtdwuhls pldndfacilitates u c

the acquisition and not t¥ question the

However,we submit that this evidence is not of great significancelamately, Mr

Kaupa(along with the other directors) recommended that Orogen shareholders vote in

36 Transcript, Gerea Aopi, 28 July 2021, p 2261.

37 Further Statement dfeter Botterated 27 January 2022 [¥V/IT.0021.0006.000.1

38 Statement of John Francis Kaupa dated 19 May 202[b]4WIT.0096.0002.0003

39 Evidence of John Francis Kaupa T1§2@ June 2021)Statement of John Francis Kaupa dated 19 May 2021
[11]-[12], WIT.0096.0002.0003Statement of John Francis Kaupa d&2duly 2021 at [17]20],
WIT.0096.0002.0003

40 Statement of John Francis Kaupa dated 19 May 2021 afZB]WIT.0096.0002.0003Evidence of John
Francis Kaupa T18824 June 2021)
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favour of the mergeft andthere waghenoverwhelming support for the merger and the

courts approved it.

3.14 So, in our submission, thesubmission ago TOR (A) is that the reasonng behind the
decision by the Morauta Government to approve the sale of Orogen Minerals to Oil
Search Limited was that provi dendstheypest he
way to move the "Gasto-Queensland project” ahead and at the same time allovhée
State to participate in the project's wup
the advice of ABNAMRO and Grant Samuel, and by the overwhelming support by

shareholders for the merger.

4. TOR (B): Were alternative structures / transactions consider@? If so, why were

these rejected?

4.1 In November 2001, the State approached Santos Linmfaat@9 to invite the company
to make a bid for Orogefs.

4.2 On 20 March 2002, Santos announced that it was considering making a takeover offer for
Orogen at a case price of AUD2.00 per share, which would value OrogélDéi 2

million.*3

4.3 The proposal by Santos was consideretheyNEC on 19 March 2002 but rejected the
advice of ABNAMRO on the basis that the Oil Search offer was the better option

given44

(@) thecash consideration for the Santos proposal was still significantly below the

underlying fundamental value of Orogen;

(b) the Santos proposal was below the ulyiley fundamental value of the Oil Search

offer;

41 0SL.0022.0001.0004t 0057.

42 Company announcement3ext version ASX.

43 Company announcement3ext version: ASX.
44WIT.0016.0005.0007

Page30

ME_195780697_5


file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/OSL.0022.0001.0001.pdf
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/v2/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=text&issuerId=1230&announcementId=470688&documentDate=2002-03-21&documentNumber=132639
https://www.asx.com.au/asx/v2/statistics/displayAnnouncement.do?display=text&issuerId=1230&announcementId=680081&documentDate=2002-03-20&documentNumber=259690
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/WIT.0016.0005.0007.pdf

4.4

4.5

4.6

5.1

5.2

(c) the Santos proposal had a number of unattractive conditions; and
(d) the Santos proposal would give Santos blocking rights over the PNG Gas Project.

On 21 March 2002, Orogen announced that it had not receiicethal takeover proposal
from Santos and thas board recommended to shareholders that, in the absence of any
superior offer, they should vote in favour of the merger between Orogen and Oil Search.

The board of Orogen also considered a numbethar alternatives to the merger with
Oil Search but considered that the Oil Search offer was the best option for the cfpany.

The advice to the State from ABN AMRO also considered (but recommended against)

various other proposat$.
TORs (C)71 (D) - Impact

The most notable impact of the merger was that Oil Search and the State (directly or
throughSoE'$ grew evefclosetin their dealingsand the large shareholding by the
StateSoE'sin Oil Search came to be regardgdsome at leasts thenormal course of

events

Oil Search was the biggest company in the Independent State. It was not unreasonable
for it to have a close relationship with the Independent State in the ordinary course of its
business. That relationship became complicatedthvlState's large shareholding in Oll

Search as it had a direct interest in itscegs.
TORs(E) T (K) : The PNG LNG Project

Overview of the PNG LNG Project

45 Company announcement3ext version ASX.

46 0SL.0022.000D001at 0010.

47WIT.0016.0005.000at 0027-0028.
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6.1 The PNG LNG Project is one of the most significant (if not the most significant) natural
resoure projects in the Independent Stéte.

6.2 In July 2007, the companies involved presented the State with a proposal to develop
natural gas reserves in the Southern Highlands by transporting it to an LNG processing
plant in the Central Province for internatibeaport*® The rationale for the proposal was
that the aggregate natural gas reserve was large enough to wartargehests
associated with extracting, processing and piping the prdotstach individual reserve

was not.

6.3 This led to significant rgotiations between those companies and the State and a number
of agreements being entered into in 2008 and 2009. The principal agreements were

executed in May 2008.

6.4 The Final Investment Decision for the PNG LNG Project was made on 8 December 2009
and ths immediately resulted in the commencement of comprehensive construction
activities. Construction of the PNG LNG Project was completed by about April 2014.
Gas production started around that time and the first gas export from the PNG LNG
Project was on 2Blay 2014%°

6.5 Since its first export in 2014, the PNG LNG Project has exported approximately 7 million
tonnes of LNG per year. The total capital expenditure by the project sponsors in the

construction and commissioning period from 2010 to 2014 exceg8ied9 billion.

“8The PNG LNG Projeds an integrated system of gas production, processing, liquefication and storage facilities
stretching across the Independent State. It comprises gas fields and production facilities in Hela, Southern Highland
and the Western Province connected by so@tekilometres of pipelines to the liquefication and storage facilities in

the Gulf of Papua. The PNG LNG Project has the capacity to produce about 7 million tonnes of LNG each year.
The gas is exported to international markets from the Gulf of Papean@bdme is to be distributed amongst the

PNG LNG Project equity holders (which includes the Independent-&tated companies). The PNG LNG Project

was initiated by companies including ExxonMobil, Nippon Oil, Oil Search and Santos.

49 Policy Submission 3/2008 dated 20 May 2008, [3)IT.0014.0007.0300

50 Statement of Peter Graham dated 9 June 2021, ExhihiYWY.0072.00030002
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6.6 The PNG LNG Project has produced significant revenue for the State, through KPHL.

6.7 The principal agreement entered into for the Project is knowlmeaSas Agreementt
was madeindersections 184 and 185 of tkel and Gas Acand set outthe terms by
which the State could exercise its backights to become an equity participant in the
PNG LNG Project.

6.8 Through the Gas Agreement, the State acquired a 19.4% interest in the PNG LNG
Project. The State had to find thgbstantiameans todnd that involvement initially of
its equity interest but subsequently its share of the development TbstState's total
financing exposure to the PNG LNG Project was approxim&t8p 3 billion
comprising equity financing d#SD1 billion and project financing diSD2 billion. At its

time, it was the largest fundraising that the State had ever attempted.

6.9 It was thissignificantneed for finance whictirectly led to what is known as the IPIC
Exchangeable Bond transaction. Thrahsactiorinks to paragraphs 1(e) to (k) of the
Terms of Reference, which we now address.

7. TOR 1(E): How the State Financed its Equity Participation in the PNG LNG Project

7.1 The submission, in summary, as to this TORs that the State financed its equity
participation through the IPIC Exchangeable Bond Transaction.

7.2  This wasasagreed between IPBC and International Petroleum Investment Corporation
(IPIC), a stateowned entity from Abu Dhabi. IPIC was a passive investment company
involved in administering Ao Dhabi's sovereign wealth fund, rather than an active

commercial or trading organisation.

7.3 The Exchangeable Bond Transaction sought to leverage IPBC's ownership of General
Business Trust assets and, in particular, the 17.6% shareholding that IPBC than held
Oil Search IPBC had become the state's nominee to hold the Oil Search subsequent to
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the merger of Oil Search and Orogen pursuant ttRBE Act 2002 The key concepts
of the transaction were as follows:

(&) IPBC was to issue exchangeable bonds to IFH@damentallylPIC would pay
money to receive the bonds and at maturity, after 5 years, take IPBC's

shareholding in Oil Search as repayment. It is critical to understand this aspect.

(b) At the time of the transaction, the Oil Search share price was Ab@#4.33, but
it was predicted to rise. This was because Oil Search was a participant in the PNG

LNG Project and its share price was likely to rise as the Project progressed.

(c) Inorder to raise sufficient funds to participate in the Project and to take advantage
of the forecast rise in Oil Search's share price, the value of the bonds was
calculated not byeference to Oil Search's then share price but to an agreed future
price of AUD8.55. This enabled IPBC to raié&JD1.681 billion. This was
significantly more than it could have raised from a simple loan secured against the

current value of the Oil Searchashks.

(d) IPBC would use the funds generated from issuing the bonds principally to fund its
equity participation in the PNG LNG Project. The funds were placed in
guarantined US dollar and Australian dollar accounts for that purpose and to meet

interest paymeston the bond¥

(e) IPBC would keep the dividends paid on the shares up to a certain limit, after which

the excess would be held in the quarantined accounts.

() On maturity, the bonds would be exchanged for IPBC's entire shareholding in Oil
Search. When thdtappened, if:

51 Section 7(a) of the IPBC Act 2002 provided that IPBC were to act as trustee of the Trusts [including the General
Business Trust] and hold assets and liabilities that have been vested in or acquired by it, on behalf of the State. IPB

were register@ as shareholders of Oil Search in March 2004

52Bond Deed Poll Annexure A, cl. 1WIT.0056.0006.0021
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) the Volume Weighted Average Price of the shares over a certain period of
time was less thaAUD8.55 a share, IPBC was obliged make up the

shortfall in cash;

(i)  if the Volume Weighted Average Price of the shares was greater than
AUDB8.55 a shardPIC would only receive shares totalling the face value

of the bonds and IPBC would keep the remainder of the sRares.

(g) IPIC also had early exchange rights. From 40 ddigs the bonds were issued
until 10 dayseforematurity, IPIC could exchange thends for IPBC's
shareholding in Oil Searcfi.On this early exchange, IPIC would receive all of the
shares (even if the share price was abAW®8.55), but would not receive a cash
payment if the share price was below AUD 8.55. The effect of thisomaarsfer
the upside of the shares abavdD8.55 to IPIC as if the shares rose above that
price, IPIC could take all of them.

(h)  The risk of having to make up the shortfall was the principal risk that IPBC took in
the transaction.

) IPBC was required to payterest to IPIC at the rate of 5% per anmtirAbout
AUD390M of the funds raised by the bonds was placed in escrow to meet the

interest payments as they fell due so that no further payments would be needed.

(), The QOil Search shares were held by an escrow dgetite duration of the bond to
protect IPIC's redemption rights. Also, IPBC was not permitted to grant security
over any of the assets of the General Business Trust to secure financing debt
unless it offered the same or equivalent security to #IC.

53 Bond Deed Poll, Annexure A, cl 7\§1T.0056.0006.0021

54Bond Deed Poll Annexure A, cl 10/¥IT.0056.0006.002

55 Bond Deed Poll Annexure A, cl. BYIT.0056.0006.002]To be tendered

56 Bond Deed Poll Annexure A, cl. 18/IT.0056.0006.0021To be tendezd)]
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(k)  Subect to certain conditions, IPIC could exchange the bonds for IPBC's
shareholding in Oil Search before maturiiyt it never sought to do so.

() IPBC had the option to redeem the bonds but this depended on the average share
price being above 130% &UD8.55(ie. the very high price oAUD11.115) for
20 or more trading days during a period of 30 consecutive tradingTdeyprice
of the shares never gave rise to this option and, if it had, it is more likely that, by
that point, IPIC would have already sougie early exchange of the shares.
IPBC's option to redeem early was, therefore, unlikely ever to be usable.

(m) Neither IPIC nor IPBC had the right to seek a cash substitute for the shares.

7.4  Over the years, some individuaspressed views showing very sigificant
misunderstanding about the exchange rights in relation to the shares and how the
transaction was to end. Some pega@lthat IPIC did not have a legal right to take the
shares at maturityr that IPBC had a right to repay IPIC in cash and sorréthe shares.
Neither is correct. IPIC was entitled to the shares on maturity. This was as IPBC and the
NEC, which approved the transaction, intended and there was no misunderstanding about
this at the time of the transactiomhere waslsono misunderstanding in the NEfring
2012 and 20137 We submit you should be sceptical of those such who suggest they had
that misapprehensiat the relevant times

7.5 This exchange right was a conscious choice by IPBC and the NEC when each approved
the tranaction. In particular, IPBC was clear in its understanding that the shares would be

transferred to IPIC on maturity of the bond3tucially, IPBC did not envisage that there

ever would be an option to buy the shares back as IPBC would not have hadtliy cap

to borrow the necessary sums to doWhilst the transaction would result in IPBC losing

its investment in Oil Search, including any dividends flowing from the shares, this was
considered an acceptable price to pay to obtain the much greater setreatueould
ultimately flow from the PNG LNG Project.

57 NEC Decision 63/2012 (March 2012)IT.0016.0001.0316 NEC Decision 117/2013 (April 2013)
WIT.0016.0001.0331
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7.6  Anyone inGovernment circles whsaidthat IPIC was legally obliged to return the shares
to IPBCi such as Mr O'Neill weremistaken. There should not have been any confusion
about this. On 25 Novdper 2008, a joint press release was issued by IPIC, the State and
Oil Search announcing the deal. The release explained that, subject to certain conditions,

IPIC would be acquiring the State's shareholding in Oil Sedrch.

7.7  Mr O'Neill's misunderstanding dack of recollection of th&PIC transaction in 2013 is all
the more surprising as he was a member of the NEC which approlettuth this
evidence of MIO'Neill is not crediblejn our submissionfor the additional reason that
Mr Vele, who discusskthe refinancing of the bonds with Mr O'Neill, wasarly not

under the same misapprehension.

8. TOR 1(f): Whether due and proper legal and administrative processes were followed
to obtain the loan to finance the State's equity participation in 2009, includg but
not limited to:

) How was the process commenced?

(i)  How was IPIC selected?

(i) What process was utilised?

(iv)  What were the terms of the Loan from IPIC?

1(H)(i): How was the process commenced?

8.2 The history of the State's consideration of how to find its equity share in the PNG LNG

Projectis complicated by a number of factors:

(@) There were three organisations involved and a degree of competition between

them as to how and through which enttg Project should be finangest

%8 WIT.0027.0001.0538
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) Petrominappears to have considered itself to have been the most likely
participant in the Project given its role in holding the State's oil and gas

assets.

(i)  The Treasuryecessarily had a role in advising on fundingudh

magnitude.

(i) IPBC, the eventual participant, originally had no interest in being involved
nor notion that it might become so. However, it held assets which could be
leveraged to raise the funds needed and, in particular, it held a substantial
number ofOil Search shares. This was how it became involved and,
ultimately, the holder of the State's interest in the PNG LNG Project.

(b)  Two further complications were the questiorhofv mucmoney needed to be
raised andvhenthe money needed to be available twifthe State's equity
interest. Financial close was not until December 2009 but the State needed to have

its funding in place by September 2009.

(c) The transaction also needs to be seen in its context. At the time that the finance
was being sought, the wondas in the midst of thglobalfinancial crisis. This

presented significant challenges in raising funds.

(d) The State was seen as being the weak link amongst the Project participants in
raising funds. If the State succeeded in obtaining the funds at arsteasy it was

thought that this would add momentum and credibility to the project.

8.3 The Treasury started to take financial advice about funding the project in August 2007,
using Lazard Freres. Lazard's involvement continued through to the time that the NEC
approved the IPIC Exchangeable Bond Transaction. The Treasury continued to seek

funding alternatives even after the NEC had approved the deal.

8.4 The Commission has less information about the steps that Petromin took to seek finance.
An Oil Search documemtf May 2008 notes that ENI, the Italian oil and gas company,
through Petromin, had approached the then Prime Minister to purchase the State's
shareholding in Oil Search. It is also understood that Petromin sought finance from Japan

and South Korea.
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8.5

8.6

8.7

8.8

8.9

For IPBC, the process commenced in late 2007 or early 2008. Oil Search approached
IPBC about a proposal to use its shareholding in Oil Search to assist in raising the funds
to pay for the State's equity interest. This was the origin ahtbleangeable bonds

proposal. It appears that UBS, acting for Oil Search, may have had the original idea

although they were not involved in the subsequent negotiations about it.

Oil Search was itself a participant in the PNG LNG project and it therefore had something
to gain ly assisting the State in finding this funding. In addition, UBS had been engaged
by Oil Search as advisors as Oil Search was seen as a possible takeovaaIgetss
shareholding represented a significant impediment to a potential takeover. Haveay

been that Oil Search had an interest in ensuring that IPIC became the holder of that
substantial shareholding, sufficient to deter potential takeover bids, as its style was to be &
passive investor. IPIC's involvement would also have enhanced @hSeausiness
prospects in the Middle East. It is clear that Oil Search had already discussed the concep
of theexchangeable bondaéth IPIC before raising it with IPBC.

IPBC attended initial meetings in Dubai and Abu Dhabi in early 2008 with Oil Saadch
IPIC to discuss the proposal. It then reported to the Gas Committee about it. The Gas
Committee directed IPBC to examine the proposal and consider whether it was in the
State's interests and was feasible.

IPBC obtained legal advice from Freehillsitygers and financial advideom Goldman
Sachs JBWere.

Therefore, the submission as to this TOR, as tbhow the process to obtain the
Exchangeable Bond Transaction commenced, is that the idea of it originated with
Oil Search. Oil Search raised it with IPBCand introduced IPBC to IPIC.

1(f)(ii)) How was IPIC selected?

8.10 Goldman Sachs JBWere were initially engaged on afifating mission in April 2008 to

familiarise themselves with the proposal.

8.11 On 13 May 2008, the NEC approved the IPBC appointing advisdraratertaking

further analysis and work to finalise the funding offer in consultation with the Treasury
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8.12

8.13

8.14

8.15

before this would then be put before the NEC for approval. It also directed the Ministerial
Committee on Gas to assess other financial options forE@d\tonsideratior?

Goldman Sachs JBWere and Freehills largely ran the negotiations with IPIC. There was
another meeting between representatives of Goldman Sachs JBWere, IPBC and IPIC on
17 June 2008 in SingapditMr Botten, Mr Aopi and Oil Search's CFsought to attend

that meeting but IPBC refused to allow them to do so. Their attendance vhsugit

appropriate as they were not a party to the progésal.

Goldman Sachs JBWerasdvice was that the IPIC Exchangeable Bond Transaction was a
good structure for the State. If the PNG LNG Project completed, it was likely the Oil
Search shares would go up in price. This was a factor in the decision about the reference
price for the OilSearch shares in the deal. The price was reached through negotiation.
Oil Search estimated that on production of first gas, its share price woaAld&2.50.

IPBC had a figure betweekiyD8.25 andAUDS8.70. The final figure oAUD8.55 was
agreedbetween IPBC and IPI€.

IPBC also tried to get the term of the bonds to match as closely as possible with Exxon's
estimate of when the project would be completed and first gas delivered. This was the
most important factor in determining the length ofhbed. It too was a matter for

negotiation and agreement with IPi€.

Throughout the negotiations, briefings for the State were held in Goldman Sachs
JBWere's office in Sydney. Generally at least four ministers were present. They were

%9 NEC Decision 82/2008/VIT.0026.0001.0722

80 pwC Report, "Transaction Review Project Kumul" WTT.0056.0005.0001

51 pwC Report, "Transaction Review Project Kumul", p¥B8.0056.0005.000and Affidavit of Glenn Blake, 20
December 2021, [224] ExhibitWWW WIT.0092.0001.0001

62 affidavit of Glenn Blake, 20 December 2021, [29] Exh¥itWW WIT.0092.0001.0001

63 affidavit of Glenn Blake, 20 December 2021, [31] Exh¥itWW WIT.0092.0001.0001
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usually the Ministerdr State Enterprise, the Treasurer, the Minister for Planning and Mr
O' Neill as the Minister for Public Services.

8.16 In about August 2008, Backwell Lombard approached Mr Glenn Blake, the managing
director of IPBC, with an alternative proposal from JP Morgisin Blake rejected this

proposal.

8.17 Commercial terms for the Exchangeable Bond Transaction appear to have been agreed b
12 September 2008. On that date, Goldman Sachs JBWere produced a document titled
"Project Kumuli Post Negotiations Debrief Discussibtaterials” reporting on the key
terms® Mr Hogan of Goldman Sachs JBWere presented that document to the MCES and
the directors of IPBC on that d&y.

8.18 The paper explained the key commercial terms agreed between the parties and provided

Goldman SachsBWere's evaluation of the transaction:

(@) The terms were very attractive and offered a compelling source of financing. They

exceeded what could be obtained in ammarket transaction.

(b)  There was a benefit in having funding certainty at that point givenahark

volatility.
(c)  There was no recourse to the State.

(d) IPBC and the State could consider alternatives, in particular a broader process to

sell the Oil Search shares.

(e) Atthat point, the IPIC transaction (absent any debt solution), economically and
strategicdly, looked to be a better alternative for raising funds than an outright sale
of the Oil Search shares via a broader process.

54 Project Kumuli Post Negotiations Debrief Discussion MiaalsWIT.0026.0001.0741

%5 Minutes of IPBC board meeting of 13 September 2008.0026.0001.0770
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8.19

8.20

(f)

(9)

(h)

(i)

()

(k)

However, this was predicated on Oil Search shares remaining around the current
levels prior to settlement (that is, the date upich the bonds would be issued).

Using the Oil Search shares to fund the interest in the PNG LNG Project only
made sense if IPBC held that interestecause it held the shares.

IPIC had introduced IPBC and the PNG LNG Project to six commercial banks.
They had shown some interest in providing debt finance in the future for the PNG
LNG Project.

It was unlikely that "concessional” funding would be delivered, however pressure

should continue to be applied to obtain this.

As the bond was not a clean exitrfr®il Search, there was a residual exposure to
Oil Search's performance during the life of the bond. This was partly mitigated by
Oil Search's value being linked to the PNG LNG Project.

To mitigate the market risk to which the transaction was naturallysex}) the
State and IPBC should move as quickly as possible to decide if they wish to

proceed along this path.

The IPBC Board as a whole was first briéfssh the proposal at a board meeting on 13
September 2008.

In our submissionthe Commissioshouldbe surprised that the IPBC board had not been

briefed about the proposal at an earlier date. It is the case that the IPBC board was in

some disarray throughout 2008. There was no board meeting between December 2007

and August 2008. In part this was bea@tle board wasiquorateas the government had

not appointed sufficient directorddr Arthur Somare was timetheminister responsible

for making the appointments. In August 2008, the board could have been informed about

the proposal but this was not dorinstead, the appointment of advisors for the State's

participation in the PNG LNG Project was tabled but not discussed. The minutes record

6 WIT.0026.0001.0770
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8.21

8.22

8.23

8.24

the shortage of members on the board and the volume of matters to be deliberated meant
that the meeting would deaith urgent matters only.

An additional issue is that two of the directors, Mr Aopi and Mr Baliki, appeaur
submissionto have been appointed to the IPBC board in contravention of section
11(4)(b)(vi) of thelPBC Actasit then stood aboth were mployees of a business
enterprise in which IPBC held an interest. Mr Balilis an employee of BSP. Mr Aopi,
who was appointed as the chair of IPBC, was a director of Oil Sedndh is a

particular concern. The evidence suggests that he did dedarerifiict of interest but
that he remained present when éixehangeable bongsoposal was being discussed. In
our submissionhe should not haveeen presentlt created the ris&nd certainly the
perceptiorthat IPBC's confidential deliberations albohe proposal would be reported
back to Oil Search.

The confusion over the constitution of IPBC's board allowed the Treasury later to assert
that IPBC's decisions in relation to tlechangeable bondgere invalid. Legislation was
required to correct thposition. The.iquefied Natural Gas Project (State Participation)
Act 2008was introduced, whicletrospectivelyepealed the relevant subsection of the
IPBC Actand sought to expunge any invalidify

In our submissionit is inexcusable for the government not to have complied with its own
legislation in appointing Mr Aopi and Mr Baliki to the IPBC board. Itis equally

concerning that neither of them turned down the appointment on the basis that it was
prohibited by lgislation. When offered the position, they should have read the IPBC Act
to understand the organisation that they were joining and this should have alerted them to

the issue.

Returning to the September board meeting, Mr Hogan of Goldman Sachs JBWere again

presented the Project Kumul docum&hiThe minutes of the meeting record that:

57 First Statement of Anthony Yauieb 28 July 202D9LExhibit BBB, WIT.0104.0002.0239

%8 Minutes of IPBC board meeting &8 September 2008/IT.0026.0001.0770
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(@) Mr Aopi declared his conflict of interest. The minutes record that Mr Aopi would
stay in the meeting for Mr Hogan's presentation but leave the meeting whilst the
directors diberated upon it. It was also recorded that he would not participate in

the board's decision on the proposal.

(b)  Mr Hogan informed the board that there had been "extensive" negotiations with

IPIC that had resulted in the terms contained in the paper.

(c) Mr Blake commented that Petromin posed a threat to the Oil Search shares and
that this impacted upon the PNG LNG Project. The IPIC transaction was essential
to protect the Oil Search shares from acquisition.

(d)  Mr Tosali, a nominee of the Treasury on the bodiPBC, questioned the
serviceability of the coupon on the bonds and asked that Goldman Sachs JBWere
should prepare a model that would show the merits of the transaction as against an

outright sale of the Oil Search shares.

(e)  After Mr Hogan had left the maag, the board questioned Goldman Sachs
JBWere's appointment. Mr Blake explained that Oil Search had been the source of
the transaction. Subsequent discussions had led to the appointment of a financial
adviser. Of the firms considered, Goldman Sachs JBWeas not confliedand
had experience of matters iafpuaNew Guinea Mr Tosali expressed concern
that the IPBC board had not been involved in Goldman Sachs JBWere's
appointment and asked about the fees to be paid to them.

() Mr Blake responded that confidentiality meant that management had made the
appointment, with the board to ratify this at the appropriate tivieBlake added
that Freehills had been requested twedasin what market rates were and that

Goldman Sachs JBWere would be paid only to market rates.

(g) The board noted that Lazard had been engaged as financial advisors to the State
and that any financing options put together by the Treasury as an alterodhige t
IPIC transaction should be considered. It was recorded that there were "lengthy
discussions in the nature of concerns that the Department of Treasury had on the

IPIC Transaction".
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(h)  These concerns were noted but the board resolved to recomméRtthe
transaction to the NEC, subject to the Treasury being accorded the opportunity to
comment on it. The board also ratified the appointment of Goldman Sachs
JBWere.

8.25 Thus, by this point, it is clear that the Treasury did not suppoextizangeable bosd

proposal.

8.26 In addition, Petromin had been pursuing its own course to obtain funding. It appears that
the government had not provided any clear guidance by this point as to who should be the
State's nominee for the Project. It may have been that the gusetrwished to see
which entity would find funding first before making such a decision. However, under the
Gas Agreement, the government was required to decide on the nominee by November
2008.

8.27 On 25 September 2008ienPrime MinisterSir Michael Somare wote to Petromif?
stating his reasons for preferring the IPBC proposal.

8.28 The letter noted that the Prime Minister was convinced that of Petromin and IPBC, IPBC
was better placed to be the State nominee. The letter also noted that he had directed that
thelPBC proposal be put to the NEThe Prime Ministeurged all State entities work
together with Goldman Sachs JBWere and IPBC to conclude the transaction. The letter
notes that it superseded previous letters, in partibigdetter dated 4 September 2008
the Minister for Public Enterprises.

8.29 Prime MinistertMichael Somare also wrote to Ministers Pruaitch, Tiensten, Duma and
Arthur Somare in the same terms. The purpose of the letter (which is undated) was to
inform the Ministers of recent decisions magetltie Prime Minister concerning the PNG
LNG Project: Basically, the decisions seek to address misunderstandings that may have

been inadvertently created during the course of theéyéar

69 WIT.0027.0001.0506
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8.30

8.31

8.32

8.33

8.34

On 6 October 2008Vir Arthur Somare wrote tdreasurePruaitch’® noting the IPIC
transaction was in its final stages of approval and inviting the Treasury's detailed
comments as soon as possible, providing a draft copy of the submission to the NEC whict

was to be presented at an MCES meeting the following day.

On 10 Oobber 2008, Mr Tosdlt gave a presentation to the MCES emphasising that
financial close was not until December 2009 and the State was not required to provide
equity until September 2009, and that the PNG LNG Project had not been subject to open
competitionor legal advice on the negative pledge. The presentation noted that Lazard
and the State had been approached by numerous lenders and had commenced soliciting

proposals’?

On 10 October 2008, the MCES issued a directive instructing the Treasury tdaeapert
MCES on 24 October 2008 with all financing alternatives so that the MCES could make a
decision and recommendation to the NEC.

By this time, Backwell Lombard had taken their JP Morgan proposal to the Treétsury.
was not accepted

On 16 October 218, Lazard wrote to the Prime Minister stating that they could see no
basis for curtailing the competitive assessment and review process, and that they saw
significant disadvantage to the State in doing so. They noted also that "time was on our

side" and mcouraged the Prime Minister to reinstate the assessment and review process.

70WIT.0104.0002.0095

"I Transcript, Wapu Sonk, 5 August 2021, p2621.

2 presentation to the MCES "Financing of the State's Entéht in the PNG LNG Project" dated 10 October 2008
WIT.0104.0002.0037

73 Letter Lazard Freres to Prime Minister, 16 October 200d..0104.00020173
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8.35 On 20 October 2008, policy submission 167/2008 was produced for théNIE@s
signed by Mr Pruaitch and Mr Tiensten.

8.36 The purpose of the submission was to seelNtEE's approval of the terms that had been

negotiated.

8.37 The key points made in the submission were:

(@)

(b)

()

(d)

(€)

The State's total financing exposure to the PNG LNG project was approximately
USD3 billion comprising project financing &SD2 billion and equity financing
of USDL1 billion, making this the largest investment in the State's project financing

history.

In return, the State stood to benefit from its equity interest to aH8D850

million annually in addition to tax receipts. There were also substantial indirect
benefits including generating jobs and accelerating economic growth and
underpinning the future soceconomic growth and development of the State. In
comparison, the State currently recei#®D16 million annually in dividends

from its shareholding in Obearch.

IPIC was regarded as a letgym strategic investor which was unlikely to launch a
takeover bid for Oil Search with whom it already had a close association through
Oil Search's ventures in the Middle East. IPIC saw PNG as an attractive
investment dstination and considered the exchangeable bond transaction to be the

beginning of a londerm presence in the region.

The involvement of IPIC would support the commercial value and position of Oil
Search as the State's strategic partner interrg devebpment of the hydrocarbon

sector.

The involvement of IPIC and access to Abu Dhabi's financing institutions was

essential to create competitive tension with PNG's traditional financing

7 NEC Submission 167/2008 dated 20 October 2008 [22] Exhibit BB, AnnexWTT0027.0005.0216
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institutions. This would benefit the State's commercial and develogmanting

over the longterm.

() The difference between the revenue currently received through the Oil Search
shareholding and the revenues anticipated from the PNG LNG Project meant that
it made more sense to monetise the Oil Search shares to financadtefGta
equity interest in the PNG LNG Project as opposed to selling down some of the
State's equity in the project to raise the finance. Maintaining the full equity interest
was also consistent with the Government's policy not to cheaply sell off lgsets

to add value to them.

(g)  Mr Pruaitch further explained the State's reasons for not raising the finance by
selling down the State's interest in the PNG LNG Project in his supplementary
affidavit of 30 July 20212 In summary, there was no financial need to do so.
Consistently with its policy, the State wanted to benefit fully from the PNG LNG
Project. Further, selling down the stake would create risks with the landowners
who were looking for a greater share ofieg from the State's current interest in
the project and might create doubt about the State's commitment to the PNG LNG
Project amongst the partners in the PNG LNG Project.

(h)  The nature of IPIC as a passive investor would allow the State to maintain its

relationship with Oil Search.

(1 A direct sale of the Oil Search shares would have opened the door to a takeover
bid for Oil Search.

(), There should be no impact on the State's finances from the proposed transaction.

(k)  The price at which the State was securingqisity interest in the PNG LNG
Project was favourable in comparison to the value attributed by financial analysts

to AGL's 3.6% share of the PNG LNG Project in its equity sale process.

5 Supplementary affidavit of Patrick Pruaitch dated 30 July 2021, Exhibit ¥A1.0028.0004.0003
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0

(m)

(n)

(0)

(9))

(@)

The State's dividend stream was unencumbered (although the Commiges®n no
that this was not in fact the ultimate outcome of the transaction, nor was this

statement consistent with a summary of the transaction prepared by Freehills).

The bond was compelling given the global credit squeeze and the expectation that
the financi&crisis would continue for at least the next year. It would be very
difficult for the State to raise capital in its own right from capital markets or

financial institutions.

The revenues from the PNG LNG Project would assist the State in exercising its
back in rights in relation to other resource projects in the future.

The Government was seen to be the weakest link in raising equity for the PNG
LNG Project. The transaction would add certainty to the overall project financing

efforts.

There was no need selldown the State's equity to finance reduced equity from
the proceeds of that sale when the returns from the PNG LNG Project were
extremely attractive and the transaction allowed the State to fund its full equity
participation at effectively no cost.

Further, it was in the best interests of the State to preserve the value of its 19.4%
stake in the Project so as to enable it to deal effectively with the Benefit Sharing
Agreement process which could threaten the entire PNG LNG Project. Having the
full stake would assist the State in negotiating the imminent issue of additional

equity demanded by resource owners and pipeline communities.

8.38 The submission also considered why the transaction should be concluded as soon as

possible:

(@)

ME_195780697_5

The primary motive was to gy certainty to the PNG LNG Project given that the
State was regarded as the weakest link so far as equity was concerned. This was
particularly relevant as dealings with debt financiers and rating agencies was

intended to start in November 2008.
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(b)  Delaying te transaction might put the transaction itself at risk. The State could not
control the market.

(c)  Securing the deal would also support Oil Search's share price. This was ultimately
in the State's interest.

(d)  The Treasury's comments were important but furtleéaty was unwarranted. The
Treasury had been part of every step of the negotiation process. Further, the
Treasury had a concrete financing option that was as conclusive and developed as

exchangeable bond transaction.
8.39 The submission described and discugbederms of the proposed transaction:

(@) The submission was clear in explaining IPIC's rights to obtain the Oil Search
shareholding and IPBC's liability to make up any shortfall if, at the time of
exchange, the Oil Search share price was b&low 8.55.

(b)  The submission stated that Oil Search dividends were excluded from the

guarantine accounthis was not correcRather, i dividends exceeded a certain
threshold, the excess would be paid into the quarantine account. The Freehills
document drew attentidio the fact that dividend payments might be divided
between the parties in some circumstances. The incorrect statement in the
submission may have been derived from a draft of a Goldman Sachs JBWere
presentation to the NEC dated 22 October 2008, whichdedl the same
misstatement® The Goldman Sachs JBWere presentation appears to have formed

the basis for much of tHéEC submission.

(c)  The submission explained the separate Australian and US dollar quarantined
accounts and that the majority of the fundse@iby the bonds would be converted

into US dollars.

" PNG LNG Project State's Equity Financing, "Exchangeable Bond Option" Presentation to the National Executive
Council 22 October 2008VIT.0097.0005.0213
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8.40

8.41

8.42

(d)  The submission stated that, on current modelling, the 5% coupon could be met by
IPBC and the funds raised from issuing the bonds would be sufficient to cover the
State's equitppased capital expenditune the PNG LNG Project. It was possible
that there would be a residual fundAd#D500 million but this was highly

sensitive to foreign exchange and interest rates.
The submission also noted some rigkthe transaction:

(@ IPIC was undertaking legal due diigce to obtain comfort that IPBC would
continue to hold the state's shareholding in Oil Search during the term of the
transaction. IPIC needed to be certain that IPBC would be the State's nominee for

the PNG LNG Project. This would require changes to ddato legislation.

(b)  The deadline for the State to determine its nominee under the Gas Agreement was
November 2008 and there was still competition between Petromin and IPBC as to
which of them should take that role. The Prime Minister's letter of 25 Septemb
2008 informed Petromin that IPBC was better placed to do this and started the
process of obtaining the State's approval for this. Presenting the exchangeable
bond transaction proposal to the NEC was a step in that process. The NEC needed
to make an imnaiate decision on this issue as, without it, IPIC might pull out of

the transaction.

The submission noted that the transaction had the support of the Prime Minister and key
economic ministers including the Minissdor Treasury and Finance, the Minister f

National Planning and District Development and the Minister for Public Enterprise. There
was also support from the Minister for Public Service and the Minister for Petroleum and

Energy. The submission was signed by Mr Pruaitch and Mr Tiensten.
In its cancluding section, the NEC submission noted that:

Cabinet should note that based on all available information, the exchangeable bond
transaction being pursued by IPBC in consultation with the Department of Treasury, the
Department of National Planning, keyinisters, the Ministerial Economic Committee,

the Prime Minister, and Cabinet, is the only serious financing option available to the

Government at this point in time
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8.43 On 21 October 2008, Mr Tosali wrote a lengthy letter to Mr Blake setting out the

Treasurys objections to the proposed transacfionhe letter was copied to a number of

people including the Prime Minister, Deputy Prime Miniskér Arthur Somare, Mr

Pruaitch and the members of the MCES. The main points of objection to the transaction

were that;

(@)

(b)
(©)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

would give IPIC the right to acquire the Oil Search shares at an unknown time up
to 5 years in the future at a price which would be the lowa&tud»8.55 and the

then market price. If the price was beléWwD8.55, IPBC would be required to
make a cashgyment. If the price was beloJD5.50 at maturity, the State

would have insufficient funds left from the transaction to finance its involvement

in the PNG LNG Project and would need to raise further finance.
The QOil Search shareholding was a significasied of the State.

The State was exchanging a liquid asset for an illiquid one and losing the

diversification of assets that the shareholding in Oil Search represented.

Whilst Oil Search currently paid very low dividends, they were likely to improve
in the future as a result of the PNG LNG Project. The PNG LNG Project itself
would not generate a return to the State until 2015, resulting in a loss of revenue in

the intervening period.

The transaction might increase the risk of Oil Search being taken sleding
by IPIC.

The transaction was being entered into before the funds were needed and the bond
would need to be redeemed before the State started to receive any income from the
PNG LNG Project.

There had not been open competition for the financtngoulld be better for the
State to establish and maintain competition for the financing for as long as

possible. The State did not require committed finance until September 2009 and

7 _etter, Department of Treasury to IPBC 21 October 2004,.0056.0006.0762
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would not need to actually have the funds until financial close on thel™NG5
Project. It was too early to say what the total PNG LNG Project cost would be.

(h) A delay in obtaining finance would not affect the credibility of the PNG LNG
Project given the other participants involved and the growing demand for LNG.

8.44 In summarisingts position, the Treasury strongly recommended that the State should:

continue to evalwuate all financing propo

time to carry out a traditional evaluat:

8.45 A presentation was made to tNEC by Goldman Sachs JBWere on 23 October 2008 on
theexchangeable bonagption’®

8.46 The NEC approved thexchangeable bongsoposal at its meeting on 23 October 2008,
as recorded in NEC Decision 223/2069he meeting also determined that the State's
shareholding in Oil Search should continue to be held by IPBC and that IPBC would be
the State's nominee for the PNG LNG Pcbje

8.47 On 24 October 2008, IPBC's board discussed and then approved its entry into the
exchangeable bond transactf8Mr Tosali was represented at the meeting by Mr
Yauieb.Remarkably, b stated that the Minister for Treasyinygs own Minister)had not
given the Treasurpepartment hearing at the NEC meeting on the previous day and he
therefore requested that the Treasury's objections be recorded in the minutes of the
meeting. The objemns were in the nature of the exchangeable bond transaction not
being an appropriate financing option to fund the State's equity. Mr Yauieb was advised
that the Treasury had previously been given the opportunity to comment on the
transaction by 19 Septdrar 2008, but had failed to do so and so the board had proceeded

to recommend the exchangeable bond transaction to the NEC. At this point in the

" PNG LNG Project State's Equity Financing "Exchangeable Bond Option" Presentation to the NEC 22 October
2008 WIT.0097.0005.0213

"9 NEC Decision223/2008 Exhibit BB Annexure W|T.0027.0005.0174

80 Minutes of IPBC board meeting 24 October 200887T.0026.0001.0789
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discussions, the board apparently waited to have sight of the NEC decision 223/2008 of
the previous day befogassing resolutions to enter into the exchangeable bond
transaction. Mr Aopi left the meeting whilst resolutions were being put to the board and

resolved.
8.48 And so that is how IPIC was selected.

8.49 On 23 November 2008, IPBC and IPIC entered into the exchamgead transaction.

The bonds were issued in March 2009.

8.50 Remarkably, the Treasury continued to explore alternative financing options despite the
fact that IPBC had already entered into the exchangeable bond transactigproved
by the NEC

8.51 Itis alsoimportant to note Mr Blake's evidence that IPBC never saw itself as -ddong
holder of the interest in the PNG LNG Project because the plan was that the revenues
generated by the project should go into a sovereign wealth fund. Once the fund was
establified, the revenues from the project would either pass through IPBC into the fund

or be held by a different entity altogetiiér.

1(f)(iii) What process what utilised?

8.52 While the process for its election wasmewhatlisorganised and ad hdavas infinitely
more careful, thoughtful and appropriate than that leading up to the UBS Tlo&an

following matters deserve emphasis

(@) IPBC, the Treasury and Petromin all had professional advice to assist them in
trying to identify potential sources of finance. There argrounds for criticising
the advisors' work so that, at that level, each entity's process was as would

normally be expected.

(b) Itis clear from Sir Michael Somare's undated letter sent in September 2008, that

there had been a degree of confusion about Wwbaold be the State's nominee on

81 affidavit of Glenn Blake, 20 December 2021, [46] Exhibit WWWIT.0092.0001.0001
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the Project. This may well be because the State simply did not know who the
nominee should be and that it was the IRB&€hangeable bongsoposal which
forced a decision. As that proposal provided some certainty in a neeytain
financial context, it is easy to understand that it became the catalyst for deciding

who the State's nominee should be.

(c)  Whilst there was disagreement and a degree of competition between Petromin, the
Treasury and IPBC, this may have been helg@ther than destructive. Certainly,
Mr Blake, the managing director of IPBC, gave evidence that he did not feel in
competition with Petromin and had a very good relationship with its CEO. To the
extent that there was disagreement, this reflected a te$tihg market and the
options available to the State; a ground upon which the exchangeable bond
transaction has been criticised in the past.

(d)  The transaction also received significant consideration by the MCES and the NEC.
It is notable that the MCES gaueet Treasury a further opportunity to submit a
competing proposal. It is also Mr Blake's evidence that IPBC looked for
alternative proposals, including approaching Exxon Mobil for finance and
receiving a proposal from JP Morgan via Backwell Lombard.

8.53 We agan emphasise thalhere is a markednd unfavourableontrast between tHargely
careful process precedingnd thetime taken for the State to deliberate gviee IPIC
Exchangeable Bond Transactiamd the few hours that the NEC was permitted to

conside the UBS loan and the purchase of Oil Search shares in 2014.

854 Nevat hel ess, particularl y b e citasclesaethabadmorte h e ¢
efficient process could have betnhavea single set of advisers testing the market and
consideringhe best way forward.

1(f)(iv) What were the terms of the Loan from IPIC?

8.55 The State did not obtain a loan to finance its equity participation in the PNG LNG Project.
The exchangeable bosdierenot a loan although in some respebisy weresimilar to

one

8.56 The main terms of the bostlave already been explained.
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8.57 This Commission retained financial experts, the Brattle Group, to consider the terms of

the exchangeable bonds. They did this in the first report that they submitted to the

Commission in July 221.

8.58 Brattle'slargely favourable@bservations on the objective of the transaction and alternative

means of achieving it ags follows

(@)

(b)

()

(d)

(e)

(f)

The aim of the transaction was to raise the funds required to enable the State to

participate to the full extent @ equity interest in the PNG LNG Project.

At the time of the IPIC transaction, the State's interest in the PNG LNG Project
was worth betweedSD3 and 5 billion. Its share of the equity funding was likely
to be aboutUSDL1 billion.

Selling about one fiftlof the State's equity interest in the PNG LNG Project would
have been likely to have raised sufficient funds to pay for the equity contributions
attributable to the remaining fofifths.

The State could also have sought to sell its entire interest th#rmeseek to
participate in the PNG LNG Project, but Brattle do not know whether a sale of
such magnitude would have been achievable at that time.

It is unlikely that the State could have funded its participation by issuing sovereign

bonds given the econuc climate of the time.

The State would not have been able to raise sufficient funds from concessional

loans from multilateral organisations.

8.59 Inrelation to these points, the Treasury did initially favour the State selling its entire

interest in the PNG&NG project and benefiting from it solely through tax and royalties.

However, when it appreciated thtte government wished the State to have a direct

interest in the project, it accepted this and considered other alternatives. This included

selling partof the State's interests to finance the equity funding for the remainder.

8.60 There waspparentlyno detailed consideration of issuing a sovereign bond at the time.

Given the global financial crisis at that time, this is not surprising.

ME_195780697_5
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8.61 Goldman Sachs JBWere gave advice to IPBC about concessional funding and considerec

that it would not raise sufficig funds.

8.62 Brattle's views on the terms of tH&lC transaction are:

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

From March 2009 to March 2014, the State was exposed to the downside risk of
the Oil Search share price, and the upside risk #Jin8.55, but it had
transferred to IPIC all of the upgld in the Oil Search shares ab@ugD8.55.

A fair interest rate for such an exchangeable bond would have been lower than the
fair rate on a regular bond which did not give the lender the benefit of the upside in
the Oil Search share price abcAMdD8.55.

The interest rate on the bond was fair if IPIC assessed the credit risk of IPBC
failing to pay a required cash tayp as nomegligible, but was too high if IPIC
perceived there to be no such risk. It is not known what assessment IPIC in fact

made of this edit risk.

To illustrate the magnitude of the relationship between credit risk and fair pricing,
Brattle valued the bonds at the time the bond documentation was executed. If there
was no credit risk, so that it was certain that IPBC would pay any casip top

required on maturity, the bonds were worth 119% of face value. Conversely, if it
was certain that IPBC would not pay any cash top up that might be required on
maturity, the bonds were worth 69% of face value. In Brattle's view, issuing the
bonds for D0% of face value was consistent with fair pricing of a bond with a
non-negligible degree of credit risk. Further, Brattle concluded that the
circumstances of the transaction made it reasonable to assume that IPIC did
consider there to be a norgligiblecredit risk and that, on that basis, the bonds

were fairly priced.

8.63 On the basis of Brattle's views, it is submitted that the terms of thexchangeable

bondswere commercially reasonable and not unfair to the State.

9. TOR 1(g): Who were the legal and finan@l advisors engaged in the IPIC

exchangeable bond transaction

ME_195780697_5
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9.1

10.

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

IPBC received legal advice from Freehills and financial advice from Goldman Sachs
JBWere.

TOR 1(h): Were legal and administrative processes followed to engage in any legal

and financial advisors?

The Commission received evidence on this question from Mr Glenn Blake, the managing
director of IPBC at the time.

Freehills were on a panel of law firms used by IPBC at the time.

IPBC sought KPMG's assistance in finding a suitable financial advisor GKRbfe
instructed to identify a financial adviser based in Sydney that had global capacity and was
of high calibre. KPMG recommended that IPBC should consider engaging Goldman

Sachs JBWere and this is what transpired.

Mr Blake also gave evidence that KPM¥as engaged to model the anticipated revenue
flows from the PNG LNG Projeét

Freehills and Goldman Sachs both started work on the matter in early 2008. Goldman
Sachs JBWere were initially engaged on a fact finding mission in April 2008 to
familiarise hemselves with the proposal. Initially, their engagement was on a #tenth
month basis. IPBC did not need NEC authority for tHis.

On 13 May 2008, the NEC approved the IPBC appointing advisors and undertaking
further analysis and work to finalise the @limg offer in consultation with the Treasury
before this would then be put before the NEC for approval. It also directed the Ministerial

Committee on Gas to assess other financial options for the NEC's consid&ration.

An IPBC board meeting was held on 20gust 2008. The appointment of advisors for
the State's participation in the PNG LNG Project was tabled but not discussed. The

82 affidavit of Glenn Blake, 20 December 2021 [26], Exhibit WWW!IT.0092.0001.0001

83 Affidavit of Glenn Blake, 20 December 2021, [21] Exhibit WWWIT.0092.0001.0001

84 NEC Decision 82/2008/VIT.0026.0001.0722
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10.8

10.9

minutes record the shortage of members on the board and the volume of matters to the

deliberated, led to the board agreeing thatmeeting would deal with urgent matters

only.

On 29 August 2008 the NEC noted Statutory Business Paper No. 87/2007

(@)

(b)

(©)

noted the appointment of Goldman Sachs JBWere as the IPBC advisors on the

funding;

noted the appointment of Freehills Lawyers as the IPBC's probity advisors; and
then

approved the fee structure for those advisors.

The NEC decision attaches a summary of the fee structure for Goldman Sachs JBWere

but not Freehills. The structure was:

(@)
(b)
(©)

(d)

1% of the gross proceeds of any bond or exchangeable offering or sale of assets;
0.1% of the aggregate loan facility to be agreed with IPIC;

0.5% of the aggregate facility limit of any investor introduced by Goldman Sachs
to PNG;

0.4% of the aggregatadility limit of any other loan facility or other capital

raising executed as part of the financing.

10.10 Mr Blake noted that NEC approval was necessary at this point because Goldman Sachs

JBWere's remuneration included success $&es.

10.11 The minutes of an IPBC lbod meeting on 13 September 2008 record that the board of
IPBC ratified the appointment of Goldman Sachs JBWere on that date. Mr Simon Tosali,

an ex officio member of the board as the Secretary of the Treasury at the time, raised

8 NEC Decision 189/2008 was made at Special MeetingBR{2008WIT.0027.0001.0498

8 Affidavit of Glenn Blake, 20 December 20p21], Exhibit WWW, WIT.0092.0001.0001
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concerns at the meetinggtithe board had not been part of the appointment process. Mr
Tosali also questioned the level of fees that would be paid to Goldman Sachs §BWere.

10.12 The Commission does not have any evidence to show the board of IPBC was involved in
appointment of GoldnmraSachs JBWere and Freehills, the selection of IPIC or the
negotiations with IPIC until the proposal was put to them at the meeting on 13 September
2008. The evidence suggests that within IPBC, the transaction and the appointment of

advisors was led by MBlake.
10.13 In the result:

(@) The fees paid to Freehills for their work on the Exchangeable Bond Transaction
wereAUD1.136 million.

(b)  The fees paid to Goldman Sachs JBWere wWeé#®16.895 million8®

11. TOR 1(i): What was the rationale for allowing payment to be made Y an election of

either cash, or the mortgaged Oil Search shares or a combination of both?

11.1 Theexchangeable bondid not permit payment to be made by an election of cash or
shares or a combination of the two. Also, the Oil Search shares were not tloe ciudje
mortgage in a technical legal sense although they were held in an escrow account to

preserve them for the maturity of the bond.
11.2 The bonds could be redeemed in the following was/aotedo an extenabove
(@)  Prior to maturity:

0) from 40 days after thieonds were issued until 10 days before maturity,
IPIC could exchange the bonds for IPBC's shareholding in Oil S&x@ui.

this early exchange, IPIC would receive all of the shares (even if the share

87 Minutes of Meeting No. 1 of 2@of the Board of Directors of IPB&IT.0026.0001.0730

88 pwC Report, "Tansaction Review Project Kumul", p22IT.0056.0005.0001

8%9 Bond Deed PdlAnnexure A, cl 10.WIT.0056.0006.0021
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price was abovAUD8.55), but would not receive a cgsiiyment if the

share price was below AUD 8.55. Acting rationally, IPIC would not
exercise this right unless the relevant average share price was above
AUD8.55 and therefore able to redeem the bonds in full. Had the share
price risen to that level, it igkely that IPIC would have chosen to exercise

its early exchange rights in order to obtain the full Oil Search shareholding
rather than wait until maturity when, under the mandatory exchange
provisions, it would only be entitled to take shares up to teValue of

the bonds. In the event, however, the Oil Search share price did not provide

this opportunity?°

(i)  after the payment of the sixth interest payment date, 15 October 2011,
IPBC had the option to redeem the bonds but this depended on the average
shae price being above 130% AfJD8.55 (ie.AUD11.115) for 20 or more
trading days during a period of 30 consecutive trading YajfdPBC
sought to redeem the bonds, it only needed to provide shares to the face
value of the bond but needed to redeem all of the bdindsshare price

never reached this level;

(i) Importantly, if IPBC chose to seek early redemption, IPIC had 25 business
days following receipt of notice of the desire to redeem in which to decide
whether to exercise its rights to an early exchange. It is almost inevitable
that IPIC would have exercised its rights to an early exchange in that
circumstance because the shareslid have reached a value (130% of
AUDB8.55) that would redeem the bonds in full and leave some upside for
IPIC;

% Brattle 1, [114], Exhibit VVWIT.0132.0001.0002

91Bond Deed Poll, Annexure A, cl 7.@/1T.0056.0006.0021
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11.3

11.4

11.5

12.

(iv)  The effect of this is that whilst IPBC had the right to seek to redeem the
bonds early if the share price rose sufficiently, it is unlikely ithabuld

ever have been able to exercise that right.

(b)  On maturity, the bonds would be exchanged for IPBC's entire shareholding in Oil

Search. When that happened, if:

) the Volume Weighted Average Price of the shares over a certain period of
time was less #fMAUD8.55 a share, IPBC was obliged make up the
shortfall in cash;

(i)  alternatively, if the Volume Weighted Average Price of the shares was
greater tha\UD8.55 a share, IPIC would only receive shares totalling the
face value of the bonds and IPBC would kéepremainder of the shar&s;

(i) IPBC did not have a right to seek to redeem the bonds in cash at maturity.

In summary, given the conditions attached to either party's early exchange rights, it was
likely that the exchangeable bonds would run to maturity. At that point, they would be
redeemed through IPIC taking IPBC's holding in Oil Search up to the value lotils

and IPBC paying any shortfall between the share price at that point.

The rationale behind IPBC's agreement to this appears to be an acceptance that IPBC
would never have the funds to be able to redeem the bonds in cash. Its best option was
therefoe to enter into a transaction which might be likened to a deferred sale of the
shares. This allowed it to take advantage of any increase in the price of the shares during

the period of the bonds.

In February 2014, IPIC issued the Mandatory Exchange Ndtticeceived the State's Oil
Search shares and IPBC was required (after litigation) té\pdy74 million.

TOR 1()): What was the rationale for allowing the mortgaged Oil Search shares to

be used in payment of the Loan?

92Bond Deed Poll, Annexure A, cl 7\WIT.0056.0006.0021
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12.1 In our submission, it has alwapse clearthatthe exchange of Oil Search shares as the

means for redeeming the bonds was mandatory under the termsPIGlexthangeable

Bond Transaction.

12.2 The rationale for thexchangeable bondgpears to have been that:

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

It was considered at the tinb@ be the best way of leveraging IPBC's most

significant asset, namely the Oil Search shares. The shares were low in value at the
time that the transaction was negotiated, but were considered likely to rise (and in
fact did so) during the term of the boradsthe PNG LNG Project advanced.

Although interest was payable on the bonds, it was considered that this would be
more than compensated by the likely increase in the value of Oil Search's shares
which meant that the deferred sale thatekehangeable baisrepresented was

better than an immediate sale of the shares in 2008.

Whilst the Commission has not confirmed this (and it would be likely to be
information only available within IPIC), geemdikely that the fact that the bond
would be partially ordlly redeemed against the Oil Search shares reduced the
interest rate sought by IPIC by removing some risk for IPIC. It may also have

increased the amount that IPBC could raise from the bond.

The exchange right was a conscious choice by IPBC and thgWi€h included

Mr O 6 Wwhen elach approved the transaction. Whilst the transaction would

result in IPBC losing its investment in Oil Search, including any dividends flowing
from the shares, this was considered an acceptable price to pay to obtain the much

greater revenues that wid ultimately flow from the PNG LNG Project.

There were limited alternatives for raising the significant sums required given the
global financial crisis at the time and that the sum was too big to be raised through
concessional loans. There were alsoceons about the delays that might arise

with concessional loart$.Neither Petromin nor the Treasury were able to present

a competing offer at the time that the IPIC Exchangeable Bond Transaction was

9% PwC Report, "Transaction Review Project Kumul", p¥0r.0056.0005.0001

ME_195780697_5

Page63


file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/WIT.0056.0005.0001.pdf

being considered by the NEC that matched it in terniseodmount that it would
raise and the certainty of delivery.

(e)  Whilst the funds were raised some time in advance of when they were needed, this
is explicable on the basis that the funding of the State's equity participation would
add credibility to the PNG&NG Project and a concern that in the economic
climate of the time, the IPIC transaction might prove to be the only option

available and one that might not be available at a later date.

13. TOR 1(k): Whether IPIC has the sole election as to method of payment i
satisfaction of the State Loan from IPIC, and if so what was the rationale for giving
IPIC the right of sole election to either accept cash, the mortgaged Oil Search shares

or a combination of both

13.1 IPIC did not have a right of election as to the manmevhich the exchangeable bonds
would be dealt with on maturity. They were to be exchanged for Oil Search shares using &
reference price oAUD8.55 with IPBC being obliged to make up any shortfall between
the actual price of the shares at that datefdsiD 8.55.

14. When and what decision did IPIC make on the repayment of the Loan?

14.1 It appears that up until the end of 2013 or early 2014, iRa¢ have beeopenat least in
principleto discussion about accepting cash to redeem the bonds or refin@acing
extendimg) the bonds rather than proceeding with the mandatory exchange. THs was
examplelPIC'sstatedposition at a meeting in Abu Dhabi on 30 October 2013.

14.2 Itis not known at what precise point after that IPIC's position changed, but, by 13
February 2014it had rebuffed the Statdxelatedattempt to meet with it in Abu Dhabi
and, on that day, it issued the formal notice to require the exchange of the shares for the

bonds.

Other issues
The Currency Risk

14.3 The bond was paid in Australian dollars and intewess payable in Australian dollars.

However, the payments for the PNG LNG Project were required to be made in US
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dollars. In addition, the funds were being received some considerable while before they
were needed. These factors created a currency risk.

14.4 Mr Vele criticised thdPIC transaction on the basis that it created a currency risk that was
not well managed and in particular the timing of the exchange into US dollars. He noted
that during the period after the exchange, the Australian dollar wentanmce in a

generation ride" reaching highs in excest®/8D1.10.

14.5 Mr Vele also questioned whether it was necessary to exchange all of the Australian
dollars into US dollars. Whilst the cash calls on the equity contributors to the PNG LNG
Project would b in US dollars, much of the underlying expenditure on the project would

be in Australian dollar®}

14.6 But the currency risk was recognised at the time. The evidence is that Goldman Sachs
JBWere had tried to negotiate for the loan to be in US dollars as that was to be the
currency of the capital expenditure on the PNG LNG Project. However, IPIC required
the tansaction to be in Australian dollars as this was the currency of Oil Search's share

price®

14.7 IPBC received advice from Goldman Sachs JBWere about how to deal with the currency
risk. Over a period of months in the lead up to the bonds being issuedidered that

advice and ultimately, it decided to follow the course that its financial advisor proposed.

14.8 In our submissiomothingadversearises in relation to currency risk. The risk was

understood, IPBC took advice which it considered and thenifedo

Investment of the bond funds until needed

14.9 A similar issue arose from the funds being received long before they were needed for the

PNG LNG Project. This created the need to try to enhance the value of the funds

9 Affidavit of Dairi Vele, 26 April 2021 p286, Exhibit QQWIT.0014.0007.0001

% PwC Report, Transaction Review Project Kumul", pJ@IT.0056.0005.0001
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received to minimise the risk that tkanight be a shortfall against the sums required to
fund the State's interest in the PNG LNG Project.

14.10 IPBC and its advisors recognised this need. IPBC approached Goldman Sachs JBWere
about the rates that they might offer on the investment of the futititherfunds were
needed at financial close. Goldman Sachs advised that the conservative risk profile
needed for the funds did not warrant using any of their investment products. IPBC then
looked at other banks for rates to invest. Mr Blake's recolleatamnthat they approached
Westpac, Commonwealth Bank of Australia and to other b¥nks.

14.11 In our submission, there is nothingtoward in the manner in which IPBC dealt with this

issue.

The Treasury's opposition and other funding alternatives

14.12 The Treasury gposed the proposed transaction on a significant number of bases in its
letter of 21 October 2008, outlined above.

14.13 PricewaterhouseCoopers were engaged by the Tregsary latein 2011 to review the
IPIC Exchangeable Bond Transaction. The Reybrt provides further information

about the Treasury's views on the transactioRelevantly, the report states that:

(@) Treasury's initial view was that the State should not take up its equity position in
PNG LNG Project given the risks and costs invdlvét prepared a comparison
which demonstrated that the projected tax receipts would be twice as much as the
PNG LNG Project's equity dividends. However, the government's determination
to maintain a stake in the project, consistent with its policiesnitieat the

Treasury directed its attention to supporting the government's ambition.

(b)  Between October and midecember 2008, the Treasury sought to evaluate the
various financing options that might be available. This was despite the

exchangeable bondieing approved in October 2008 and the agreement being

% Affidavit of Glenn Blake, 20 December 2021, [36] ExhiMtWW WIT.0092.0001.0001

9 PwC Report, "Transaction Review Project Kumul", p¥P.0056.0005.0001
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(d)

ME_195780697_5

signed in November 2008. However, the PwC report states that none of the
options considered by the Treasury allowed the equity to be fully funded. Some of

the options considered included:

) discussions wih concessional lenders such as the Japanese bank for
International Cooperation, the Asi@evelopment BankADB), the

European Investment BaiiEIB) and the World Bank;

(i)  talking to possible strategic equity investors such as Nippon Oil, LNG

Japan and Shell
(i)  evaluating the proposals put forward by IPBC and Petromin, and

(iv)  considering limited domestic financing through the market or direct budget

support.

Whilst it was clear that the equity finance would not be required until late 2009,
the MCES believed thatwould be an advantageous to the State to raise the
finance at an earlier date and decided that it needed to make a decision on the
source of finance by 24 October 2008. It then told the Treasury that it would only
consider proposals that would enaltle State to take up its full direct interest in

the PNG LNG Project and would not result in the State taking on additional debt.

These requirements reduced the options available considerably and effectively
precluded the Treasury from pursuing any furthgions. The Treasury then

presented four options to the MCES that were immediately available:

0) a combination of ADB and EIB debt bfSD400m, state budget funding of
USD230, international bond issue dED600 million and domestic bond

issues for any costerruns;

(i)  aJapan Bank for International Cooperation proposal whereby the State and
other Project sponsors would sell up to 5% of the PNG LNG Project to a
Japanese party with JBIC financing the State's participation in the PNG

LNG Project on concessionalmes;

Page67



(e)

(f)

(i)  an international oil and gas company would enter into a transaction with the
State which would allow the State to take up its full entittement in the PNG
LNG Project and retain its shareholding in Oil Search. The international oil

and gas company walfinance the State's equity on favourable terms;

(iv)  the State assignee would enter into a joint venture with the oil and gas
company with the State holding the majority position and the company
paying the State for its equity in the joint venture. The comparuld fund
the balance if the proceeds from the sale of the State's interest was

insufficient to fund the balance of the State's interest.

The PwC Report noted that one of the oil and gas company options involved an
major oil and gas company acquiringito! of Oil Search and then assisting the
State to finance its equity involvement in the PNG LNG Project. That commitment
would be up to a maximum &fSD 650 million and would be secured only against
the State's interest in the PNG LNG Project. The timahwould be repayable

over four years following first production and carry an interest rate equal to the
blended PNG LNG Project debt. The price to be offered for the Oil Search shares
was at a significant premium to the then prevailing share price.

The Treasury's proposal was presented to the MCES but it was not supported
despite the Treasury considering it to be a better proposal therdh@ngeable

bonds The Treasury reported to PwC that they did not recedlear explanation

for the rejectio of the proposal but one of the grounds was a concern that Oil
Search might fall into the hands of a foreign entity. PwC noted Mr Aopi's position
as the chair of IPBC and as an employee of Oil Search in this context, but without

drawing any inferencesdm this.

14.14 In summary, the Treasury had been operating on the basis of a longer timescale to raise

the funds. The Treasury's timescale was governed by when the funds would be needed.

The MCES appears to have been guided by a concern, in a challenginghiecono

environment, to seize the opportunity presented by the exchangeable bond transaction.

This was not only to secure funds that might not otherwise be available but also to inject

credibility and momentum into the PNG LNG Project.

ME_195780697_5
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14.15 A notable feature ahe Treasury's work is the apparent disagreement between the
Minister and his department. Mr Tosali is recorded in minutes of IPBC's board meeting of
24 October 2008 as stating that the Minister, Mr Pruaitch would not let him speak at the
NEC meeting on 28ctober 2008. It is unsatisfactory that there was a disagreement
between the Minister and his departmi@nCabinet a position which also arosdbeit in
a different fashiomn relation to the UBS Loan discussed beldut in the PNG system
as in the Véstminster system more generaltlisagreements between Ministéngho are
elected)and Department&vhose officers are nore generally resolved in favour of the

former.

Conclusions

14.16 Save for Treasuryhere was little disagreemess towhetherthe Stée should participate
in the PNG LNG Project. According to the PwC Report, the Treasury was initially
against the idea based on the costs and risks involved. Its modelling suggested that it ma
have beeiffinancially better for the State to sell its egustake and simply receive tax
royalties and other indirect benefits as the PNG LNG Project proceeded. It does not seern
that the Treasury's view was explored in detail given the government's determination to
participate in the PNG LNG Project. The Tragstnen focused on exploring the best

options for how to do that.

14.17 There was much more debate ablatvthe State should finance its participation in the
PNG LNG Project.

14.18 In our submissiojthe decision to enter into the exchangeable bond transaeaisen
rationaland justifiabledecision in the circumstances then prevailing which wéarhd
did), over the long term, generate greater revenues for PNG than the shareholding in Oil
Search and in providing the State with an equity interest in its mostisigmifesource
project. The State took a risk that the Oil Search share price would rise over time to
eliminate or reduce any shortfall that it might have to pay to IPIC at maturity but the
prevailing view at the time was that the share price wouldntdeast as a result of Oil
Search's involvement in the PNG LNG Projestd it did

14.19 As Oil Search was itself a participant in the PNG LNG Project, it was not unreasonable

for the State to consider that its share price would be likely to rise overrheftéhe
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bonds as thevell regarded®NG LNG Project advanced. Indeed, at the date of maturity
of the bonds, the share price was o&&lD8.55, although it had not been above that price
for sufficiently long to avoid the need for IPBC to make a top up eayno IPIC at that

point®

14.20 Alternative ways of raising the funds were put to the State but rejected; it would appear

for the reasons set out in policy submission 167/2008.

14.21 In our submissioyviewed overallthe IPIC Exchangeable Bond Transaction neeei

appropriate levels of review and scrutiny before being approved by the NEC.

14.22 However as notedthe process by which the State obtained funding for its entry into the

PNG LNG Project wasomewhatnefficient.
15. UBS Loan

15.1 We now turn to the genesis andailkof the UBS Loan which is complex.

% Brattle 1, [114] Exhibit VVWIT.0132.0001.0002

Page70

ME_195780697_5


file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/WIT.0132.0001.0002.pdf

15.2

15.3

UBS transaction

& UBS
. '*\ S Cash for the purchase of Qil Search Shares: B85 AG. A l
X + Collar Loan: AUD 905 million : h-A“‘"“ ia
« Bridge Loan: AUD 335 million ranch (Arranger
The Independent J & Facility Agent)

State of Papua New " UBS sells collar to PNG (nil-premium) il
Guinea PNG purchases Puts from UBS at strikes
ranging from 80% - 100% of AUD 8.20
* PNG sells Calls to UBS at strikes ranging
from 90% - 142% of AUD 8.20

12 million on\ PNG has right to ordinary
Search Limited dividends
Sh'ﬂ'es’/ AUD 1,225 million |

Extraordinary dividends

at the discretion of UBS
@ 137 million Qil i
- . Search Limited 1+ Title to the Oil Search shares held by UBS
0Oil Search Shares

We begin by saying something about the collar loan con¢apitar loans are complex

but are standard products within the banking indu3tngse loans are commonly used
when the sum lent is used to purchaseeshahich then provide the security for the
lender.The essence of the loan is thasigenerallystructured so that the lender has no
risk of default by the borrowerThis is done by ensuring that all of the interest is paid at
the outset of the loahaving the shares as collateasid using optionsAs will be seen,

the options provide the ‘collar’ which gives this type of loan its name.

In 2014, the stated purpose of the loan was to enable the State to buy about 10% of share
in Oil Search.The purbase price was $8.20 a share but of course, there was market risk
about how the share price would move over the two year period of the loan, as
occurred.No doubt UBS would have conducted some extremely complicated modelling
about how to design the collalement of the loan, and in particular what strike prices to

use in the optionsThis modelling will have been done using a mathematical model

called Black ScholesThis model is in widespread use in the banking indudtry

includes assumptions abdwiw a share price might move over time and requires inputs

to be made about the expected volatility of the share price in question. As a result of this,
whilst the banks generally use the same model, the variable inputs and assumptions will

often lead to ififerent outcomes.
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15.5

15.6

15.7

15.8

The modelling allowed UBS to provide the State with not only the loan but a series of put
options, one for each share purchased. Each option had a date upon which it could be
exercised and a 'strike price' for the shares to whickatiee The put options allowed the
State to sell or 'put’ the shares to UBS at the strike price if, at the date that the option was

to be exercised, the share price was below the strike price of the option.

Thestrike prices oput options and the amounttbe loan were calculated so that the

total amount that UBS would lend would be equivalent tasthkee prices of all of the put
options. The effect of this was that if the share price fell below the strike price of the put
options, the options would @vide theState with theneans to repay UBS in fullThis

had two important effects:

(@) First, it meant that the State did not need to worry about finding funds to repay the
loan. If it just allowed the loan tanatureaccording to its terms, the loan would be
repaid.

(b)  Second, it meant that UBS had no exposure to the State as a credit risk from the
loan because repayment was assured through the put ogtiasther words, it

did not have to worry about whether thatStwould be able to repay the loan.

(c) Ifalender has no exposure to the borrower's credit risk, as in this case, the interest
payable on the collar loan should be at or close to the risk free rate, because the
lender has no significant credit risk. As Wk seen, that did not happen herth
UBS charging unwarranted interest of about AUD 56 million.

The put options therefore providedl@or for the loanas far as the State was

concerned.

In return for the protection provided by the put optidhs,State provided a call option

for each share to UBSAs with the put options, eadall option had a date upon which it
could be exercised and a 'strike price' for the share to which it reldtedall options

allowed UBS to buy or ‘call’ for the shares from the State at the strike price if, at the date
that the option was to be exercised, the share price was above the strike price of the

option.

The call option therefore provided a ceiling foe loan.
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15.9 For each share, there is a put option and a call option with the same expiry date. Together

the puts and calls provide a notional collar of protection for both parties.

15.10 A relevant phrase in this context is to describe an option as bethg ‘money'.A put
option isin the monewhen the market price of the share is below the strike price of the
option so that the borrower makes a gain by putting the share on the lender for more than
the share is then worttA call option is in the monayhen the market price of the share
is above the strike price of the option so that the lender makes a gain by calling for and

obtaining the share for less than it is then worth.

15.11 If an option is in the money, the difference between the value of the shthremarket
and the strike price of the option is said to be the ‘intrinsic value' of the option. The

intrinsic value therefore varies with the share price.

15.12 If at any option date, the share price is between the put and call options, neither option
can beexercised. The share is still sold to repay the loan and the excess above what is
needed to repay the lo&nwhich is the strike price of the put optids)returned to the

borrower.

15.13 What has just been explained describes the position in relation to@asiage. To
illustrate the complexity of the UBS loan, it should be remembered that each share had its
own put and call option. There were therefore 137 million put options and 137 million
call options. The dates upon which the options could be exergssadsover a period of
some months towards final end date of the loan and the options had a range of different
strike prices. With so many options, many of the strike prices and exercise dates were the

same.

15.14 The significance of this is that it is beyoret tabilities of borrowers to be able to fully
understand the risks involved in the option structure unless they have the assistance of a
highly sophisticated financial advisor who can conduct their own Black Scholes
modelling to test the fairness involvadthe options structure proposed: as UBS would
have, and as the Commission has thragtunchallenged work of Brattle. In particular,
this modelling was necessary in order to check that the pricing of the collar loan was fair.

The State did not have obtain the ability to do this and was vulnerable to being

Page73

ME_195780697_5



overcharged as a result. But it is clear that the State, notably Mr del@ot appreciate
this risk.

15.15 A further relevant term is 'nil premiumThe State was told by UBS that the collar option
structure was nil premiumilts normal meaning in this context (and there was no
suggestion it was not being usedts normal meaningy UBS) meant that nothing was
payable to UBS for providing the collar option structure and that the downside protection
that the State received from all of the put options was equal to the value of the upside
protection that UBS received from all of the call optiofiat is, nil premium in this
context was a clear representation by UBS that it was not separately prfoditmthe
pricing of the option structure over and above its declared fees. Again, the State had no
ability to verify this. This matters because, far from beingprémium, the premium or
excessive profit UBS made in this regard wabstantial at abo$25 million, but it

never told the State this.
15.16 Two other concepts should be mentioned.

(&) The first ishedging Although UBS had no exposure to the State as a credit risk, it
was possible that at the maturity of the loan, it would be left holding shares that
were worth less than the principal that it had lent to the State. UBS traded Oil
Search shares in the market to hedge against or mitigate this risk.

(b)  The second igalue In the Brattle report, there are frequent discussions about
value being transferrdaly one party to the other. A transfer of value is not
necessarily a transfer of money at that point. It describes a transaction between the
parties at a different price to what Brattle considered to be a fair price. Thus, for
example, if, as Brattle advisthe collar loan option structure was not nil premium
and was unfairly slanted against the State so that the call options that UBS
received were worth more to a potential purchaser than the put options that the
State received, this would represent a tiemis value from the State to UBS at the
date that the transaction took place. As the loan matured, that transfer of value
might then be realised depending on how the options came to be exercised at that
point. The value could also have been realiseotirer ways, including selling the

options in the market.
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15.17 In summary, the key points are these:

16.

16.1

16.2

16.3

16.4

(@) once the loan was created, and interest paid in advance, as it was, the State had

nothing further to pay and had no risk of defaulting;
(b)  this meant that UBS hatb exposure to the Statesedit risk,
(c) the State had no ability to understand the fairness of the option structure;

(d)  the nikpremium statement was untrue, quite misleading and expensive for the
State.

TOR (L): Why and when did the State commence the predures to obtain a loan
regarding the debt to IPIC and/or purchase Oil Search shares

The State first decided to initiate discussion with IPIC and to investigate options for
refinancing the IPIC Bond on 14 March 20°£2Although the NEC decision does not
record why the decision was made, a number of withesses gave evidence to the
Commission that it wathoughtimportant to the State to remain a shareholder of Oil

Search.

But no steps were taken in relation to initiateigcussion with IPIC or to investigate
options for refinancing the IPIC Bond until after the 2012 election.

In the second half of 2012, the then Minister for Public Enterprise and State Investments
Mr Ben Micah had initial discussions with and engadgatkwell Lombard Capital to
provide advice on the IPIC Boritf

On 5 December 2012, IPBC formally retained NRF to provide legal advice on the IPIC
Exchangeable Bond8! NRF& engagement letter records retaining the Oil Search shares

as the objective of thengagement??

9% NEC Decision NG 63/212,WIT.0016.0001.0316

1001 etter Backwell Lombard Capital to Ministeriééh dated 16 October 201%/1T.0155.0001.1624
101 Affidavit of Dairi Vele, 26 April 2021 at [189] and exhibit DV16, Exhibit Q@/IT.0014.0007.000
102WIT.0015.0001.0691

Page75

ME_195780697_5


file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/WIT.0016.0001.0316.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/WIT.0155.0001.1624.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/WIT.0014.0007.0001.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/WIT.0015.0001.0691.pdf

16.5 The first meeting with IPIC did not occur until on or about 15 March 26*L& was
apparentlypromising in relation to the possibility of the State refinancing the IPIC Bond
and regaining ownership of the Oil Search sh##3he second meeting occurred on or
aboutApril 20013. Dr Waine's evidence was that IPIC's attitude towards the refinancing
had changed by this meeting and it required the IPIC Bond to be redeemed within two
weeks. The State did not have the funds tot té® deadlind®

16.6 Despite this imperative, no further engagement with IPIC appears to have occurred until
SeptembeandOctober 2013. In the meantime, the evidence before the Commission

suggests that there were a number of parallel procesdeding

(@) IPBGs efforts through Mr Kumarasiri who was appointed as Managing Director
of IPBC on 5 April 2013% These included:

) in early April 2013, a Goldman Sachs propd$al;
(i)  engagement witklelmsleyCapitall®®
(b)  proposals by Shell, Marubeni and others tokvirmer and Mr Sonk®®

(c)  Minister Micah's engagement of Backwell Lombard Capital on 31 May 2013 as
Lead Manager and Arranger in consultation with his advisors on-axuauasive

basis!t0

103 An email from Mr Paki to Mr Latimer of 15 March 2013, copied to Dr Waine, stated that as at that date, Dr
Waine and Mr Kumarasiri were in Abu Dhabi with Mr BottedRF.001.001.2153

104 Transcript, Dr Clement Waine, 11 February 2028y#055; see also Supplementary Statement of Dr Clement
Waine dated 11 February 2022, Exhib8SS WIT.0039.0007.0001

105 Transcript, Clement Waine, 6 August 20page 26325

106 NEC Decision No. 117 of 2018|RF.001.001.2368

107NRF.001.001.2245

108 Transcript, Dr Clement Waine, 11 February 2022, p 4058.

109 Email, R P&i to A Latimer, 3 April 2013, Re: Goldman Sachs IPBC Overvig®F.001.00.2273

110| etter Minister Micah to Backwell Lombard, 31 May 20¥8lT.0155.0001.1597
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(d) engagement with UBS byir Vele andhis adviser and former business paridr

Mortensen

(e) the IPIC Bond Review Committend its near relative the IPBC internal review

committee
)] the Bank of Papua New Guir@aeview.

16.7 These processes were duplicative and inefficieut critically, they focused on
something other than an acsjtion of newly issued shares from Oil Search

16.8 In a formal sensehe State commenced the procedures to obtain the UBS Loan to
purchase the Oil Search shares on or about 23 February 2014 following a meeting
between then Prime Minister Peter O'Neill, Wele, Mr Botten and Mr Aopiwhose

recollections vary

17. TOR (M): whether legal and administrative processes were followed regarding the

loan from UBS including but not limited to:

) How was the process commenced?

(i)  How was UBS selected?

(i)  What process was utilized?

(iv)  What were the terms of the loan?

What processes have been utilised in the past to obtain loans?
Section 209

17.1 Before turning to the factual evidence before the Commission, this TOR raises for
consideration section 20 the Constitutionand particularly thé.oans (Overseas

Borrowings) No 2 Act

What view was taken in 2014 about what s 209 and theans (Overseas Borrowings) No 2

Actrequired?

17.2 On 5 March 2014, Mr Vele wrote to Mr RolpagareaStse Solicitor, requesting that he
review the documents relating to the proposed UBS transaction and "provide clearance”
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17.3

17.4

17.5

17.6

17.7

before the documents went to the NEC on 6 March 281Zhe documents were
provided to the State Solicitor by Pacific Legal Groupieaon 5 March 20142

Later on 5 March 2014, the State Solicitor replied to Mr Vele's letter. The State Solicitor
advised that " €enstitutiomlso rej@rés the Parliantelt's approval be
obtained for this Bridge and Collar Loans whiokals up to Australian dollars 1.225

billion through the budgetary process®

On 6 March 2014:

(@  PrimeMinister OdNeill announced a proposal to the NEC for the purchase of
149,390,244 million Oil Search shares AdD1.239 billion, funded by UBS; and

(b)  the NEC advised the Governor General to approve the UBS loan pursuant to
section 2(1) of théoans (Overseas Borrowingéct 19764

On 7 March 2014, Mr Vele wrote to the State Solicitor communicating to him the NEC
decision and requesting the State Solicitor's "legal cleardhte".

On 9 March 2014, the State Solicitor replied to Mr Vele's letter. In his reply, the State
Solicitor advised that the appropriate person to execute loan agreements on behalf of the
State was the Minister for Treasury pursuant to section 2(7) abtes (Overseas
Borrowings) (No. 2) Act 1976Mr Rolpagarea reminded Mr Vele of the statements in
relation to the transaction raised in his 5 March 2014 letter. The State Solicitor stressed
the need to comply with section 209 of enstitution but, given the urgent nature of

the transactions, approved the Minister for Treasury to execute the dusttfie

On 10 March 2014:

111

112

113

114

115

116

Statement of Daniel Rolpagarea dated 22 June 2021, AnnexW&r#019.0004.0001
Statement of Daniel Rolpagarea dated 22 June 2021, Annexuyé€rA0019.0004.0001
Statement of Daniel Rolpagarea dated 22 June 2021, AnnexW&r@019.0004.0001
Advice from NEC to Governor Generd/(T.0019.0002.039p

Statement of Daniel Rolpagarea dated 22 June 2021, AnnexWérmp019.0004.0001
Statement of Daniel Rolpagarea dated 22 June 2021, AnnexXWEE019.0004.0001
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17.8

17.9

(@)

(b)

the State Solicitor advised the Governor General to execute the UBS transaction
documents upon receipt of advice from the NEGind

the IPBC board approved the execution of the Payment Direction Deed by NPCP

while noting the Stat8&olicitor's advice in respect of section 209 of the

Constitution'®

On 26 March 2014, Mr Vele sent a letter to the State Solicitor regarding the section 209

constitutional approval for the UBS transaction. The letter requested confirmation in

writing of the advices given and steps taken by the Office of the State Solicitor to obtain

the necessary authorisation of the National Parliamnedé¢r s209(1) of the

Constitution'®

On 27 March 2014:

(@)
(b)

the the State Solicitor replied to Mr Védetter:?° and

theNPCP board met and discussed the UBS transaction and the advice received
from external counsel including concerns about the application of section 209 of
the Constitution The NPCP company secretary, Mr Rogen Wato, sent a text
message to Mr Steve Lewian external lawyer, regarding this concern. Mr Lewin
responded "reaffirming his view that the State/UBS Loan transaction has not been
in breach of s 209 of théonstitutiori but asked that management obtain a second
opinion and providé to the NPCP boartf!

17.10 In his reply of 27 March 2014, the State Solicitor advised that section 209 apgvoidl

be obtained retrospectivend that this was appropriate for the UBS transaction, as it

was impracticable for NEC to call Parliament at the time it made its decdiie to the

117

118

119

120

121
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Letter from Rolpagarea to PNG Governor Gengvér.0019.0003.0030

Statement of the Honourable Don Poyle dated 1 June 0Z10051.0008.0045

Letter from Dairi Vele to Daniel Rolpagarea: sentR09- Constitution of the Independent State of Papua
New Guinea NEC Decision No 79/2014 State Acquisition of Shareholding in Oil Search L@basequential
Borrowing WIT.0007.0004.0844

Letter from Daniel Rolpagarea to Dairi Val¢IT.0007.0004.0751
Minutes of Meeting No 2 of 2014Held on 27 March 2014 at 9.14 AMIT.0036.0001.0284
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urgency of the matter. The State Solicitor also noted section Z2@nstitution
regarding expenditure without prior Parliamentary approval. Ultimately, the State
Solicitor advised that Parliament may invoke its power under section @ f&cflitate the
transaction” that hally thenalready been entered intble advisedt was important that

the approval by Parliament be expressed to have retrospective effect.

17.11 On 19 May 2014former Treasurer DoRolye filed an application in the Supre@eurt

of Justice pursuant to section 18(1) of @enstitutionseeking declarations that, on the
proper interpretation and application of section 209 ofQestitutionand theOrganic

Law on the Sovereign Wealth Fund 2GRRIG), the executive actions thie Prime

Minister and NEC in entering into the UBS transaction without Parliamentary approval
(which Polye had opposedjere unconstitutional and illegal and that the transaetas
illegal and unenforceable against the StateThat application appesito have been

discontinued in 201%23

17.12 On 5 September 2014, Mr Pruaitchtlas new Treasuremade a Ministerial Statement to

Parliament in relation to the UBS transaction and tabled the relevant transaction

documentg?*

17.13 On 18 November 2014 reasurePruaitch presented the 2014 Supplementary Budget and

the 2015 National Budget to Parliament. Mr Pruasaidt "the O'NeillDion
Government made the decision to purchase 10.1 per cent stake in Oil Shares as part of th
2014 Supplementary Budget in accordaméth Section 20®f the Constitutionwe have

appropriated for interest payments>"

What is the proper construction of s 209nd relevant legislation

17.14 We have earlier submitted that this Commission cannot make binding determinations on

partiesas tothe neaning of theConstitutionor any other law. But that does not mean the

122

123

124

125

WIT.0035.0001.5718

Letter Don Polye to the Commission of Inquiry, 18 July 2020\'8.0051.0002.0001
Hansard, 5 September 2014, p@ WIT.0014.0012.0015

Hansard, 18 November 2014, pi33, WIT.0014.0015.0088
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Commission should not express its considered view of their meaning in answering the

guestions posed by the terms of reference and making recommendations accordingly.
17.15 Wethussubmit the proper construction is as follows.

Constitutiomal provisions

17.16 Section109(1) of theConstitutioninvests the Parliament with power, subject to the
Constitution to make laws for the peace, order and good government of Papua New
Guinea and the welfare of the People. Section 109(2) provides that: "Acts of the
Parliament, noinconsistent with th€onstitutioral Laws, may provide for all matters that
are necessary or convenient to be prescribed for carrying out and giving effect to this

Constitution.
17.17 Sections 202210 and 212 of th€onstitutionrelevantly provide:

209. Parliamentary Responsibility

(1) Notwithstanding anything in thiSonstitution the raising and expenditure of finance
by the National Government, including the imposition of taxation and the raising of loans,
is subject to authorization and control by the Pamient, and shall be regulated by an

Act of the Parliament.
(2) For each fiscal year, there shall be a National Budget compidsing

(@) estimates of finance proposed to be raised and estimates of proposed
expenditure by the National Government in respetiiefiscal year; and

(b)  separate appropriations for the service of that year in respéct of
(c) the services of the Parliament; and

(d)  general public services; and

(e) the services of the Judiciary; and

() such other supplementary Budgets and approjongtas are necessary.
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(3) Before any Budget or appropriation is prepared for submission to the Parliament, the
National Executive Council shall consult with any appropriate Permanent Parliamentary
Committee, but this subsection does not conferighy or impose any duty of

consultation after the initial stages of the preparation of the Budget or appropriation.
210. Executive initiative

(1) The Parliament shall not provide for the imposition of taxation, the raising of loans
or theexpenditure of public moneys of Papua New Guinea except on the
recommendation of the Head of State, acting with, and in accordance with, the

advice of the National Executive Council.

(2) Subject to subsections (3) and (4), Parliament may reduce, bunhshaticrease or
re-allocate, the amount or incidence of, or change the purpose of, any proposed

taxation, loan or expenditure.
é
212. Revenue and expenditure without prior approval

(1) If at the beginning of a fiscal year the Parliament has not made poavisr public
expenditure by the National Executive or expenditure by the Parliament or the
Judiciary for their respective services for that year, the National Executive, the
Parliament or the Judiciary, as the case maybe, may, without authorization other
than this section but in accordance with an Act of the Parliament, expend amounts
appropriated out of the Consolidated Revenue Fund for the purpose not exceeding
in total onethird of its respective budgeted expenditure during the immediately

preceding fcal year.

(2) The authority conferred by Subsection (1) lapses when the Parliament has made
provision for the public expenditure for the fiscal year in question, and any
amounts expended by virtue of that subsection are a charge against the expenditure
soprovided for and shall be properly brought to account accordingly.

17.18 Part 2 of Schedule 1 of tli&onstitutioncontains various provisions relating to the
interpretation of th€onstitution Similarly, section 24 states that certain material may be
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used asids to interpretation of th@onstitution including, relevantly, the Final Report of
the prelndependenc€onstitutioral Planning Committee dated 13 August 1974.

17.19 Section 2(1) of th&oans (Overseas Borrowings) Act 19&Bvantly providethat:

The Headbf State, acting on advice, may, on behalf of the State, borrow from or through
overseas financial institutions, in such manner and on such terms and conditions as are
agreed on by the Head of State, acting on advice, and the institutions, sums nonhgxceedi
in total the sum of K65,000,000.00 or the equivalent in other currencies, for [various

listed purposes].

17.20 Section 2(1) of th&oans (Overseas Borrowings) (No. 2) Act 18/t similar terms,
although one of the listed purposes for borrowing is "thehase of equity in
companies" and the limit for the sum borrowed "shall be such that the total value of
overseas commercial debt which will be owed by the State after any borrowing shall not
exceed 125% of the estimated internal revenue for the year ih Wedorrowing takes
place except only as a result of any bridge financing and subject to Subsection 2(b)": see
section 2(3).

17.21 Section 2(8) requires the Minister to cause a copy of the loan agreement to be laid before
the Parliament for its informatidifa]s soon as practicable after the execution of a loan
agreement".

17.22 TheLoans (Overseas Borrowings) (No. 2) Act 1appears to have been enacted because
the view was taken that the borrowing authority inltbans (Overseas Borrowings) Act
1973had beenxhaustedalthough the 1973 Act continues in faléé

17.23 Sections 35 and 36 of tlRublic Finances (Management) Act 198%® also relevant and

provide as follows:

35. Restrictions on borrowing

126 Statement of David Crichton Frecker dated 29 January 2022 [21], Exhibit EEER143.0001.0001
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(1) The State may not borrow money except under andaardance with an Act of
the Parliament.

(2) Moneys borrowed under Subsection (1) from whatever sources shall not exceed
the limit provided for by the Central Banking Act 2000.

(3)  All debt charges for which the State is liable in respect of loan meheajisbe

charged on the Consolidated Revenue Fund.
36. Advances and overdrafts
(1) The Minister may, for and on behalf of the State, borrow moneys
(@ from such domestic and external sources; and
(b)  on such terms and conditions,

as the Head dbtate, acting on advice, approves, in order to meet temporary deficiencies

in revenue in a fiscal year.

(2) Moneys borrowed under Subsection (1) from whatever sources shall not exceed
the limit provided for by the Central Banking Act 2000.

(3) The princpal and interest on moneys borrowed under Subsection (1) shall be

charged to the Consolidated Revenue Fund and are payable from the Fund.

17.24 The limit provided for in th&€€entral Banking Act 2008 K100,000,000.00 (or such other
adjusted amount as agreedtbg Governor and National Executive Council from time to
time and published in the National Gazette for the sole purpose of taking into account

movements in the general level of prices in Papua New Guinea): see section 55(4)(a).
17.25 There has been limited jioibl consideration of s 209.

17.26 In Mairi v Tololo, Secretary for Educatidi976] PGSC 9; [1976] PNGLR 125 (15 April
1976) there was a challenge to the imposition of a fee of K400 per pupil for students
attending multiracial schools in theandependenState In the course of determining that
there was no power to impose the fee undeEthecation Act 1970ijt was held, in the
context of examining section 209 of tBenstitution that "[t]o render imposition of tax

for the raising of revenue constitutiongde statutory grant of power must be clear and
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unambiguous and the circumstances bringing it into operation sufficiently clear" (Prentice
DCJ and Williams J) and that section 209 required "clear authorization by Parliament"
(Frost CJ).

17.27 Papua New Guinea Fest Industries Association Inc v Tomuri¢2817] PGSC 24,
SC1601 (1 September 2017) was a proceeding concerning the validity of section 121 of
theForestry Act 1991 The Supreme Court held: "The vesting of wide and ambiguous
taxation powers on the Exaitve to make decisions on essentials of the imposition of
taxation in the form of a | eQopsttotibrallf he t vy
justified”. Rather, section 209 of ti@®nstitutionrequired "the essentials of imposition
of taxation to baletermined by an Act of the Parliament”. However, the Court also held
that section 209(1) of théonstitutiondid, in principle, permit a statute to authorise a
revenue system outside of the National Budget framework found in section 209(2).

17.28 Then Treasurypecretary, Mr Vele, statad evidencdhat: "The process for loans from
the private sector is tHebans (Overseas Borrowing No 2) Act 197&nd that "[a]ll types
of Loans must also have Section 209 of@mastitutionauthorisation by way of the
budgeary process?’ Further, where a loan is negotiated, executed and drawn down in
the same year, the authorisation for the purposes of section 209 is obtained by way of a
supplementary budgét®

17.29 Mr Vele said that the Parliament did not need to approve B tthnsaction before it
was entered into. Significantlir Vele conducted an analysis of 288 external loans to
the State and could not find one in which the loan terms and conditions were approved
prior to its execution We submit that none was of the consequence or size of the UBS
Loan.Mr Vele considered that loans could be executed and then subsequently approved
in the following National Budget®

17.30 Mr Vele stated that in 2014 he followed the advice of Ashurst and NBdea that the

"mechanics" of section 209 were contained inltbans (Overseas Borrowings) (No. 2)

127 Affidavit of Dairi Vele sworn 5 August 2021 [5{b8], Exhibit MMM, WIT.0014.0015.0012
128 Affidavit of Dairi Vele sworn 5 August 2021 [6]F8], Exhibit MMM, WIT.0014.0015.0012
129 Transcript, Dairi Vele, 24 June 2021, p 1908
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Act 1976and that by fulfilling the requirements of this statute the requirements of section
209 were also complied witi°® He said he followed the advicé the State Solicitor of 5
March 2014 that Parliamentary approval could be obtained through the budgetary process

and that such approval could be given after the relevant NEC detsion.

1731The State Solicitor 0sthexase dl@neariesaie Jugporrok d s p

the proposition that statutes for the purposes of section 209 should not seek to restrict the

exercise of overall financial control by Parliament. In the State Solicitor's’¥ew:

The Act(s) of Parliament referred to in Section 2€8spribe in detail the requirements

and processes for revenue generation activities or expenditure within the broad limits set
by Parliament for any given year. These Acts of Parliament include inter alia: the Public
Finance (Management) Act 1995 (PFWIie Loans (Overseas Borrowings) Act

Chapter 133 (Loans Act), and the National Procurement Act 2018 (NPA), and are applied
depending on the aspect of Section 209 which it regulates.

€ The Loans Act is the princi pasesoffSectiono f

209(1) regarding the obtaining of | oansée

In summary, the Parliament sets the parameters for the activities of the Executive by
passing Acts of Parliaments to regulate activities prescribed under Section 209, through
legislation such as thieoans Act. The Parliament further exercises continuous control
and authorization by scrutinizing annual budget submissions and by passing annual
Appropriation Acts, whereby it sets ceilings on certain revenue generation activities and

expenditure.

17.32 The Stag¢ Solicitor further stated in oral evidence that "borrowing or the expenditure by

the State must first be approved and authorized by parliament and then it can be processe
through the legislation'®® The State Solicitonoted that section 4 of the@ans
(Overseas Borrowings) (No. 2) Act 19w%¢hich provides "All payments of principal and

130

131

132

133

Affidavit of Dairi Vele sworn 26 April 2021 [559]560], Exhibit PPWIT.0014.0007.0001

Affidavit of Dairi Vele sworn 26 April 2021 [563], Exhibit PRYIT.0014.0007.0001

Statement of Daniel Rolpagarea dated 28 July 20213 {bR[7], Exhibit 00.2,WIT.0019.0005.0003
Transcript, Daniel Rolpagarea, 23 June 2021, p 1823
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interest and other charges payable under a loan agreement shall be made out of the
Consolidated Revenue Fund", indicated that even if a loan was effected under tteat statu

it still had to be reflected in the Budget procE$s.

17.33 In relation to the possibility of retrospective approval, the State Solicitor's view was that
"Outside of Section 212, | am of the view that prior parliamentary approval is mandatory

for all matters concerning revenue raising and expenditdte.”

17.34 In relation to the UBS transaction, the State Solicitor's view was that it "ought to have
been preapproved by Parliament during the 2014 budgetary process" and that the
requirements of section 209 veemot complied witH2®

17.35 Dr Kalinoe, the Secretary for Justice, agreed with the State Solicitor's approach and
interpretation of the law, specifically including the State Solicitor's advice of 27 March
2014137

17.36 Former AttorneyGeneral the HoourableKerenga Kia noted that s 209 of the
Constitutionb egi ns wi t h the phrase fA nConstiutiondn st an
el sewhereodo, which he tLoank(OverseasrBerawings) N@a2t —w
Act 1976states, th€onstitutionoverrides and prevail*® He considered that the
"minimum requirement of section 209 é is

[ @a] particular | oan é done by a | aw made

done and brought to the parliament for appro¥&"Mr Kua's view was that

retrospective approval pursuant to section 212 oCihrestitutionwas possible in limited

circumstances, not including borrowings or revenue raising for the purposes of

commercial investment purposgs.

134 Transcript, Daniel Rolpagarea, 23 June 2021, p 1824

135 Statement of Daniel Rolpagarea dated 28 July 2021 Ebiibit 00.2,WIT.0019.0005.0003

136 Statement of Daniel Rolpagarea dated 28 July 2021[18] Exhibit 00.2,WIT.0019.0005.0003
137 5.05.14 Dr Lawrence Kalinoe_Brief Attorney General.pafi1.0019.0002.0506

138 Transcript, Kerenga Kua, 18 June 2021, p 1512

139 Transcript, Kerenga Kua, 2 August 2021, p 2522

140 Transcript, Kerenga Kua, 2 August 2021, p 252
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17.37 Mr Kua considered that skon 209hadbeen breached in the context of the UBS
transaction. His view was that if the State wanted to proceed with the UBS loan, it should
have brought a bill urgently before the parliament and sought parliamentary approval,
irrespective of the urgey of the transaction (and that the urgency of the transaction did
not allow the State to bypass constitutional and statutory procedures). This may have

involved the urgent recalling of Parliaméft.

17.38 Other witnesses also gave their views as to whether the UBS transaction complied with
section 209 of th€onstitution Prime Minister Marape stated that in 2013 there should
have been an indication to the Parliament as to the transaction which wasrtim occu
201412

17.39 Mr Pruaitci*3and Mr Yauieb** were of the view that section 209 was not complied
with.

17.40 Mr Lupari said that retrospective Parliamentary approval was pos$ible.

17.41 Mr O'Neill considered that the UBS transaction was an investment and theliefoe
fall within the scope of section 26 Mr O6 Nei | | 6s vi ew was th

expenditure by State Owned Entities were not required to be approved by Parlfdment.

Our submissions on statutory and constiitional construction

17.42 The key provisions s 209(1) which states:

Notwithstanding anything in thiSonstitution the raising and expenditure of finance by

the National Government, including the imposition of taxation and the raising of loans, is

141 Transcript, Kerenga Kua, 18 June 2021, pp 15318

142 Transcript, James Marape, 21 June 2021, p 1643

143 Affidavit of Patrick Pruaitch sworn 28 June 2021, ppl#3[75}77], Exhibit ZZ, WIT.0028.0003.0002
144 Statement of Anthony Yauieb dated 28 July 20211pA5 [47}[59], Exhibit BBB, WIT.0104.0002.0239
145 Transcript, Isaac Wwpari, 2 August 2021, p 2506

146 Transcript, Peter O'Neill, 17 June 2021, p 1493

147 Transcript, Peter O'Neill, 17 June 2021, p 1494
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subject to authorization and control by the Panfient, and shall be regulated by an Act
of the Parliament.

17.43 It will be noticed that:

(@ Section209 (1) i s a pr oNotwghstandinganythigimthsp pl i e

Constitutio ;

(b) 1t c o theraising and éxpenditure of finance by the Natidavernment,

including the imposition of taxation and the raising of laans;

(c) I't provi des t subjdacttcsautiootizatiancand contrdl by the s 6
Parliamenband mandat es shalkbereqlatediby amAdt dfthe s 6

Parliamenbd .

17.44 We respctfully adopt the approadb constructiorenunciated inhe statement and
evidence to you by theery experience®apuaNew Guineaand Australian lawyer,

David Freckeras follows:

(@) section 209 of th€onstitutionis a general statement of constitutiopahciple
about the supremacy of Parliament in all matters pertaining to taxation and the
control of public finances

(b) it must be balanced with the function of the executive government to manage
finances in a responsible manner (see section24.0).

(c) no additonal authorisation by Parliament is required if there is to be a new loan
which is authorised by and under an existing Act of Parliament, and similarly a
specific loan is not required to be included in org@peroved by the National
Budget prepared foragh fiscal yeat?® (He was only aware of one instance where
the Parliament had passed a specific Act to authorise a specific loan, being the

148 Statement of David Crichton Frecker dated 29 January 2022, p 3 [14], ExhibiVED,143.0001.0001
149 Statement of David Crichton Frecker dated 29 January 2022, p 5 [17], ExhibitEEBD143.0001.0001
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(d)

(e)

(f)

Loans Act 201vhich gave authority for the State to borrow an amount to fund its
participation in the PNG LNG Pregt1>

the State has the power under section 209(1) o dmstitutionto raise loans and
that power can be exercised in the manner set out inodres (Overseas
Borrowings) (No. 2) Act 1976@vhich provide for matters required for carrying
out and giving effect tg 209 That is, thd_.oans (Overseas Borrowings) (No. 2)
Act 1976was an "Act of the Parliament" within the meaning of the phrase
"regulated by an Act of the Parliament" in section 208(4Jhis Act deals

specifically with borrowing from overseas commercial institutits.

the UBS transaction wabusvalidly entered intdoy the State under thevans
(Overseas Borrowings) (No. 2) Act 1978

the requirement in the Act for the relevant loan age@s to be laid before
Parliament "as soon as practicable after execution" (see section 2(8)) meant that
the loan agreements were required to be laid before Parliament without
"unreasonable delay®* He considered that, in circumstances in which Parli@me

had sat for more than a couple of days in a period from March to November, a

delay over this period in laying documents before Parliament would not be
consistent with section 2(8) of theans (Overseas Borrowings) (No. 2) Act
1976°°[However, we wouldadd, this may breackection 2(8but it could hardly
retrospectivelynvalidate the loanif there is a remedy for breach of the tabling

requirement iapparenthjies in parliamentary scrutify

150

151

Transcript, David Frecker, 2 February 2022, p 3567
Statement of David Crichton Frecker dated 29 January 2022, p 6 [27], ExhibiVEEB143.0001.0001

Transcript, David Frecker, 2 February 2022, p 38812

152

153

154

155

Transcript, David Frecker, 2 February 2022, p 3567

Statement of David Crichton Frecker dated 29 January 2022, p 6 [25], ExhibitMED143.0001.0001
Statement of David Crichton Frecker dated 29 January 2022, p 6 [25], ExhibitHED143.0001.0001
Transcript, David Frecker, 2 February 2022, p&56
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17.45 Mr Freckeralsonoted that th€onstitutiondoes not specifically require a referral of a
loan of significance to the Public Accounts Committee (whose function is to review
matters of public finance}®® and hewas not aware of any instances where the Public

Accounts Committee has had loans refdno it,nor held public hearings’

17.46 The view Mr Frecker enunciates and which we adopt also corresponds with almost

invariable State practice since Independence.

17.47 In our submission you can thus conclude that in your (necessartgindimg) opinion, s
209 was not breached in relation to the UBS Loldowever, it is submitted that you
should make recommendations designed to ensure that there be greater legal procedural
safeguards, including the statutory amendment to require both State Solicitor and
Attorney-General confirmation as to ti@onstitutioral and statutory validity of a

commercial loan over a specified monetary threshold

17.48 The other matter of specific recommendation concerns the easy avoidance of the statutory
borrowing limits on the State by wating the UBS loan to Kumul Petroleum prior to the

next budget: we recommend amendments to avoid augeace
17.49 We nowturn tosomefactual questions.

How was the process commenced?

17.50 The process of obtaining a loan from UBS to acquire new Oil Searcls sttamenenced
on 21 February 2014 On that datéVir Vele met withMr Bottenand MrAopi in Sydney
Mr Vele saidthatthe State expeeidto received funding from UBS for the purchase of

156 Statement of David Crichton Frecker dated 29 January 2022680ibit EEE,WIT.0143.0001.0001
157 Transcript, David Frecker, 2 February 2022, p@56
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Oil Search share'$® On 22 February 2014 MFurner sehMr Vele a briefing paper for
meeting withPrime MinisterO'Neill andthe subsequent meeting wiir Botten!®®

17.51 On 23 February 2014, Prime Minister O'NaildMr Vele met with Mr Botterand Mr
Aopi in Port Moresby. At this meeting Mr O'Neilhisl that the Stag wished to retain at
least a 10% shareholding in Oil Search, and asked if Oil Search would issue shares to the
State as a placement, as part of Oil Search's capital raising to fund its acquisition of an
interest in PRELS.

How was UBS selected?

17.52 UBS appeas to have been selected by Mr Vele and Prime Minister O'Neill as the
financier for the purchase of new Oil Search shares as it had been chosen as the preferre

financier for refinancing the IPIC Exchangeable B&#d.

17.53 On 27 February 2014, Prime Minister ReBENeill wrote toUBS AG to advise that the
commercial terms proposed by UBS were "expected to be acceptable to the State" but

were subject to an approval procé¥s

17.54 On the same dat®©il Search announced the ASX hat, subject to approvals, the State
would purchase 149 million new shares at AUD 8.20, for a total of AUD 1,225 million.
Once this purchase was complete, the State would have a 10.1% shareholding in O
Search'®?

158 See, e.g.Statement of Peter Botten dated 14 June 2021, Exhib17J0021.0003.0001Email A Latimer to D
Vele, 22 February 2014, Re: PM briefing pap¢iRF.001.001.5052

159 Email M Turner to D Vele, 22 February 2014, Re: PM briefing papRF.001.001.5054attaching
NRF.001.001.5055

160 Affidavit of Dairi Vele dated 26 April 2021, p 42 [280], p 43 [284], Exhibit RRT.0014.0012.0011

161 p O'Neill letter to UBS, 27 February 20148S.0001.0001.0029

162 0jl Search ASX Announcement, 27 February 20848H.002.008.6760
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17.55 Mr Vele also issued a press reledSe.

What process was utilsed?

17.56 No formal process was utilised.

What were the terms of the loan?

17.57 The UBS Loan comprised two interdependent loans:

(@)
(b)

the 'Collar Loan'; and

the 'Bridge Loan'.

17.58 The Collar Loan was for an amount of AUD 1.011 billion, being AUD 904.56 million for

the purchasef the Oil Search shares and approximately AUD 106 million for interest.

17.59 lts terms included:

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(€)

(f)

a term of two years;

a stated interest rate of 4.95%. However, all of the interest was paid up front rather
than over the life of the loan, which was equivaters.3% every 12 months in

arrears;

the State providing sufficient security for the AUD 1.011 billion (in Oil Search
shares and putptiors);

UBS providing the State with 137 million put options (one per share) with an
average strike price of AUD 7.38 parare;

the State providing UBS with 137 million call options with an average strike price
of AUD 10.00 per share.

UBS was given title to the shares held as collateral as part of their hedging

programme but the parties shared dividends in agreed amounts.

163 press Release, 27 February 20447.0064.0002.0370
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17.60 The Bridge Loan was for an amount of AUBS3million and was used to pay AUD 14.6
million in fees and expenses and to purchase 39.1 million Oil Search Sa@fthese
shares, 12.4 million were used as collateral for the bridge [Bla@.remainder were

collateral under the collar loan
17.61 Its terms included®®

@ an initial term of 6 months, but coul

further 6 months;

(b) aninitial interest rate spread of 5.5% over BBSY, increasing to 6.5% after 3

months, then to 7.5%fter 6 months and finally to 9.5% after 9 months;

(c) an establishment fee of 2% (of the total amount available to be borrowed), and an

extension fee of 1.5% (of the amount then borrowed).
17.62 The Brattle Group summarised the UBS Loan as foll\Ws:

(@ theeffectot he opti ons was t ha OilSedrobshatetpace e 6 s
was limited for the shares covered by the options (about 92%). Up to the expiry of
the options (two years), if the share
exposure on thehares covered by the options was AUD 0.82 per share, and the
Statebdébs maxi mum upside if the share p
share These sums are the difference between the average put option strike price
and the average call option striggce and the price at which the State acquired

the shares

(b)  the Independent State was fully exposed to share price movements on the

remaining 8%.

164 payment Direction Deed, clauselZBS.0001.0001.06Q8Brattle Group, p 50 [146WVIT.0132.0001.0002

165 Brattle Group, p 50 [148] [149], WIT.0132.0001.0002

166 Brattle Report, p 7 [20WIT.0132.0001.0002
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(c) the State pledged all of its Oil Search shares as security for the money it borrowed
from UBS;

(d) as aresultfathe hedging in the collar, UBS had reduced exposure to Papua New
Guinea credit risk: even if the Oil Search share price fell, thegitdns in the
collar loanwould most ofthe total principal outstanding under both loans to be

repaid.

What processedave been utilised in the past to obtain loans?

17.63 Mr Vele gave evidence before the Commission that there "are essentially two types of
foreign loans being firstly loans from multilateral partners and secondly loans from the

private sector®’

17.64 The processdr obtaining loans from multilateral partners is governed by tiaas and
Assistance (International Agencies) Act 19whereas the process for obtaining loans
from the private sector is governed by tiumns (Overseas Borrowing No 2) Act 1976.

17.65 This legislation regulates the process for obtaining the respective loans, not the
authorisation of expenditur@uthorisation is governed by s209 of fhenstitution

17.66 Mr Vele provided the below outline of the ordinary process for obtaining a foreign loan:

(&)  Treasury together with Department of National PlanniigF) identifies funding

need;
(b)  Treasury and DNP then seek approval to negotiate loans from the Treasurer;
(c)  the Treasurer then sponsors an NEC submission for approval by NEC;
(d)  Treasury together witthe Office of the State Solicitor then negotiates the funding;

(e) theloan is executed in accordance with the provisions of the governing legislation;

167 Affidavit of Dairi Vele dated 5 August 202¥1T.0014.0016.0012t 0022, [55]Exhibit MMM.

168 Affidavit of Dairi Vele dated 5 August 202%/IT.0014.0016.0012t 0022, [56] [57], Exhibit MMM.
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)] the loan is tabled before Parliament as soon as practicable following execution;
and

(g) aprovision ignade in the Budget papers for the loan and expenditure for the year
in which it is intended to be usét?.

17.67 As evidence of this process, Mr Vele provided a table summarising some 30 project loans
obtained by the State from the previous 10 y&&rEhe examfes provided by Mr Vele
were "multilateral partner" loans administered and therefore not comparable to the UBS

Loan which was a loan between the State and a private commercial €ntity.

17.68 It is submitted that in these circumstances, little weight can lem govMr Vele's
evidence on processes followed for prior loans as none were governed_bprise
(Overseas Borrowings No 2) Act 1976

17.69 The Commission also received evidence from Mr John Leahy whose then firm, Leahy
Lewin Lowing & Sullivan, was engaged poovide advice on Papua New Guinea law to

IPIC in the IPIC Exchangeable Bond transaction.

17.70 Mr Leahy gave evidence that he was "generally uncomfortable with relying on the
Overseas Borrowings Legislation” for the purposes of satisfying the requireme2@®of s
of theConstitution'?

17.71 Accordingly, theLiquefied Natural Gas Project (State Participation) Act 20e&
drafted and laid before Parliament. This legislation was drafted specifically to authorise

the IPIC Exchangeable Bond transaction and accordisgtyout key elements of that

169 Affidavit of Dairi Vele dated 5 Augus2021,WIT.0014.0016.0012t 00220023, [60]i [65], Exhibit MMM.

170 Affid avit of Dairi Vele dated 5 August 2020/1T.0014.0016.0012t 0130, Anngure DV-18, Exhibit MMM.

71 Transcript 12 August 2021, TS3203-2206.12 (XXN of Hon Don Polye MP by Ms Twivdyonggorr).

172itness Statement of John Edmund Leahy dated 2 February\2022144.0001.000at 0004, [22].
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18.

18.1

18.2

18.3

transaction such as a nominee of the State acquiring an interest in the PNG LNG

Project!’®

TORs 1(n) and (0) The rationale as to why the State determined to buy shares in Oil
Search in 2014 and when the decision was madeporchase the Oil Search shares

It is convenient to consider Term of Reference- {ihe rationale as to why the State
determined to buy shares in Oil Search in 2014, and Term of Referenaeh@) the

decision was made to purchase the Oil Search shtogsther.

Mr Botten gave evidnce in his Further Statement dated 27 January 2022 that "[d]uring
most of 2011 and early 2012 the PNG Government and PNG Petroleum Minister publicly
admonished InterQil for its recalcitrance in moving the PBldevelopment ahead" and

that "given the impdance of PRELS and the PNG Government's concerns about the lack
of progress, there would have been many discussions between representatives of Oil
Search and representatives of the PNG Government about PRL 15 prior to 22 February
2014174

This evidencesd largely uncontested, except by Mr O'Neill, who gave evidence (which we
say cannot be accepted) that he had no knowledge of Oil Search's intention to purchase
an interest in PR{15 until 20147

Q: But your evidence remains that you simply did not kaloout what Oil Search were
going to do with the UBS loan monies which purchased the Oil Search shaies and
particular you did not know about it that they were going to buy an interest in the Elk

Antelopé
A: Quite frankly | was a bit disappointed thaistinformation did not come to

government 6s notice or particularly at |

173 Witness Statement of John Edmund Ledhted 2 February 2022/1T.0144.0001.000At 0004, [23] [25].

174 Further Statement of Peter Botten, 27 January 2022, page 9H20021.00060001

75 Transcript, Peter O'Neill, 17 June 2021, p.1468; Transcript, Peter O'Neill, 7 February 2022, p. 3765.
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the lower levels but if | had known that this was a transaction being discussed on the
sides it would have been a different conversati§i@mphasis added)

18.4 In mid-2012, Oil Search and Total decided to make a joint bid to acquire an interest in
PRL-15177

18.5 During the period from 2012 to 2014, Oil Search "engaged in negotiations with several
parties, including InterOil and the Pac LNG comeanconcerning a possible acquisition
of an interest in PRL 158 This period commenced with a joint bid by Oil Search and
Total, made on 17 August 2012 to January 2014 when the negotiations between
InterQil and Oil Search stalled as a result of Inter@@isting on "increased consideration

terms"180

18.6 Throughout 2012 and 2013 the NEC approved several decisions authorising various
representatives of the State to negotiate the refinancing of the IPIC Exchangeable Bonds.
None of these NEC Decisions proposed or contemplated a new or additional purchase of
Oil Search share$®' Mr O'Neill in his appearance before the Commission indicated that
the NEC Decisions were very clear and were aimed at retaimen@il Searclshares held
by IPIC under the Exchangeable Bongfs.

18.7 However, evidence before the Commissiaticates that an emarket purchase of Oil
Search shares was being contemplated as early as 8 August 2013. The Background Note

prepared by then Acting Secretary of Treasury Mr Vele and Mr Mortensen for

176 Transcript, Peter O'Neill February 2022p. 3765.

Y7 Further Statement of Peter Botten, 27 January 2022, pagei T4@KI51]i [52] WIT.0021.0006.0001

178 Further Statement of Peter Botten, 27 January 2022, pidé WIT.0021.0006.0001

179 Further Statement of Peter Botten, 27 Jan@a22, page 9 [55](a)I1T.0021.0006.0001

180 Fyrther Statement of PetBotten, 27 January 2022, page 9 [55] (B)WIT.0021.0006.0001

181 NEC Decision NG 63/2012VIT.0016.0001.0316NEC Decision 117/2013)VIT.0016.0001.033INEC
Decision 241 of 2013/VIT.0016.0001.0394

182 Transcript, Peter O'Neill, 9 August 2021, pp.2@B.7; Transcript, Peter O'Neill, 9 August 2021, p.2914.
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18.8

18.9

prospective financial advisors / financiers as pathe IPICExchangeable bonds
refinancing identified one of the key priorities of the State as:

Securing a State Equity position in Oil Search after the maturity date of the
Exchangeable Bonds of somewhere between 10.1% and 19.99% of the total issuec

captal of Oil Search.
This can most obviously be achieved in one of two ways:

1 Securing agreement with IPIC in respect of the repurchasing of all or part
of the Exchangeable Bonds; or
1 By making onmarket acquisition of Oil Search shares during the period

leading up to Bond maturityjemphasis added by us in bold]

On 13 August 2013, Mr Ben O'Dwyer of Backwieimbard Capital together with his
lawyer met with Messrs Vele, Mortensen and Latimer at the NRFA offices in Sydney.
During this meeting Mr Vele is reported to have said that he and Mr Mortensen were of
the opinion that buying new shares on market woulddtter than refinancing the IPIC

Exchangeable bond&®

On 23 September 2013, an internal Oil Search email, later sent by Mr Botten to the Oil
Search Board, also drew attention to a shift in thinking taking place in the State. Mr
Botten then went on to gdhat Mr Velehad é openly canvassed t he
support an acquisition by Oil Search of an interest in Elk Antelope for the issuance of
shares to the Statelhd that thiSwould be preferable to the State rather than necessarily
dealing with IPIC"8* There is no reason why this contemporaneous record should not be

accepted.

183 Statement of Mr Ben O'Dwyer dated 10 February 202,.0155.0009.0592t.0608 [107(h)];
Contemporaneous file note of meeting between Mr Ben O'Dwyer and Messrs Vele, Mortensen and Latimer
WIT.0155.0002.005@t 0051.

184 Draft email prepared by Diana Danielson on behalf of Peter Bottelatandtirculated to Oil Search Board, 23
September 2013)SL.0007.0001.190.
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18.10 Dr Waine, in his supplementary statement to the Commission also recounted that:

"In or around September 2013, | attended the offices of Pertusio Capital Partners
(Pertusio Capital) to meet with Mr Lars Mortensen. Mr Mortensen had invited me there

to discuss a proposed purchase of new Oil Search shares. This was the first time | becam
aware that a purchase of new Oil Search shares was being considered. At this meeting
Mr Mortensen provided me with a report he had prepared regarding this proposed

purchase.¥8®

18.11 Mr Vele denies this allegation, but has instead indicated he was exploring all options
available to the Staf€®But Mr Vele was unable to explain why a number of witngsse
before the Commission provided contemporaneous evidence contradicting his own

version of eventdn our submission his recollection on this is incorrect.

18.12 Further, n his statement dated 8 February 2022, Mr Kumarasiri gave evidence that "on
multiple occaions Dr Waine and Mr Sonk raised the possibility of Oil Search issuing

new shares for the Independent State to purchH&se."

Oil Search acquisition of EIkAntelope and associated financing

18.13 Between September 2013 and February 2014, as we outlined earlier, a number of parallel
processes were taking place in an effort to refinance the IPIC Exchangeable Bonds.

18.14 The Commission has received evidence that in November 2013, Oil Search engaged
Goldman Sachs to consider financing the potential acquisition of-PRLThree options

were identified*88

(@) the acquisition of the PAC LNG companies; or

185 Supplementary Statement of Dr Clement Waine dated 11 February\@0R2039.0007.000&t 0003, [30].

186 Transcript, Dairi Vele, 11 August 2021, p.2999; Transcript, Dairi Vele, 11 August 2021, p.3018.

187 Statement of Bamanu Arachchige Wasantha Kumarasiri, 8 February 2022, pag@VBT[®8}55.0002.000.1

188 Further Statement of Peter Botten, 27 January 2022, page 10 [H€) (&) T.0021.0006.000]1see also
Statement of Peter Botten, 14 June 2021, page 3§28]J0021.0003.0001

Pagel00

ME_195780697_5


file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/WIT.0039.0007.0001.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/WIT.0055.0002.0001.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/WIT.0021.0006.0001.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/WIT.0021.0003.0001.pdf

(b)  a backto-back agreement with InterQOil whereby Inter@buld purchase the PAC
LNG companies and then sell to Oil Search part of the PAC LNG companies'
interest in PRL 15; or

(c)  partnering with ExxonMobil or Total to acquire InterQil's inter&st.

18.15 From 3 January 2014 to 8 January 2014, internal Oil Search ehsailbuted copies of a
document titled "1312xx Purchase of interest in PRL15 TOTAL v21 OSL
Proposed.docx". This is a draft press release titled "Oil Search to Acquire 19.35% Interest
in PRL 15 (Elk/Antelope)" was dated December 2013. The three copiais dbcument
which were distributed each state under 'Acquisition Financing':

"Oil Search intends to fund the acquisition and associated future commitments
with existing available liquidity. A neWSOX]m shortterm debt facility has been
arranged to fundhe acquisition costs. The Company is evaluating options to
refinance this facility in the future, including the potential for an equity offering. If
an equity offering is undertaken, it
renounceable entitleemt offer to all shareholdersg?®

18.16 On 29 January 2014, an internal Oil Search email sent to Oil Search's Board of Directors
attached a board pack titled ' 14022%roject Heronrr Draft Valuation Impact Final &
Cover Note'. The Board Pack, dated 29 Jan@ad 4, states under "Project Heron
Financial Assumptions" th&UD900m would be raised by a placement with share price
set atAUDB8.20 per share, but no longer mentions Oil Search taking on its owrtestmort

debt facility to fund the acquisitiofi*

18.17 Thislatter document demonstrates a shift from Oil Search's view in December 2013/early
January 2014 that the PRI5 acquisition would be funded by Oil Search taking on its

189 Further Statement of Peter Botten, 27 January 202 pa [57] (ai)(c) WIT.0021.0006.0001

19009SL.0019.0003.77970SL.0019.0003.7808SL.0019.0003.7933DSL.0019.0003.7944
0OSL.0019.0003.8974

191 9SL.0002.0011.11420SL.0002.0011.1145
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own shoriterm debt facility, to a view that the acquisition would be funded entirety by
share placement. While the document does not name the prospective purchaser of the
shares, it is notable that the share price is s&U&t8.20/share, being the price which the

State specifically negotiated with Oil Search.

18.18 In February 2014, Oil Seareimd PAC LNG commenced negotiations during which Mr
Carlo Civelli said to Mr Botten "words to the effect that the Prime Minister [Mr O'Neill]
and PNG Government supported the transacfithiir Botten said this "was consistent
with conversation that [Mr Bégn] had with the Prime Minister [Mr O'Neill] in which
[Mr O'Neill] supported the engagement of Oil Search with the PAC LNG companies as a
means to address an impasse that had arisen between the PAC LNG companies and
InerQil as a result of a reluctance idn Civelli's part to sell the PAC LNG companies to

InterQil".193

18.19 Notwithstanding Mr Botten's evidence, Mr O'Neill's oral evidence was that he had no
knowledge of how Oil Search would use the funds received through the eventual share
placement to the Indepedent Staté® That evidence ofissertedgnorance by the former

Prime Minister should be rejected.

18.20 Mr O'Neill's evidence must be rejected in light of the contemporaneous Oil Search

documents already cited and the following:
(@) the State's own press reledsom 27 February 2014, which stated:

The State looks forward to maintaining a material shareholding in Oil Search with
a view to participating in the additional upside of Oil Search's existing projects
and the ElkAntelope project®®

192 Fyrther Statement of Peter Botten, 27 January 2022, page W[58)021.0006.0001

193 Further Statement of Peter Botten, 27 January 2022, page W/[58)021.0006.0001

194 Transcript, Peter Botten, 7 February 2022, 3764.

195 press Release by Secretafylreasury Vele, 27 February 20M]T.0064.0002.0370
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(b)  Oil Search's preselease from 27 February 2014, which discussed the share
placement and PRL 15 acquisition, and stated:

We are delighted to have reached an agreement with the PNG Government to
facilitate their continued investment in the Company. There remains strong
alignment between Oil Search and the PNG Government, with Oil Search
regarded as a key player in driving the future development of the country's

abundant gasesources®

(c)  Oil Search's press release from 12 M&0h4, which discussed the share

placement and PRL 15 acquisition, and stated:

We welcome the continuation of the Government shareholding in Oil Search,
underscoring our alignment with the State throughrtbet phase of oil and gas

development in Papua WeGuinea®®’

(d)  Mr O'Neill's public statement in 2017 that:

The Government's intervention to buy shares in Oil Search had a positive
influence in the direction Oil Search has taken and boosted investor confidence in

Papua New Guinea.

The Government and (Bearch have continued -@peration and mutual interests
across a range of activities in Papua New Guinea. Oil Search has an outstanding

reputation delivering for its shareholders, and has been an extremely responsible

196 Qil Search Rrss Release enclosing PNG Press Release, 27 February\d0100)64.00020369

197 0il Search Press Release confirming completion of share placement to PNG, 12 March 2014,
0OSL.0002.0005.5201
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corporate citizen, investing millienof Kina in social development programs that
help people around Papua New Guirtéa

(e) Mr O'Neill's statement in 2017 that the purpose of State's acquisition of new Oil
Search shares in 2014 was done "to secure our interest in the biggest employer anc

bi ggest taxpayer in our codhtry and p

Mandatory Exchange Notice and subsequent negotiations

18210n 13 Febrwuary 2014 1PIC issued the Mand
irrevocable election to exchange the ExchangeBobtels into Ordinary Sharé®’
Accordingly, the O'Neill Government was faced with the long foreshadowed reality that it
would shortly |l ose all of the Statebs Oi
merger of Orogen Minerals in 2002. Tleigentleddirectyt o t he UBS | oan.
justification for obtaining a large new Oil Search shareholdisgid to be strategic
remains unconvincing even given the evidence of those who spoke of the significant
position that Oil Search then held iretbyes of the people of Papua New Guinea. This
position is best summarised by Mr Botten in his further statement when he said:

The depth and magnitude of Oil Search's contribution over the years to PNG's economic
and social development, and its promotémd advocacy of PNG, has resulted in
longstanding relationships with local communities, landowners, businesses and

successive PNG Governmeffts.

198 pacific Islands ReporPNG PM Dismisses Claims Thahe Divesting Of Shares In Oil Search Limited Cost The
Gov A Major Loss'25 September 201WIT.0036.0006.0151

19 hitps://www.thenational.com.pg/poefendssharessale/

200 Mandatory Exchange Notice, 13 February 2028).0002.0007.2678

201 Further Statement dfeter Botterated 27 January 2022/T.0021.0006.0004t p.15 [92].
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18.22 Mr O'Neill in his appearance before the Commission also emphasised the important role
played by Oil Search ifilling gapswhere successive Governments were not able to

deliver services such as health care and education in remote comntdfities.

18.23 On 14 Felwary 2014, Mr Botten provided the Oil Search board of directors with an
update on the Independent State's progress in refinancing the IPIC Exchangeable Bonds.

In this email Mr Botten noted:

The Prime Minister has expressed a strong interest in remainshguaeholder of
OSH and is keenly interested in potentially receiving shares in any potential
capital raising carried out as part of an Elk Antelope transaction. This is
especially relevant if he is unable to buy back the shares from IPIC. He has the
financing to do this from UBS. He has been informed of the very low probability

of PNG being successful in any buy back from #fC.

18.24 Again, there is no reason why this contemporaneous note by Mr Botten should not be

accepted.

18.25 On 14 February 2014, Mr Jilek of $Bresponded to an email from Mr Botten of Oll

Search following the issuance of the mandatory exchange notice stating:

Thanks. | am inclined to encourage the government to engage nevertheless, to test
their desire to hold the entire blée

18.26 On 21 Februarg014, Mr Botten and Mr Aopi of Oil Search met with Mr Vele and then
Governor ofBank of Papua New Guinéai Bakani in Sydney. At this meeting Mr Vele

explained that the State was not able to refinance the IPIC Exchangeable Bonds and note

202 Transcript, Peter O'Neill, 17 June 2021, pp. 14445,

203 Email P Botten to K Constantinou, F Harris, G Aopi, A Kantsler, R Lee, B Philemon, K Spence and Z
Switkowski, IPIC Update, 14 February 203SL.0007.0001.0647

204Email P Jilek to P Botten, Re: Fwd: Update, 14 February 2084,0007.0001.0855
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the State wouldbe willing to fund the PR{15 purchase through an acquisition of new Oil
Search shares. Mr Vele stated that the State expected to receive funding from UBS AG.

18.27 In the days following this meeting Mr Vele would receive a number of emails from UBS
AG providng draft loan documentation for the proposed financing and a term*$heet.

18.28 On 23 February 2014, Mr Botten met with Prime Minister O'Neill, Mr Vele and Mr Aopi
in Port Moresby. At this meeting Mr O'Neill stated that the State wished to retain at least
a 10» shareholding in Oil Search, and asked if Oil Search would issue shares to the State
as a placement, as part of Oil Search's capital raising to fund its acquisition of an interest
in PRL-152%7

18.29 Mr Botten said that thAUD®8.20 share price was negotiated\yO'Neill in Port
Moresby on or around 23 February 2014:
At the time of the meeting | thought that the pricAldD8.20 per share was negotiable,
given that the market price at the time was substantially higherAkHp8.20 per share.
It subsequently baene clear that the Prime Minister and State were not going to move
from AUD8.20 per sharé®

18.30 Mr Botten's assertion that the State negotiated Oil Search downAtJb&.20 share

price necessarily implies one of two possible scenarios:

(@) that theAUD8.20share price was negotiated with the State by 29 January 2014

(hence why it appears in the Board Pack from same date); or

205 Statement oPeter Botterated 14 June 202%/I1T.0021.0003.0004t p 5, [5651].

206 Email M. Turner to D. Vele, Financing Authority Diligence, 22 February 208[RF.001.001.505%F mail M.
Turner to D. Vele, FW: Proposed scope of work for the Big 4 quote request, 22 FebruafR61801.001.5094
Email M. Turner to D. Vele, Bridge Facility Term Sheet, 23 February 20R4.001.001.5062Engagement Letter,
25 February 2014ASH.003.008.0001

207 Statement of Peter Botten dated 14 June 2041,0021.0003.0004t pages 56, [54]i [55].

208 Statement of Peter Botten, 14 June 2021, page 6456]0021.0003.0001
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(b)  that Oil Search were open to making the placemeAU#&8.20 per share from
January 2014 onward, and that the negotiations were amtopippto see if the

State would pay more than that amount.

18.31 On the morning of 25 February 2014, Mr Botten, Mr Aopi and Mr Vele met at the Grand

Papua Hotel. Mr Aopi gave evidence that:

To the best of my recollection, at that meeting | was told that Rvimister

O'Neill was maintaining his position that he wanted the State to take a placement
of Oil Search shares which would give it an interest of approximately 10% in Oil
Search, and that State would payD8.20 per sharé®

18.32 At 6:30pm on 25 February 201Mr Botten, Mr Aopi and Mr Vele met at the Grand
Papua Hotel. At this meeting Mr Vele reiterated that Mr O'Neill was maintaining the
position that the State wanted to acquire approximately 10% of Oil Search shares at
AUDS8.20 per sharé'°

18.33 On 26 Februarp014, Mr O'Neill sent a letter to Mr Botten formally expressing the
Independent State's interest in investing an amoufU®BF1.225 billion at a subscription
price of AUD8.20 per share before 10 March 2614.

18.34 On 27 February 2014, the State and Oil Semsined separate press relegset)e

release of which was coordinat&édconfirming:

(@) that Oil Search would be acquiring a 22.835% interest in-PRElk-Antelope;

209 Statement of Gerea Aopi dated 16 June 202/T..0059.0003.0004t p.3, [24];0SL.0017.0001.0043

210 Statement of Gerea Aopi dated 16 June 2892IT,.0059.0003.000 At pp.34, [25]; OSL.0017.0001.0043

2110SL..0001.0001.5671

212\WIT.0007.0005.0036WIT.0027.0001.0630

213NRF.001.001.5576&ttachingNRF.001.001.5578
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(b) that this acquisition would be funded through a placement of 149.39 million Oil
Search shas to the State; and

(c) noting the IPIC Exchangeable Bonds had been the subject of a Mandatory
Exchange Notice so that an exchange of the relevant Oil Search shares then held

by IPBC would occur as prescribed underBExehangeable bonds

NEC Decision

18.35 On 6March 2014, the NEC through NEC Decision 79/284#rmally approved:
(@) for the State to acquire 149,390,244 shares in Oil Search Limited,;

(b)  for the State to borro&kUD1.239 billion from UBS AG (Australia Branch),
initially comprising two facilities (a®\UD335 million bridge loan facility and an

AUD904 million collar loan facility); and

(c) for the State to engage UBS as its advisors on the financing and acquisition of Oil
Search shares.

This marked the formal decision by the Government of the day to eraehentUBS
Loan and purchase the Oil Search shares.

Findings

18.36 According to Mr O'Neill, the rationale for the State's purchase of Oil Search shares in
2014 was what he perceived to be the strategic alignment between the government and
one of PNG's oldest and largest companies with a broad presence throughout'the State
resources industry. He was adamant, too, that the purchase had nothing to do with PRL
15.

18.37 It is submitted that it is open to the Commission to reject the rationale put forward by Mr

O'Neill for the following reasons:

214NEC Decision 79/201%VIT.0016.0001.0610

Pagel08

ME_195780697_5


file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/WIT.0016.0001.0610.pdf

(@) The submission to the NEC on 6 MhAr2014 makes it clear that the NEC and
therefore Mr O'Neill who signed the submission, knew that Oil Search was buying

into PRL-15 and that this was how the State's funds were going to be used.

(b)  TheGovernment thought that the Oil Search share price ely lio rise and
noted that the share price had reacted positively to the news that Oil Search would

participate in PRELS.

(c) By December 2015, Mr O'Neill and the NEC had given broad authority to KPHL
to deal with the shares; this included selling them. @aimonstrates that by this
time, the government had no interest in remaining a long term shareholder in Oil
Search for all of the broader benefits that it had been thought that such a
shareholding would bring. It is easy to infer that the reason fohtirege of
position was because the real purpose of the share purchase had been completed,
namely providing the means of enabling the sale of the PAC LNG Companies to
Oil Search.

(d) If the State was intending to be a letegm shareholder at the 10% level, twid
be expected that it would seek a board position in order to have more influence
over, and knowledge concerning,company with which it sought strategic

alignment. This does not appear to even being considered.

18.38 It is therefore submitted that it is imgsible to disconnect the State's purchase of Oil
Search shares from Oil Search's acquisition of an interest illBRILeaving aside the
guestion of whether it is appropriate for the State to invest in listed companies, there is
nothing inherently wrongnithe State's finances being used in a way that promotes the
development of one of its resources. This is particularly so when the State would have
backin rights to take a stake in the resource in due course.

18.39 At T1470 on 17 June 2021 and again on T3385 February 2022, Mr O'Neill was
guestioned about what would have happened had he known that Oil Search were going tc
purchase an interest in PRL15 with the money provided by the Independent State in the
UBS Loan. At T1470, Mr O'Neill gave evidence thatwas:
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écertainly sure that it will be a dif
that that particular discussions going between Oil Search and Elk Antelope

partners, PNG government would have reviewed its position.

18.40 At T3765, Mr O'Neill furtherstated:

| would have negotiated with Oil Search, InterOil or EIk Antelope to buy their
shares in the PNG LNG Project because that project was ongoing. Combining
these two projects would have given us a better sizeable interest in the current
existing deviepment so it would have been a different transaction, we would have

had a different conversation but what has happened, has happened.

18.41 It would be expected thadr O'Neill as the then Prime Ministarould be fully
conversant with developments over RRh and be actively involved in trying to
accelerate the exploitation of the resource. Mr Vele was certainly aware of what was
going on.

18.42 In those circumstances, Mr O'Neill's attempts to distance himself fromlBRite
extraordinary and so unconvincing thatytlggve rise to the question of whether he might

be wishing to conceal something and if so, what. For example:

(@) AtT3761 on 7 February 2022, Mr O'Neill was referred to an email from Mr
Botten of 14 February 201©9EL.0007.0001.064%n which it was stated that

Prime MinisterO'Neill was keenly interested in potentially receiving shares in any

potential capital raising carried out as part of an/Aifitelope transaction. Mr

O'Neill said that there was absolutely no reason why "we" would want to be part of
that transactionWe say why not? And more to the point, this is exactly what the
State then did.

(b) At T3764, he said there was never any discussion about Oil Search using the
money to buy ElkAntelope yet the submission that he signed on 6 March 2014

expressly mentions this.

(c) Mr Maladina gave clear evidence that, despite Mr O'Neill's denials at T3763, he
had attended two meetings at which Mr O'Neill and Mr Carlos Civelli were

present and Mr O'Neill and Mr Civelli had private conversations at each. Ms
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Amputch's evidence denying shehould not be accepted given that she is a close
business associate of Mr O'Neill and telephoned him immediately after she
received th&Commission's summorend neone sought to challenge Mr Maladina

by crossexamination.

(d) At T4148, Mr Vele said that heould have discussed Oil Search's potential
acquisition into PREL5 with Mr O'Neill after the iHfated trip to Abu Dhabi in
February 2014. He believed that Mr O'Neill would already have been aware of
rumours about this as he himself had been. At T4bé9vas surprised that Mr

O'Neill said that he was not aware of the rumours.

18.43 It is submitted that balance of the evidence suggests that a significant driver of the
transaction, perhaps the dominant one, may have been to assist in ensuring that the PAC
LNG companies were bought out of PRB and Oil Search take over their interests in the

resource.

18.44 If the Commission were to accept Mr O'Neill's rationale, it would then be submitted that
the rationale does not stand scrutiny and was not clear or strong ¢adagghsed to

justify a loan of more than $1.2 billion that the State had no means to repay.

18.45 Brattle considered this in their first report. They took the view that a strategic investment
in relation to shares is one where the investor expects an addigtura over and above
the ordinary return that all investors irofeshares would receive through dividends and
share price appreciation. They then noted that the material that they had reviewed did
not explain how owning Oil Search shares would plewialue to Papua New Guinea
over and above any dividends and share price appreciation that the State might receive
(and which all other Oil Search shareholders would receive). Brattle concluded that a
significant objective for the Government was to berfedim dividends and/or a rising Oll
Search share pricH.the Government had a strategic investment objective, the documents
they reviewed did not explain why or how the proposed shareholding would influence Oil
Search behaviour to the benefit of PapgaW Gui ne a. Further, if
objective included holding more than 10% of the shares in Oil Searttteyastategdit
failed to maintain this holding after about a month of acquiring the shares.
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18.46 Further, there was no need for the State to sephrticipate indirectly in PNG resource
projects through holding shares@i Search when it had the means to have a direct

interest in the project through batkrights.

18.47 We submit that in relation to Term of Reference (0) it is open to the Commisediod t
that:

(@) by August 2013, parties acting on behalf of the State, including Mr Vele, were
considering an acquisition of new Oil Search shares and that Mr Vele in fact

preferred this option over the refinancing of the IPIC Exchangeable Bonds;

(b) adecisionalbeit unofficial) to issue a new placement of Oil Search shares had
been made before February 2014, and certainly before the Mandatory Exchange
Notice was issued on 14 February 2014;

(c) that the decision to purchase the Oil Search shares was made o@3®fEedruary
2014 or 27 February 20bkfore theNEC meeting on 6 March

19. TOR 1(p) The rationale as to why the State determined to utilize the UBS Loan to

purchase Oil Search shares

19.1 Between 2012 and January 2014, the State conducted a tender process with a number of
prospective financiers to refinance the IPIC Exchangeable Bonds. In August 2013, Mr
Vele flew to Sydney to meet with prospective financiers from amongst others JP Morgan,
Morgan Stanley and UBS.

19.2 On 16 August 2013, following those meetings Mr Latimer sent emails to the prospective
financiers to update them on next steps. Representatives from JP Morgan and Morgan
Stanley received identical emails noting that they could expeesponse within a
week?® Mr Jilek of UBS, on the other hand, received an email requesting a formal
engagement lettét®

215NRF.001.001.3693\RF.001.001.3694

216 NRF.001.001.3697
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19.3 On 22 August 2013, Mr Jilek wrote to Mr Latimer and advised that he had spoken with
Mr Vele who had'made it pretty clear that wera likely to be appointed formally

following his meeting with the PM?®’

19.4 As identified earlier, between August 2013 and December 2013 a number of parallel
processes considered proposals from potential financiers, including UBS, Citibank, ANZ

Barclays andHelmsleyCapital.

19.5 On 13 February 2014, IPIC issued the Mandatory Exchange Notice confirming it had
elected to exchange the Exchangeable Bonds for the State's ordinary shares in Oll
Searcl?!®

19.6 As noted earlier:

(@ on 14 February 2014, Mr Botten provided @i Search board of directors with
an update on the Independent State's progress in refinancing the IPIC

Exchangeable Bonds®

(b)  On 21 February 2014, Mr Botten and Mr Aopi of Oil Search met with Mr Vele and
then Governor of BPNG Loi Bakani in Sydney. At thigeting Mr Vele explained
that the State was not able to refinance the IPIC Exchangeable Bonds and noted
the State would be willing to fund the PRE purchase through an acquisition of
new Oil Search shares. Mr Vele stated that the State expectedive feceling
from UBS AG?2°

19.7 On 22 February 2014, Mr Vele received an email from Mr Mitchell Turner of UBS AG
advising that the Independent State could finance the acquisition of the Oil Search shares

by borrowing pursuant to tHepans (Overseas Borrowing@)o.2) Actutilising the

217NRF.001.001.3856

218 Mandatory Exchange Notice, 13 February 2028L.0002.0007.2678

21%Email P Botten to K Constantinou, F Harris, G Aopi, A Kantsler, R Lee, B Philemon, K Spence and Z
Switkowski, IPIC Update, 14 February 203SL.0007.0001.0647

220 Statement oPeter Botterated 14 June 202%I1T.0021.0003.0004t p § [50-51].
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authorised purpose of "purchasing equity in companies". The advice included a
requirement that the decision be ratified by a decision of the &}fEC.

19.8 On 23 February 2014, Mr Turner of UBS sent Mr Vele, Mr Mortensen and Mr Lasimer
briefing paper for the meeting with Mr O'Neill and subsequent meeting with Mr Botten.
UBS had drafted it in a way that could be used as a base for a subsequent NEC

submission. Mr Jilek was copied into the em#il.

19.9 On 23 February 2014, Mr Botten met wthen Prime Minister O'Neill, Mr Vele and Mr
Aopi in Port Moresby. At this meeting Mr O'Neill stated that the State wished to retain at
least a 10% shareholding in Oil Search, and asked if Oil Search would issue shares to the
State as a placement, as pdrOil Search's capital raising to fund its acquisition of an
interest in PRE15223

19.10 The Commission has heard evidence relating to the conduct of UBS during the IPIC

Exchangeable bondsfinancing tender process:

(@) circumventing the tender process by afitag IPICExchangeable bonds
transaction documertfd

(b)  of the tendering parties, they were the only ones who requested the independent
financial advisors to IPBC be excluded from the presentation of their refinancing
proposak?

(c)  objecting to the need fwarticipate in a tender proce’s;

221Email M. Turner to D. Vele, Financing Authority Diligence, 22 February 28(RF..001.001.5059

222NRF.001.001.5061

223 Statement oPeterBottendated 14 June 202%yI1T.0021.0003.0004t pages 55, [54]i [55].

224NEC Policy Submission draft (Kumarasiri/Waine); Email P Jilek to A Latimer, PNG, 22 August 2013,
NRF.001.001.3856

225 pffidavit of Igimu Momo dated 17 December 2024]T.0141.0001.0004t page 9, [64].

226 Affidavit of Igimu Momo dated 17 December 202%]T.0141.0001.000.1
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(d)  making threatening phone calls to the State's decision m&kars]

(e)  making threats to parties acting on behalf of the State that should UBS not be
selected "UBS will have to look at its other options in terms ofRh& Bond" and
that this "may not be a benefit for the Stef&".

Findings
19.11 Itis open to the Commission to find that:

(@) from 16 August 201parties acting on behalf of the State, including Mr Vele, Mr
Latimer and potentially Mr O'Neill, considered UBS totbe favoured financier
for the IPICExchangeable bondsfinancing;

(b) the State did not engage in a tender process to evaluate proposals from prospective
financiers in relation to the purchase of 149.39 million shares in Oil Search;

(c) UBS' threatening condtithroughout the tender process whilst not an overriding
consideration by parties acting on behalf of the State may have featured in the

decisionmaking process; and

(d) the State determined to use the UBS Loan to acquire the Oil Search shares becaus
UBS following the issuance of the Mandatory Exchange Notice encouraged parties
acting on behalf of the State to engage with Oil Search regardingraarket
purchase of shares.

20. TOR 1(q): Whether legal and administrative processes were followed to buy Oil
Searchshares in 2014.

20.1 Section 40(1) of th€ublic Finances (Management) Act 198NG) requires that tenders
must be publicly invited and contracts let for the purchase or disposal of property or
stores or the supply of works and services the estimated cmbiaf exceeds a
prescribed amount. However, section 40(3)(b) provides an exception to section 40(1),

227 Supplementary Statement of Dr Clement Waine dated 11 February\@0R.2039.0007.0004t page 4, [41].

228 Email C Waine to B O'Dwyer enclosing email chain, RE: IPIC, 21 October 20138,0155.0001.2525
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20.2

20.3

20.4

20.5

where a Supply and Tenders Board certifies that the inviting of tenders is impracticable or

inexpedient.

Section 117 of th@ublic Finances (ManagementiiAl995allows for the issuing of
Financial Instructions, not inconsistent with the Act, as to any matter prescribed by the
Act to be so provided for, or that are necessary or desirable for carrying out or giving
effect to the Act and in general for thettiee control and management of public moneys

and public property.

Financial Instruction 1A/05 ("Supply and Tenders Board Operations") are such Financial
Instructions. Clause 11.1 of this relevantly provides that a certificate of inexpediency
cannot be iased retrospectively to cover a contract already executed. Clause 11.2

provides that &ertificate of inexpediencwill only be issued in situations where a

declared natural disaster, defence emergency, health emergency, or situation of civil
unrest existsand procurement processes must be undertaken urgently to remedy the
situation. Clause 11.2 further provides that: "Lack of forward planning by departments is
no longer acceptable. Departments must now be planning their major procurements in a

timely manner".

Schedule 2, clause 3 of the UBS side Iéttand the Bridge Facility Agreemé#t

included as a condition precedent the issuing of a certificate of inexpediency.

On 6 March 2014, Mr Vele wrote to the Chairman of the Central Supply and Tenders
Board(CSTB), Mr Philip Eludeme requesting that the Chairman urgently consider and
approve the enclosed request for certificate of inexpediency to cover the advisory fees of
Pacific Legal Group and Pacific Capital Limited up to a limit of K9,000,000, abdBt®,
Ashurst, Norton Rose Fulbright and KPMG limited to AUD14,555,259.

229 NRF.001.003.5499

ZONRF.001.003.5690

231 etter D. Vele to P. Eludeme, Financial Accommodation for The Independent State of Papua New Guinea (the
State), 6 March 2014y1T7.0019.0002.0435
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20.6 The request for certificate of inexpediency was@formadocument. There was a
section titled "reason for certificate", which listed the four grounds in clause 11.2 of
Financial Irstruction 1A/05 as boxes to be ticked. However, none of the boxes were
ticked. In the request, the explanation for urgency was expressed as that the State had
until 4pm on Thursday 6 March to approve a share placement and until 5pm on Thursday
6 March forthe relevant documentation to be executed, failing which the State would not
secure a shareholding and would be exposed to costs of up to AUD18,0t8,000.

20.7 On 7 March 2014, the CSTB met and resolved to issue the certificate of inexpediency.
The minutes ofhe meeting noted that the CSTB "is satisfied that all process have been
followed and the award was made in accordance to the Provisions of the Public Finance
(Management) Act".The decision was n@xpressedo beconditional. The State
Solicitor was ot present at this meeting but his alternate, Deputy State Solicitor Jeklin

Talonu, was preseit®

20.8 On 10 March 2014, MEludemewrote to Mr Vele explaining that the CSTB had
approved the issue of certificates of inexpediency in respect of the local emmdiiainal
advisors but qualified the approval by noting that it was subject to the State Solicitor's
clearance and receipt of the original authority teqmamit?3*

20.9 On 12 March 2014, the Acting Board Secretary of the CSTB, Mr Babaga Naime, wrote to
the State Solicitor seeking advice in relation to the certificate of inexpedi&ncy.

20.10 On 20 March 2014, the State Solicitor wrote to Mr Naime declining to give the required

legal clearance for the certificate of inexpediency on the basis that it was not requested fol

232\WIT.0019.0002.0438
233 Minutes of CSTB meeting no. 48/14, 7 March 2014/IT.0023.0001.0028p 6 (8.5).

234 etter P. Eludeme to D. Vele, Application for certificates of inexpediencies for the engagement of financial, legal

and technical advisors in connection with the purchase and related financingofdhase by the State, 10 March
2014,WIT.0019.0004.0038
235 etter D. \ele to D. Rolpagarea, Request for issuance of legal cleairdd8&B Col 02/14 application for

certificate of inexpediencies for engagement of financial, legal and technical advisors in connection with the
purchase of shares in Oil Search Limited andteel financing of the purchase by The State of Papua New Guinea,
12 March 2014WIT.0019.0002.0431
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one of the four grounds listed in the relevant Financial Instructions and could not be
issued retrospectively to cover a contract that had already been perfétovesler, he
advised that: "Treasury and the Central Bank may consider paying for the services
rendered by the Consultants on a Quantum Meruit basis," and noted: "the payment for

legal services should be done in consultation with the Attorney Gef&ral."

20.11 On 28 March 2014, Mr Eludeme wrote to Mr Vele attaching the letter from the State
Solicitor dated 20 March 2014 and noting that the certificate of inexpediency cannot be
issued nor could the CSTB retrospectively approve the payments of services for the
engagement of the consultants. Mr Eludeme advised instead that: "The engagement and
payment of legal services from private firms must be done in consultation with the
Attorney General. Payment for the provisions of legal services should be made on
Quantum Meruit basis provided the State is fully satisfied with the services rendéfed."

20.12 On 3 April 2014, the CSTB met and resolved to rescind its decision to engage the
consultants in reliance on the State Solicitor's advice in relation to the certificate of

inexpediency>8

20.13 On 10 April 2014, Mr Eludeme wrote to Mr Vele advising of the CSTB's rescission of its
decision and advising that this "effectively nullifies the issuance of the Certificate of

Inexpediencies for these engagemefts."

236 |_etter D. Rolpagarea to B. Naime, RE: Request for Issuance of Legal Cleai@Bdd Col 02/14 Application

for Certificates of Inexpediency for engagement of Financial, Legal and Technical advisors in Connection with the
Purchase of Shares in Oil Search Limited and related Financing of the Purchase by the State of Papua New Guinea
20 March 2014WIT.0025.0001.0190p 4 (18).

237|_etter P. Eludeme to D. Vele, Legal clearance for applications for certificates of inexpediencies for the

engagement of financial, legal and technical advisors (x3) inemion with the purchase and related financial
advice of the proposed purchase of shares in Oil Search by the State, 28 Mard[200@25.0001.0203
238 Minutes of CSTB meeting no. 485/14, 3 April 2014WIT.0025.0001.0194p 6 (8.7).

239 |_etter P. Eludeme to D. Vele, Rescindimgard of contracts and nullifying issurance [sic] of inexpediencies for

the engagement of financial, legal and technical advisors (x3) in connection with the purchase and related financial
advice of the purchase of share in Oil Search by the State, 1®2Ap4,WIT.0023.0001.0046
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20.14 Mr Vele incorrectlycortended that that the CSTB had an "unfettered discretion” to issue
a certificate of inexpediency if it determines that it is inexpedient or impracticable to
require a tender process. He also contended that the Financial Instructions which limit the
groundson which a certificate of inexpediency can be issued are inconsistent with the
Public Finances (Management) Act 159%

20.15 It is submitted that clauses 1411.2 of Financial Instruction 1A/05 are not inconsistent
with thePublic Finances (Management) Act2® It is not inconsistent with section
40(3) of thePublic Finances (Management) Act 19856 Financial Instructions to be
made which prescribe the grounds on which the CSTB may certify that the inviting of
tenders is impracticable or inexpedient. Tarslitates the better control and

management of public moneys and public property.

20.16 Further, inRobmos Ltd v Punan{2008] PGNC 70; N3372 (14 May 2008) (a case cited
by the State Solicitor in his advice dated 20 March 2014), the relevant Financial
Instructions were in issue and there was no suggestion or finding that they were3tivalid.
The National Court also held that the Financial Instructions have "similar force and

effect” as thd?ublic Finances (Management) Act 1995

20.17 ltis clear that the issuing the certificate of inexpediency by the CSTB on 7 March 2014
was done contrary to clauses 1112 of Financial Instruction 1A/05. This is because:
a) there was no declared natural disaster, defence emergency, health emergency, or
situation of civil umest in existence; and b) it was effectively issued retrospectively. The

request for the certificate was also deficient and should have been recognised as such.

20.18 Further, there was no power in tRablic Finances (Management) Act 1985the CSTB
to issuea conditional certificate of inexpediency, to the extent that it purported to do.

21. TOR (r) What role did Papua New Guinean and international legal and financial

advisors play in relation to the UBS Loan

240 Affidavit of Dairi Vele sworn 26 April 202, WIT.0014.0007.0001521].
241 See in particulaRobmos Ltd v Punan§2008] PGNC 70; N3372 (14 May 2008) [589], [61], [63].
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Cc
o
0)]

21.2

21.3

As noted earlier, the Australian branch of UBS Ww&s engaged as both

@ the Stateds sol e finanddn25Febauaw208ior an

relation to:
) the management of the State's investment in Oil Search; and

(i)  associated matters flowing from the issuance of the 2009 IPIC

Exchangeable Bonds in reXpect of t
(b)  exclusive arranger of the financing facility to the S{a@® February 20143

As previously mentioned, an expert report prepared by the Brattle Group indicates that
over the life of thaJBS loan, 2014016, the Independent State paid an estimated
AUD336,300,000 to UB3! The Brattle Group further assessed that the loan involved a
transfer of AUD174,800,000 in value from the State to UBS (excluding ¥€es).

The two key personnel involvedh ®ehalf of UBS were Patrick "Paddy" Jilek and
Mitchell Turner. Both were the persons named in the "Key Man Provision" in clause 8 of

the advisory mandate letter and were identified as "Senior Team Members".

242 | etter UBS AG, Australia Branch to Dairi Vele, 25 February 20441.0015.0001.1425

243 Commitment lettet financial accommodation for the Independent State of Papua New Guinea, 27 February
2014,WIT.0015.0001.1063

244 Exhibit PPP, Third Brattle Report to the Commission of Inquiry into the UBS [W/#h,0132.0003.0002t
0037, [111].

245 Exhibit PPP, Third Brattle Report to the Commission of Inquiry intd4B& Loan WIT.0132.0003.0002t
0039, [116].
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21.4

21.5

21.6

21.7

21.8

Mr Turner was a witness to the execution offthancing mandate letter, and both Mr
Turner and Mr Jilek were also involved in the financing engagement by?t§8Sach

declined repeated invitations to give evidence.

It is noted that clause 9(b) of the advisory mandate letter contained an acknowlédgemen
on behalf of the State that UBS may engage in various activities notwithstanding that a
conflict of interest exists or may arise. Clause 9(c) referred to the creation of "permanent
or ad hoc arrangements/ i nf or matgicanflictsbfar r i
interest €& where appropriate?". However,
such arrangements or information barriers being used in the circumstances of UBS's
engagement by the State. Finally, clause 12 provided, in effect, tha riat the

intention of the parties to create a fiduciary relationship between them.

There were similar provisions in the financing mandate letter, including an
acknowledgement by the State that UBS may provide financial advisory services to the
State andhat conflicts of interest may arise (and a consent by the State to such activity),

and an exclusion of any fiduciary relationship.

Both engagement letters were governed by the law of New South Wales. In New South
Wales, a party in the position of an intrasent bank such as UBS may, by contract,
exclude or modify the operation of any fiduciary dutiksstralian Securities and
Investments Commission v Citigroup Global Markets Australia Pty Ltd (NaD@Y]

FCA 963; (2007) 160 FCR 35, 77 [2781], 82 [33].

However, regardless of whether UBS effectively excluded any fiduciary duties it had to
the Independent State, it is clear from UBS's involvement as both advisor and financier
and the involvement of key UBS personnel on both engagements that thewitsiteds
receiving proper and independent advice and representation in relation to the UBS loan.

This no doubt ladto the poor financial outcome to the State from the loan.

246 See, for exampla/IT.0099.0007.0034WIT.0099.0007.0037WIT.0099.0007.1196ASH.002.003.7510
ASH.002.001.5327
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NREA

21.9 On 6 March 2014, NRFA was retained to advise the State on the UBS LoarteDespi
requests from its former client for the production of all relevant documents including

retainers, NRFA did not produce the relevant retainer to the Commission.

21.10 No evidence has been provided to the Commission that a public tender process was

utilised kefore the awarding of work to NRFA under any of the above identified retainers.

21.11 No evidence has been provided to the Commission about the amount paid to NRFA for its
work under the various retainers. The UBS Loan documentétiodicates that a
payment ®AUD600,000 was made to NRFA from the total amount borrowed for the
Bridge Facility.

Anthony Latimer

21.12 Mr Anthony Latimer was a key advisor to the State and\fREA partner responsible for

much ofthelegal work in respect diBS Loan transaction.

21131 n his appearance before the Commissi on,

history in the Independent State:

€ The family, we have known him for a
used to run a plantation up in Gorgkaastern Highlands Province early in the

'50s and the '60s. And my dad used to operate in Goroka and | was born in
Goroka so that family connections were there. They used to run a Latimer
Plantation in the Bena Bena region of Goroka, Eastern HighlaSas.that

connectiori | do know the family longer than that but professionally about 10

years from 201448

247 Bridge Facility Agreemeni Drawdown NoticeWIT.0015.0002.126%t 1266.

248TS2506.814 (2 August 2021)
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21.14 Mr Latimer had ao previously been a Partner with Corrs Chambers Westgarth and had

advised on a number of transactions in the Sfdte.

21.15 Mr O'Neill when pressed on the role played by Mr Latimer in the UBS Loan transaction
commented that:

He would have been advising some of our departments and of couiSesut

not directly to governmert®

21.16 This is a very limited articulation of Mr Latimer's role. As will be established Mr

Latimer's involvement with the UBS Loan was extensive.

21.17 Mr Latimer is no longer a partner with NRFA. Mr Latimer is based in Australia and is not
a compellable witness. GimeMr Latimer's integral role in the UBS Loan the Commission
made a number of requests for Mr Latimer to appear on a voluntary basis to give
evidence. Mr Latimer through his lawyer Mr Yeldham of KWM confirmed receipt of

those requests but did not appeaobethe Commission.

Involvement of NRFA following MEN

21.18 While NRFA was formally retained on 6 March, evidence before the Commission
indicates that it was involved in the UBS Loan transaction immediately following the
issuance of the Mandatory Exchange Netio 14 February 20741

21.19 Mr Latimer accompanied representatives of the State including Governor of BPNG Loi
Bakani, Mr Vele and Mr Botten and Mr Aopi of Oil Search to Abu Dhabi in February
2014 to meet with IPIC and discuss the Exchangeable Béhds.

2499T7S1906.2225 (24 June 2021)
20TS1447(17 June 2021)

251 Mandatory Exchange Notice, 13 February 2028).0002.0007.2678

252 pffidavit of Dairi Vele dated 26 April 2022VIT.0014.0007.0001276].
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21.20 From 22 February 2014, Mr Latimer engaged with Mr Vele and other representatives of
the State regarding the below:

(a)  providing advice on a briefing paper prepared for Mr Vele by 988 advance
of Prime Minister O'Neill's meeting with Mr Botten including:

) that UBS recommended the State appoint NRFA as its legal advisors;

(i)  the State should obtain a term sheet from UBS to ensure terms of funding

were clear;

(i)  the State should not commit to a deal with Oil Search until funding was in

place;

(iv)  the need to identjfpossible funding risks flowing from other financing

arrangements;

(v)  querying whether the State would be able to obtain the required approvals

in the following week>
(b)  corresponding with Mr Vele noting the urgency of transaction complétton;

(c) preparing daft NEC submissions regarding the appointment of UBS as financial

advisor and NRF as legal advige?;

(d) engaging KPMG to provide advice on the UBS financial modeffthg;

253Email M Turner to D Vele, 22 February 2014, RE BMefing PaperNRF.001.001.5054

254Email A Latimer to D Vele, 22 Febria2014, RE: PM Briefing PapelRF.001.001.5052

255Email A Latimer to DVele, 26 February 2014, RE: PNGetter and announcement attached URGENT,
NRF.001.001.5334

256 NRF.001.001.4090

257 Email A Latimer to M Blake KPMG26 February 2014, PNG StétdProposed scope of work,
NRF.001.001.5248
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(e) advising the State on the draft term sié&t;
() advising on draft transaction documefits;

(g) together with PLG, Mr Maladina and Mr Changaalinating steps required for
the State to execute the agreements;

(h)  coordinating meetings between Mr Mortensen, UBS and KPNIG.

21.21 On 26 February 2014, NRFgent an email to Mr Vele and Mr Mortensen providing
initial advice on the Term Sheet for t@ellar financing transactioff! Subsequent to this
other NRFA solicitors took a larger role in the drafting of transaction documents and

coordination of executian

NRFA engagement with the Commission

21.22 It is necessary at this stage to address the conduct of NRFA and their legal representative
King WoodMallesons KWM ) with regard to their interaction with this Commission.

21.23 The Terms of Reference made it very clisat all SE's were duty bound to cooperate

with the Commission.

21.24 Those Terms of Reference were made available to KWM on 15 MarciHFZ021.

258 Email A Latimer to D Vele, 24 February 2014, RE: Bridge facility term she&£.001.001.5087

259 NRF.001.002.7597

260 Email A Latimer to C Robert28 February 2014, KPMG MeetingRF.001.001.6565

261Email T Hosetto D Vele and L Mortensen, 26 February 2014, Project Kuiniridge and Collar Financing
Transactiori Norton Rose Fulbright commenf§RF.001.001.5225

262 | etter Solicitors Assisting to A Dietz of NRFA, 15 March 2020QU.0001.0001.0001
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21.25 Despiteinitially indicating their willingness to assiffRFA through KWMconsistently
stalled and delayed the workthis Commission. NRFA had been retained under a

number of retainers between 5 December 2012 and 6 MarcH2014.
21.26 It became apparent that:

(@) the records held by NRF#ere not kept in an appropriate matter with documents

from all three retainers becoming intermingfétiand
(b)  the records held by NRFA did not adequately identify their chént.

21.27 KWM requested that a client authority be provided for each retainer. TinenSsion
attended to same and provided copies to the KWM. Even so, KWM continued to withhold
disclosure despite instructions to the contrary. KWM then wrote to the signatories seeking

to confirm that they had indeed signed the client authofftfes.

21.28 In August 2021, after 5 months of the Commission seeking the production of the
documents, NRFA through their solicitors KWM produced the relevant documents. It is

worth noting however, that these documents:

(&) were provided during the August 2021 hearings of@asmission (which at the

time were scheduled to be its last);

(b)  were not provided in accordance with the Commission's document production

protocol; and
(c) failed to include key metadata significantly complicating the review processes.

Pertusio

263 etter T Toemoe to D Kavanamur, 14 April 20€210U.0001.0001.0033

264 etter T Toemoe to Solicitors Assisting, 3 June 2@20U.0001.0001.0168

265 etter T Toemoe to Solicitors Assisting, 30 April 2021QU.0001.0001.0115

266 etter T Toemoe to D Manau, 19 May 20Z1QU.0001.0001.0153
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21.29 Pertusio Capél Partners LimitedHertusio Capital) is a company incorporated in the
Independent Stat€’Per t usi o Capital was formed fas

and investment ®holding companyo.

21.30 The company was incorporated on 1 July 2009, with Mamtensen as its sole Director
and Shareholdef® Mr Mortensen is presently based in Australia and is not a
compellable witness. At the request of the Commission he appeared before the

Commission to give evidence.

21.31 In March 2010, Nathan Chang becameige@or of Pertusio Capital, and on 16
November 2011 became a Sharehofd®kr Chang is presently based in Australia and is
not a compellable witness. At the request of the Commission he appeared before the

Commission to give evidence.

21.32 Mr Vele, following work on the establishment of Kroton No. 2 Limited which later
became Kumul Petroleum Holdings Limited (the Independent State's holding company
for its participating interest in the PNG LNG Projét})left the public service to join
Pertusio Capitalwit t he goal of building fAa?%trong
From November 2011 until 31 March 2012, Mr Vele was a Director and Shareholder of
Pertusio Capitad’®

21.33 However, emails provided to the Commission by NRF indicate that Mr Vele, despite

suppaedly leaving Pertusio Capital, continued to use his Pertusio Capital email address

267 Statement of Nathan Chang dated 21 June 2021,0095.0004.000&t 0002, [2].

268 Statement of Lars Rune Mortensen dated 21 Jung, 202°.0100.0002.000At 0003, [9].

269 View Local Company (ipa.gov.pg)

270 Statement of Nathan Chang dated 21 June 2021.,0095.0004.000&t 0002, [2].

271 Statement of Nathan Chang dated 21 R06%1,WIT.0095.0004.0004t 0002, [3].

2127S.1674.521 June 2021)

273 Affidavit of Dairi Vele sworn 29 April 2021, WITVIT.0014.0009.001 At 003, [42].
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in August 2013 in correspondence with Mr Latimer, NRF and Mr Mortet{&urther,
the necessary documents reflecting Mr Vele's cessation as shareholder and director were
not lodged until April 20147°

21.34 In August 2013, Mr Vele, as a member of the recently formed IPIC Bond Committee,
requested that Mr Mortensen accompany him to meetings in Sydney with several
international investment banks to discuss proposals to act asradvigbarrangers to the
State in its endeavours to retain a significant shareholding in Oil Sé&MhMortensen
stated that following his involvement with the bank meetings in August 2013 his role was
limited to providingad hocadvice to Mr Vele untiFebruary 2014, when he was brought

back in to advise on the UBS Loan.

21.35 Mr Chang was absent from thedependen&tate in 2013 and was generally aware of but
had limited involvement in the work performed by Mr Morten$€mdr Chang returned
to the State irarly 2014. Mr Chang described his role between February and March of
2014 as fAassistance with transaction man
Treasury and under instructions from Act

relation to theaUBS Loan?’®

21.36 However, there was no evidence of a formal contract ever being entered into between the

State and Pertusio Capital.

274NRF.001.001.276INRF.001.001.3597NRF.001.001.3664NRF.001.001.368NRF.001.001.3740
NRF.001.001.3794\NRF.001.001.379MNRF.001.001.3808\RF.001.001.3824\NRF.001.001.3840
NRF.001.001.3848\RF.001.001.3858\NRF.001.001.386INRF.001.001.387NRF.001.001.3883
NRF.001.001.388G\RF.001.001.388G\RF.001.0014040 NRF.001.001.408NRF.001.004.2455
NRF.001.004.261,GNRF.001.004.2993\RF.001.004.3093NRF.001.004.3098\RF.001.004.3115

275WIT.0155.0001.2966WIT.0155.0001.2979

276 Statement of Lars Rune Mortensen dated 21 June 20210100.0002.000At 0005 [18], Exhibit I1.

277 Statement of Nathan Chang dated 21 June 2021.,0095.0004.000&t 0002, [7].

278 Statement of Nathan Chang dated 21 June 2021,0095.0004.0004At 0002, [10].

Pagel28

ME_195780697_5


file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/NRF.001.001.2761.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/NRF.001.001.3597.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/NRF.001.001.3664.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/NRF.001.001.3683.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/NRF.001.001.3740.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/NRF.001.001.3794.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/NRF.001.001.3797.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/NRF.001.001.3808.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/NRF.001.001.3824.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/NRF.001.001.3840.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/NRF.001.001.3848.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/NRF.001.001.3858.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/NRF.001.001.3861.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/NRF.001.001.3877.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/NRF.001.001.3883.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/NRF.001.001.3886.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/NRF.001.001.3886.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/NRF.001.001.4040.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/NRF.001.001.4087.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/NRF.001.004.2455.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/NRF.001.004.2616.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/NRF.001.004.2995.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/NRF.001.004.3093.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/NRF.001.004.3098.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/NRF.001.004.3115.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/WIT.0155.0001.2966.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/WIT.0155.0001.2979.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/WIT.0100.0002.0001.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/WIT.0095.0004.0001.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/WIT.0095.0004.0001.pdf

21.37 Pertusio Capital were included in the certificate of inexpediency, but when this was
revoked were ultimately paid K1.25 million based on Mr Vele's quantum meruit

assessment. This payment was paid directly by Pacific Legal Group to Pertusio Thpital.

21.38 Thereis a question about whether Mr Vele as a former director and shareholder should
eva have been involved in approving Pertusio Capital's\i¢gesn he became a public

official.

Pacific Legal Group

2139 Paci fic Legal PLGG o uips La wlyawrs¥ofesby PdpaasNewd i n
Guinea.

21.40 Mr John Beattie, the managing partner of PLG, appears to have been the primary point of
contact with Mr Latimer and Mr Maladina, holding discussions with both to discuss the
nature of the transaction and the role that PLG twglay in regard to sam®&. This was
a pattern that was continued when it came to determining amounts to be paid to the
relevant advisors and how invoices were to be issued to the Independent State. Mr
Maladina testified that the three discussed gr@piate amount to be charged by Mr

Maladina and how that would be presented to the Department of Treasury.

21.41 On 26 February 2014, Mr Moe of NRF sent an email to Mr Beattie, the Managing Partner
of PLG and requested PLG provide an opinion, from a PapuaGgnea law
perspective, on the proposed UBS Loan undeLtiams (Overseas Borrowings) (No. 2)
Act?®! The email from Mr Moe contained a thread of emails including an advice offered
by Mr Frecker of Ashurst. THPeGwasrder st an
requested to review the advice from Ashurst and advice NRFA if the advice was in

279 etter from Nathan Chang to the Commission dated 19aari022, pp 23, WIT.0095.0006.0006

280 Affidavit in Response to Summoie$ John Donald Beattie sworn 13 June 2024T.0110.0003.000At 0003
[13]).

281 Affidavit in Response to Summons of John Donald Beattie sworn 13 June\20R.D{10.0003.000At 0002

[7]) [Exhibit RR] ; Affidavit in Response to Summons of Emmanuel Asigau sworn 9 June 2021
(WIT.0099.0006.000&t 0002 [8]);NRF.001.001.5206
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orderd?820n 27 February 2014, Mr Beattie responte/ir Moe and confirmed the

advice from Ashurst was in ord&#

21.42 Shortly after 26 February 2014, PLG was engaged by NRF following discussions between
Mr Beattie, Mr Latimer and Mr Maladiri&?

21.43 Messrs Beattie and Asigau identified two relationships that were key to PLG being

engaged in the matter. The first was:

7

€ a g btanding association with Anthony Latimer and NRF. PLG has acted as
agents for NRFA on various transactions and matters prior to and after the UBS

loan transactiorfe®

21.44 The second key relationship was with Mr Maladina, who is variously referred to as a

Consultant with and client of PLG.

21.45 As PLG was engaged by NRF, and not the Independent State directly, a formal tender
process under the PFMA was not required. No formairrer or letter of engagement

has been provided to the Commission. Mr Beattie in his sworn statement noted:

282 pffidavit in Response to Summons of John Donald Beattie sworn 13 June\@0R.D{10.0003.000At 0003
[9]) [Exhibit RR] .

283 Affidavit in Response to Summons of Johnrialdl Beattie sworn 13 June 2024I{T.0110.0003.000At 0003
[12]) [Exhibit RR]; Affidavit in Response to Summons of Emmanuel Asigau sworn 9 June 2021
(WIT.0099.0006.000At 0003 [13])NRF.001.001.5925

284 pffidavit in Response to Summons of John Donald Beattie sworn 13 JuneV20R.01100003.0001at 0003
[14]) [Exhibit RR] .

285 Affidavit in Response to Summons of John Donald Beattie sworn 13 June\20R.D{10.0003.000At 0003
[15]) [Exhibit RR] .
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| do not recall any formal retainer being signed with NRFA in respect of the
transaction. The instructions were issued and accepted on thedbdisesexisting
association between PLG and NR¥A.

2146 Wi t hout a for mal |l etter of engagement
Asigau understood that PEN&legadalvisers anahg e d
transactiord 22’ Mr Beattie, charactesie d t he r ol e tpwnagemsdn by
certain aspects of the transactién 2. Records of correspondence provided to the
Commission indicate that PLG took a more active role than town agents, liaising with

lawyers for UBS, and advising NRF on cpilance with laws of the Independent State.

21.47 By reference to the contemporaneous documents, PLG's role in the transaction included:

(@) between 1 and 6 March 2014, reviewing and providing commentary and advice
from a Papua New Guinea law perspective transadtieaments including but

not limited to:

0] Bridge Facility Agreement;

(i)  Security Trust Deed;

(i)  Specific Security Deed;

(iv)  Participant Sponsorship Agreement;
(v)  Payment Direction Deed,;

(vi)  Subscription Agreement; and

286 Affidavit in Response to Summons of John Donald Beattie sworn 13 June\202.D{10.0003.000At 0004
[17]) [Exhibit RR] .

287 pffidavit in Response to Summons of Emmanuel Asigau sworn 9 June 20Z10099.0006.000&t 0003,
[18]). [EXHIBIT M]

288 Affidavit in Response t&ummons of John Donald Beattie sworn 13 June 202T.0110.0003.000At0003
[16]) [Exhibit RR] .
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(vii) Board Resolution&®
(b) liaising generally with NRFegarding samé&®

(c) attending meetings with Secretary Vele, Mr Mortensen, Mr Chang, Mr Maladina,
Mr Latimer and Mr Jilek, at the PLG offices to discuss sé&thand

(d) on5 March 2014, Mr Asigadelivering a letter dated 4 March 2014, enclosing

copies of transaction documents to State Solié¥for.

21.48 Secretary Vele understood PLG to be local counsel for NRF. However, as NRF did not
have an office i n t he ourdediegpvéhiitm were b@hast e

external counséil foreign counsel and domestic courisdf

21.49 On 20 March 2014, despite being engaged by NRF, PLG issued an invoice in the amount
of K1,600,000.00 to Secretary Vel€. The invoice did not set out specific hours worked
by individual lawyers, although it is unclear whether this was required by the Department
of Treasury prior to making payment. When examined on the reasoning behind the
decision to issue invoices to the Independent State for payment rather than NRF, Mr

Asigau observed:

Al't would be a little bit impractical

Australia and then for Norton Rose Australia to then send the money back to us. It

289 Affidavit in Response to Summons of Emmanuel Asigau sworn 9 June @0710099.0006.000 At 0004,
[22]). [EXHIBIT M]

2% Affidavit in Response to Summons of Emmanuel Asigau sworn 9 June @0710099.0006.000At 0004,
[24]). [EXHIBIT M]

291 Affidavit in Response to Summons of Emmanuel Asigau sworn 9 June @0710099.0006.000At 0004,
[24]). [EXHIBIT M]

292 pffidavit in Response to Summons of Emmanuel Asigau sworn 9 June A0210099.0006.000&t 0005,
[28]). [EXHIBIT M]

293TS254.14 (30 April 2021)

294\WIT.0014.0015.0056
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would not make much sense to do that based on the effect isswes tatld
hav®. o

21.50 Of the K1.6 million paid to PLG by the Independent State, K1 million was paid directly
to Mr Maladin&®® for his role in referring work to the firm. PL@as paid K600,000 for

approximately 3 weeks work.

Mr Maladina

21.51 Mr Maladina was a consultant lawyer with PLG during the relevant period of the UBS
Loan?® In his capacity as consultant, Mr Maladina was billed by PLG for use of office
space, employed hissm staff and paid for his own overhe&d$.Mr Maladina was also

a source of referrals for and, at times, a client of PLG:

PLG has also had an association with Jimmy Maladina, who from time to time,
has acted as a source of referred matters for varioentdiand as a consultant on
transactions in which the firm was involved. Mr Maladina was at the time and is

currently a client of PLG%

2152Mr Mal adinads involvement i n #tisetngUBS tr a
professional relationship with Mr Latimef NRFA. Mr Maladina described himself as
Mr L at panema® s a fisdcconfact in Port Morestiy?®

295T7S1572.21(18 June 2021
296T752270.21 (28 July 2021).

297 Affidavit in Response to Summons of Jimmy Maladina sworn 22 June 202713101.0003.0002t 0003 [3])
[EXHIBIT 1]

298 TS2501.2630 (2 August 2021).

299 Affidavit in Response to Summons of John Donald Beattie sworn 13 June\@0R.D{10.0003.000At 0003
[15]) [Exhibit RR].

300TS2507.35 (2 August 2021).

Pagel33

ME_195780697_5


file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/WIT.0101.0003.0002.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/WIT.0110.0003.0001.pdf

In or around late [Septembéef}t 2013 Mr Latimer approach[ed] me to see if we
could work together if his firm North Rose Lawyers was successful inggete
mandate to work for the State of PNG on matters generally regarding the

refinancing of the IPIC bonds from the Arabs.

During these discussions | recommended that his firm, North Rose Lawyers
engage the legal services of PLG as the local firm tacadsn PNG Laws%?

21.53 In his statement to the Commission, Mr Maladina described his role in the transaction:

As a consultant with PLGattended meetings and reviewed documents on the UBS
transaction in consultation with Norton Rose Lawyers before these advices were
provided to the State of PNG.

€ | verily believe that my role was p
with PLG on the local laws and presenting the transaction documents before the

State Solicitor for his advice and legal clearance.
This is the extent of the role | played as a consultant in the UBS trans#étion.

21.54 Mr Beattie, appearing before the Commissiondesdb ed Mr Mal adi nads
consultant in a liaison type arrangement between the State agencies, UBS team, lawyers
involved and* other partieso.

21.55 Contemporaneous records of correspondence provided by PLG and NRF indicate that Mr

Mal adi naéaded:r ol e i ncl

01TS2510.46 (2 August 2021).

302 aAffidavit in Response to Summons dimnmy Maladina sworn 22 June 2024/1{.0101.0003.0002t 0004 [9
10]) [EXHIBIT 111]

303 Affidavit in Response to Summons of Jimmy Maladina sworn 22 June 20213101.0003.0002t 0004 [12
14]) [EXHIBIT 1]

304TS.2461.1718 (30 July 2021).
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(@)

(b)

(€)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(¢))

reviewing and providing commentary on transaction documents to NRF through
Messrs Beattie and Asig¥iand providing approvals of draft transaction

documents?®
providing internal PLG advice on general transaction requireni&hts;

coordination with 8cretary Vele and others in relation to the State's conditions

precedent®®

briefing Prime Minister OO6Neill on pr

Secretary Velé®®

correspondence with and delivery of documents to the State Solicitor for his legal

cleaance?®1°

correspondence with Ashurst and UBS regarding requirements for contract

completion3!t

together with Nathan Chang attending to the logistics of the signing of various

transaction documents by representatives of the Independent'3taid;

305 NRF.001.001.7062NRF.001.001.681

306 NRF.001.003.2935

307 NRF.001.001.7064

308 ASH.002.009.2313\RF.001.001.6615

309NRF.001.001.7070

310NRF.001.004.3083/V1T.0099.0007.1100

311 ASH.002.009.2930

312 ASH.002.002.743&t 7439;NRF.001.003.2932NRF.001.003.4739

ME_195780697_5

Pagel35


file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/NRF.001.001.7065.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/NRF.001.001.6871.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/NRF.001.003.2935.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/NRF.001.001.7064.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/ASH.002.009.2313.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/NRF.001.001.6615.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/NRF.001.001.7070.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/NRF.001.004.3085.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/WIT.0099.0007.1100.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/ASH.002.009.2930.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/ASH.002.002.7438.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/NRF.001.003.2932.pdf
file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/NRF.001.003.4739.pdf

(h) notfyi ng Prime Minister OO0Neil/l that pa
made monthly, requesting use of Oil Search dividends for use as first payfent.

21.56 While it might be the case that Mr Maladina was not formally employed as a lawyer he
was still exeringe me control over the advice i SsuUc¢
evidence indicates that prior to PLG issuing a legal opinion or correspondence relating to
fiot her practical i ssues € as to matters
always consults mesfore they move things or release them from the officé2¥fes
However, as Messrs Beattie and Asigau were the lawyers on record, all correspondence

was issued in their names.

21.57 Between 10 May 2013 and 31 December 2014, Mr Maladina was the holder of a
redricted practicing certificate under thawyers Act 1986 Mr Maladina gave
evidence he was nominally employed by Twikeyvyers for the purposes of his
unrestricted practising certificat®’. Mr Maladina does not appear to have provided any
legal advice directly to NRF, rather issuing advice to a Partner of PLG who then provided
it to NRF.

21.58 Evidence before the Commissiomicates that in April or May of 2014, upon payment of
its K1.6million invoice, PLG paid K1 million to Mr Maladina. Mr Maladina gave
evidence that the payment from PLG would have been paid to either Flavalea Limited or
Property and Investment Consultaithited 3*” Mr Maladina is the sole Director and

313NRF.001.004.3145

314752517.3739 (2 August 2021).

315 Exhibit 111.2 (WIT.0101.0004.0008 Exhibit 111.3 (WIT.0101.0004.0004

316TS2677.110 (6 August 2021).

317TS2503.27 (4 Augst 2021).
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file://///CWPI-PSFS01/PS/MATTERS/PNG/1288057/Legal/20220223%20-%20Hyperlinking%20Draft%20closing%20submissions%20(KF)/Final/Documents/WIT.0101.0004.0004.pdf

Shareholder of Flavalea Limit¢dand a director and shareholder of Property and

Investment Consultants L2

21.59 This payment has been described as being both a referral fee and a fee for services. Mr
Maladina in his appearance before the Commission noted that the figure was arrived at
following discussions with Messrs Latimer and Beattie. Mr Maladina estimates his fees
were between K900, 00w agierddon &fiked Agure)ia ball pak n :
figure of a million kina and that is why | rendered that fee to Pacific Legal Group. | have

no problems I believe | earned that moh#y

21.60 Mr Maladina gave evidence that his hourly rate in 2013/2014 was between K1,000 and
K,1500 per hou??! Mr Maladina stated that he no longer holds records of the time spent
on the matter. However, it appears accurate time records were not kept as Mr Maladina

i ndi c alde ektinlatiords sometimes and | put it on a weekly basis into the &cord
n 322

KPMG

21.61 KPMG was initially contactedro26 February 2018y Mr Latimer of NRFAwith a

proposed scope of work. Mr Latimer noted

"In essence the State is requesting KPMG to advise the State on a monetised collat

currently being contemplated by the Staté."

318 View Local Company (ipa.gov.pg)

319 View Local Company (ipa.gov.pg)

320T52511.3540 (4 August 2021).
21782550 (4 August 2021).
822T7S2513.2224 (4 August 2021).

323 Email A Latimer to M Blake (part of broader internal KPMG email chain), 26 February 2014, PNG State
Proposed scope of worKPM.0001.0001.0804t 0806.
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21.62 Later that day Mr Blake advised Mr Latimer that Mr David Heathcote the Head of
KPMG's Transaction Services business would lead the KPMG team on this¥fatter.

21.63 Mr Mortensen of Pertusio Capital was also involved in instructing KPMG and gave
evidence that KPMG as engaged because of:

€ the need to have the finandframlthemode
logic and accuracy plus also validating some of the work that had been done in
relation to payoff diagrams. Payff diagrams being what happens retOil
Search share price become XYZ during
was to provide that sign off or as to logic and accuracy of the modelling as well as
some analysis of the consequences of various collars as well as various exposed

outcanes3?®

21.64 On 28 February 2014, representatives of KPMG, Mr Mortensen and Mr Latimer attended

the UBS offices in Sydney to review the collar loan faciffy.

21.65 On 4 March 2014, KPMG issued a formal engagement letter to Secretary Vele, later
executed on 6 Marck0143?’ The engagement letter identified KPMG's scope of work

as:

(@) reviewing the terms of the Collar and associated bridge loan to provide a summary

to the Department of Treasury; and

(b)  providing analysis of:

$24Email M Blake to A Latimer (part of broader internal KPMG email chain), 26 February 2014, RE: PNG State
Proposed scope of worKPM.0001.0001.0804t 0806.

3257S2662.42TS2663.7 (3 August 2021).

326 Email C Roberts to A Latimer, 28 February 2014, RE: KPMG meelifR.001.001.6562Email V Casamento
to J Ng, 28 February 2014, RE: Finance dotiS Bridge FacilityNRF.001.001.660KPMG engagement letter
executed by Mr Vele, 6 March 2014PM.0001.0001.0087TS2662.42 TS2663.7.

2TKPMG ergagement letter executed by Mr Vele, 6 March 2&2M.0001.0001.0087
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) any downside price protection imbedded in@wdlar;

(i)  any potential value foregone imbedded in the Collar under various agree

scenarios;
(i)  commercial and economic risks associated with the Collar;

(iv)  the effective cost of financing for the Department of Treasury implied

through the Collar under various agd scenarios; and

(v)  the pricing mechanics of the Collar and comment on the comparison to
Afair market valueo (taking into a

21.66 KPMG was required to complete the above scope of work between 28 Februa®®2014,
when they were notified they would be engaged, and 6 March 2014 when they provided
their final advice’®® Internal KPMG correspondence indicates that, given the short time

frame, their advice was limited to a high level commentary of the UBS ¥38an.

21.67 The independent State paid KPM&D166,221.00 for the work completétt. These
funds were paid out under the Bridge Facility Agreeniddtawdown Notice*3?

21.68 No public tender took place as required by the PFMA. The Commission has not been
provided with evidencef the criteria on which KPMG was evaluated prior to their
engagement. No evidence has been provided to the Commission that inquiries were mad

with any other financial advisory firm.

22. TOR 1(s): Which individuals or organisations benefitted from the UBS.oan or

related transactions.

328 KPM.0001.0001.0800

329 KPM.0001.0001.0197KPM.0001.0001.0198

330NRF.001.002.5425

331 KPM.0001.0001.007.INRF.001.002.7826

332 Bridge Facility Agreemerit Drawdown NoticeWIT.0015.0002.126%t 1266.
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22.1

22.2

22.3

22.4

22.5

22.6

22.7

22.8

22.9

The following partiedenefited in the ways set out below.h e noti on of 0D
not connote inappropriateness unless otherwise stated.

Oil Search. The transaction enabled it to buy the PAC LNG companies. Howekad
alternative plans to raise the finance necessary for these acquisitions. The UBS Loan and
associated placement of shares with the State was therefore not its only route into PRL
15.

UBS. UBSamplybenefited from the UBS Loan through fees chargatedstate, the

payment of interest andappropriately from thenfair pricing of the loamand the

misleadingnil premiumrepresentationdts fees for the March 2014 transactions

amounted tAAUD28.4 million. UBS also benefited from the refinana@ngDecember

2014 and February 2016 (although it did not charge fees for those transactions) as well as
from the ultimate sale of the shares in September 2[i4 &xcessive or overcharging

amounts to AUD18mnillion as explained in detail by Brattighich shold be repaid.

The State's advisers.The State's advisers received significant fees for their work on the
transaction. Some of these fees appear to be out of proportion to the work done by the

advisers concerned:
KPMG were paid AJD166,221.
NRFA were paidAUD600,000.

Pacific Legal Group were paid K1.6 million. At the time, this was abéuwiD 678,000

and therefore more than NRFA was paid for a lesser role in the transaction. Of this sum
K1 million was paid to Jimmy Maladinalhere is navidence éwork by him that

would justify a fee of this amount although he sought to explain it by saying that it
reflected a longer period of work that just work on the transaction. He said that he agreed

his fee with Mr Latimer of NRFA and Mr Beattie of Pacifiegal Group.
Pertusio Capital was paid K1.25 million.

Mr Vele wasauthorised by th8tate to pay these fees using a quantum meruit assessment.
Mr Vele admitted in his evidence that he did not understand what this required and simply

paid the advisers éhfees that they had requested. For Pacific Legal Group, there was no
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fee agreement and no information provided with the invoice to explain how it was
calculated yet Mr Vele approved it without question.olim submissionthe fees seem to
have been ageel without reference to time spent on the matter. Mr Vele failed to assess
them on a proper quantum meruit basisany event we repeat our earlier submission
about the unfortunate perception of Mr Vele, as a public official, personally authorising

payment to his former business partners, when others could have done so.

22.10 Ashurst. Ashurst provided legal advice to UBS but their fees were paid by the State by

23.

23.1

23.2

being included in the Bridge Loan. Ashurst were gditD812,500.

TOR: 1(t) What would the State's(and its government owned enterprises) financial
positions have been had the UBS loan to purchase Oil search shares and the

purchase of oil search had not been entered into?

Brattle have assessed the total loss to the St#&&)B840.3 million. This is rade up of
the AUD336.3 million that they identified in their third report and a furth&iD4 million
of professional fees incurred by KPHL of which Brattle was unaware until Mr Sonk gave

evidence of this.

The principal loss oAUD336.3 million arises as follows, with numbers in brackets

showing payments to the State:

Item AUD million
Bridge Loan interest payments 22.0
Dividends (23.2)
March 2014 Bridge Loan extension fee 5.0
Funds from Letter of Credit 270.3
Front Collar Addiional Consideration 97.4
Amount
Unwind payment from February 2016 (35.1)
Collar Loan
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Total 336.3

23.3 The loss can also be shown in another way, looking at what it would have cost the State tc

23.4

23.5

hold the Oil Search shares if the transactions with UBS had been fairly priced. In Brattle's
opinion, the State actually paid a AeiD80.9 million to UBS, but if te transactions had
been fairly priced the State would have receiketD94.0 million from UBS. Thus the
transactions in aggregate transferfddD 174.8 million of value from the State to UBS.

Item AUD million

Purchase Oil Search sharef\aiD8.20 1,225
Fair value of the UBS transactions (94.0)
Value transferred to UBS 174.8
UBS Bridge Loan fee 11.7
UBS advisory fees 16.5
Other fees 3.1
Sell Oil Search shares AUD6.70 (1000.9)
Total 336.3

If the State had not sought to refinance the loans in February 2016, and simply allowed
them to expire according to their terms, the State's loss would have reduced by between
AUD74.4 andAUD75.1 million, giving a total loss of betwe&tWD261.2 million and

261.9 million plus whatever proportion tA&JD4 million of KPHL professional fees

would still have been incurred.

If the State had allowed the February 2016 loan to expire according to its terms rather
than closing it out in September 2017, the loghéoState would have beAtyD51

million less, giving a total loss of betweA/D285.3 million plus whatever proportion

the AUD4 million of KPHL professional fees would still have been incurred.
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23.6 If the State had not entered into the UBS loan and avoided tbseses, and those funds
could have been put into an operational sovereign wealth fund, from Brattle's fourth

report, it would appear that they would have generated a return of between 2% and 9%.

Sovereign Wealth Fund

23.7 Evidence before the Commission indicates that the establishing legislation for a Papua
New Guinea Sovereign Wealth Fund has already been passed by Parliament. However,
few steps have been taken in the past 7 years to implement that legislation and get a

Sovereign Wealth Fund operational.

23.8 The Prime Minister, the Honourable James Marape MP gave evidence before the
Commission that it is his Government's policy to make the Sovereign Wealth Fund
operatioral when possible®®® The Prime Minister noted howeverthadministrative
requirements for the establishment of the Trust andgpeintmenbf the Sovereign
Wealth Fund Board have not yet been attended to. A priority for the State was ensuring

that it "set up a solid structure for the Sovereign Wealth FJ#".

23.9 The Prime Minister's predecessor, Mr O'Naiil his evidence to the Commissialso
endorsed the State taking steps to implement the Organic Law on Sovereign Wealth

Funds 3%°

23.10 In this regard, the Commission received important evidence from Profes3amS
Besley and Mr David Murray AO. Professor Besley is presently a Professor at the London
School of Economics with expertise in economic policy formulation. Mr Murray has had
a significant career in the Australian banking industry culminating in 13 yeahe CEO
of Commonwealth Bank of Australand beindater appointed the inaugural Chair of the
Australian Sovereign Wealth Fuiicalled theFuture Fund) antlealso served as Chair of

the International Forum of Sovereign Wealth Funds.

333 Transcript 31 January 2022 of the Prime Idiier the Hon James Marape MP, TS3539.18.
3% Transcript 31 January 2022 of the Prime Minister the Hon James Marape MP, TS338L1.37

335 Transcript, Peter O'Neill, 7 February 2022, p 3752.
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23.11 Professor Besly and Mr Murray agreed that the Sovereign Wealth Fund did present an

opportunity for the State. Howeveheydid note some potential challenges.

23.12 Mr Murray noted that significant amount of time had passed since the Organic Law on the
Sovereign Wealth Fuhwas first approved by Parliament and that the position of the
State had changed. In 2015, it was customary for countries in the position of Papua New
Guinea for money to flow into a stabilisation fund which would smooth the budget due to
the fluctuatingnature of commodity prices. Then money would flow from that fund into a

savings fund3*

23.13 Since that time a number of complicating factors have ansBapua New Guinea

including:

(@) Government debt as a proportion of GDP has risen significantly;

(b) it hasa B- credit rating implying a very high interest rate premium; and
(c) it hasa real bond rate of 6%’

23.14 Each of these factgrbir Murray, noted would necessitate the Governnfest
prioritising fiscal consolidation, repayment of debt and restating fisdiy. 338

23.15 Both Professor Besley and Mr Murray observed that the position of the State's
institutional framework on the corruption index needed to be addressed to ensure

international credibility.

23.16 Professor Besley also noted that to improve overalilition it would be key for the State
to prioritise developing a strong private sector to develop the economy across the board

but that this could not be achieved in the absence of effective management of public

336 Transcript 10 February 2022, TS3990.6.
337 Transcript 10 Februg 2022, TS399¢3991.

338 Transcript 10 February 2022, TS3991.6
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resources. Merely creating a SWF will nottitese problems$3® Professor Besley also
noted the need to determine whether the establishment of a SWF would result in the best
return on assets compared to improving the fiscal position by using the resources in the

State's possession more wisely.

23.17 Speaking more broadly on the topic of corruption Professor Besdal/the State's place
onthe corruption index is a reflection of thedequatestructures in place for
transparency. Professor Besley, while emphasising the need for the State to develop a
bespoke and responsive approach to corruptifdrest suited to address its negusted
thatproperlyfunctioning Parliamentary Committees had an important role to play in

providing oversight and scrutiny/*

23.18 To negativeperceptions oforruption Mr Murray suggested the appointment of a panel of
experts under the auspices of the IMF, World Bank or Asian Development Bank to
review the formula under which funds would flow from the State's budget 8\ieés

stabilisation fund or savingand. This panetould be charged with recommending:
(& how funds flow from the budget into normal budgetary expenditure;

(b)  defining how ®E's should operate in terms of returns, dividend payments, new

investments and indebtedness; and

(c)  how given all of thatunds would flow into the stabilisations funds or savings

funds.342

Conclusion

23.19 Ultimately, the question of whether the Commission recommends the establishment of the

Sovereign Wealth Fund is a matter for you Commissioners. It is the view of Counsel

339 Transcript 10 February 2022, TS399992.
#Transcript 10 February 2022, TS3993.
#Transcript 10 February 2022, TS3994 1A

2 Transcript 10 February 2022, TS3996.
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Assisting the Commission that the State is best served from the Sovereign Wealth Fund
becoming operational as soon as practica&é we do rate the impact of perception of

official corruption on the capacity of the State to obtain investment and loans.

24. TOR: 1(u) The history of the Elk/Antelope PDL and PRL; (v) The approvals
process for PRL-15; and (x) Which entities have interests in ElAntelope PRL-15

since its inception

24.1 Before setting out the history of PRL 15, it is relevant to refer to the entitigseapte
involved in the companies that held interests in it.

24.2 Mr Carlo Civelli is a Swiss citize?® residing at the material time in Singapore and later
Monaco®*** Mr Civelli founded Clarion FinanAG, an asset management services firm

incorporated in Switzerlant?

24.3 Mr Philippe Mulacek is a US citizétf, who considers himself a resident of Singagbfe.
Mr Mulacek founded InterOil and was its CEO until around 6 May 2¢*.tterOil was

a Yukon Teritory, Canadian corporation.

24.4 The nature of the business relationship between Mr Civelli and Mr Mulacek was the
subject of a decision of the High Court of Singap?eThe relevance of the Singapore
proceeding is that on either paxycase, Mr Civelli hdide factocontrol of InterQOil shares
and money from 2002 to 2032 Through subsidiaries, InterQil applied to be granted the
full title to PRL 15 in 2009. It later divested its interest in PRL Abthe same time that

343 Civelli v Mulacek2019] SGHC 182, [4].

344 bid [4].

345\WIT.0030.0004.001@t 5.

346 Civelli v Mulacek[2019] SGHC 182, [4].

347 Civelli v MulaceK2019] SGHC 182, [4].

348 Cf Form 6K filed with the SEC dated 6 May 201l&nk) and Form &K filed with the SEC dated 7 May 2013

(link).

349 Civelli v Mulace2019] SGHC 182. Note that appeals were dismissed by the Court of Appeal of Singapore in
Mulacek v Civellj2020] SGCA 59.

350 Civelli v Mulacek2019] SGHC 182, [4][7].
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24.5

24.6

Mr Civelli hadde factocontrol d InterQil shares, he also controlled a group of
companies which became known as the PAC LNG companies. The PAC LNG
companies held interests in PRL 15 from 2009 until-a@id4 when those interests were

sold.

Given that Mr Civelli had control of InterOshares and the PAC LNG companies, much
of the proceeds of sale of PRL 15 interests held by InterQOil and the PAC LNG companies

would have been received by entities under Mr Civelli's control.

A notable feature of the evidenitethis Commisisomns that Mr G N éand to a lesser

extent Mr Vele wished to distance themselves from any dealings with Mr Civelli. In the
case of |lthsinvah@ed\fase statements to the commission that he had never met
or spoken to Mr Civellin 2012/3 when Mr Maladina salte had done soCritically the
Commissiorcan find thaMr O'Neill had spoken with Mr Civelli about Ekntelope If

Mr O d&'dNdenials weréalse as we submihey weref he questionlis w
went to such lengths to denydtthe very least raises suspicions that such conversations

may not have involved legitimate business dealings.

Issue of PRL 15 by the State in 2010

24.7

24.8

A Petroleum Retention LicencRL) allows the licencéolder(s) to carry out work to
evaluate the commercial and technical options for developing the underlying resource
(including whether it is worth developing at &ft}. Essentially a PRL will be granted
where an oil or gas field is known to exist, butcitenmercial viability is not yet

established?®?

PRL 15 covers a gas field in the Gulf Province calledAilkelope. Commercial
development of the Efntelope field has been called the Papua LNG Project (not to be
confused with the PNG LNG Project).

351 Department of Petroleum and Energgtroleum Policy HandbogiNovember 2005,

<https://petroleum.gov.pg/wpontent/uploads/2020/02/PNetroleumPolicy-Handbook.pdf>) page 11 [2.6].
352 0il and Gas Act 1998 39(1); Department of Petroleum and EneRgtyoleum Policy HandbookNovember
2005, <https://petroleum.gov.pg/vgontent/uploads/2020/02/PNEetroleurPolicy-Handbook.pdf>).
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24.9 1In 2005, InterOil entered an indirect participation agreement (and amendments of the
same) [PI) with various investors. The purpose of the IPI was for InterQil to raise funds
for its exploration drilling program in the State. Under the IPI, the inveptnid money
to InterQil in return for InterQil granting the investors a right to convert their share in the
IPI into a direct interest in the licences covered by the IPI (including what is now PRL 15
which was ultimately issued out of Petroleum Prospgdtinences PPL) 237 and PPL
238). Clarion Finanz AG was a party to the IPI as an inveSfor.

24.10 On 5 August 2009, SPI (208) Limited (a PNG incorporated subsidiary of Inte8Bi) (
208) lodged an application to be granted the title to PRE45.

24.11 In August D09, SPI (208) and SPI (220) Limited (another PNG incorporated subsidiary
of InterQil) agreed to sell to Pacific LNG Operations Limited BVI, a British Virgin
Islands CompanyPAC LNG Operations) a 2.5% interest in PRL 13° The transfer
was subject to Rmia New Guinea Ministerial approvaP.

24.12 The State subsequently issued PRL 15 to SPI 208 on 30 November2010.

24.13 In June 2011, SPI (208) agreed to transfer a 2.5% interest in PRL 15 to Pac LNG
Operations.Approval of the transfer pursuant to tBéd and Gas Actl998was approved

on 14 December 2011 and the transfer was entered into the register the followiriy day.

24.14 On 21 May 2012, PAC LNG Operations transferred its 2.5% interest to its subsidiary,
PAC LNG Investments Limited?AC LNG Investments), a conpany incorporated in
Papua New Guine®&®

353WIT.0042.0007.0766page 37.

354WI|T.0042.0005.0009page 3.

355 Referred to in Instrument of Transfer of PRL 15 dated 11 June 20M0042.0003.0542page 12.
356 WIT.0042.0003.0542page 13.

357 Referred to in Amendment No. 2 to Amended and Restated Indirect Participation Interest Agreement dated 24
July 2012 WIT.0042.0007.0875page 3, Recital B.
358\WIT.0042.0003.0542page 9.
359WIT.0042.0007.0043
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24.15 The IPI was amended and restated on 24 July 21Phe list of investors is different
from the IPI explained above. Relevantly, PAC LNG Operations is listed as an investor

in the amended and restated 8.

24.16 On 26September 2012, SPI1 208 and PAC LNG Operations entered into an agreement
entitled Elk/Antelope Joint Venture Operating Agreem@RI( 15 JVOA). The PRL 15
JVOA provided for the rights and obligations between the PRL 15 JVOA parties in
developing PRL 15ncluding the sharing of costs and profits. It provided for SPI (208)
to be the operator at the date of the agreement.

24.17 On 25 March 2013, SPI (208) transferred further interests totalling 20.33% to PAC LNG

companies®?

History of Oil Search's negotiations regarding PAC LNG and PRL 15

24.18 Mr Botterts evidence was that during most of 2011 and early 2012, the State and Minister
Duma publicly admonished InterQil for its recalcitrance in moving the PRL 15
development aheadn May 2012, Minister Duma formally issued a 120 day notice to
InterQil in respect of breaches of the project agreeffénir O'Neill's evidence was

similarly that the government was concerned that the project was not being dev&oped.

24.19 Mr Botten's said that, in mitflay 2012, against the backdrop of a rapidly deteriorating
relationship between InterOil and the PNG Government, Oil Search was made aware that
InterQil was running a competitive bidding process for the sale of its interest in PRL
15.365

360WI|T.0042.0007.0875

361 WIT.0042.0007.0875pages B4.

362(a) 6.75% interest in PRL 15 to PAC LNG Assets Limitéa);5.1% interest in PRL 15 to PAC LNG
International Limited; (cb% interest in PRL 15 to PAC LNG Overseas Limited; @)®.485% interest in PRL 15
to PAC LNG Holdings Limited.

363 Further statement of Peter Botten dated 27 January 2022 @N& government still aim® deliver InterQil
project- Keith Jackson & Friends: PNG ATTITUDE

364 Transcript of evidence of Peter O'Neill at [37§3]February 2022)

365 Further statement of Peter Botten dated 27 January 2022 §W51.p021.0006.0001
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24.20 During the period from 2012 to 2014 Oil Search engaged in negotiations with several
parties, including InterOil and the Pac LNG companies, concerning a possible acquisition
of an interest in PRL 1%°

24.21 The negotiations culminated in a joint bid reday Oil Search and Total for either 100%
or 85% interest in PRL 15 in August 2012, with revised joint bids made throughout 2013
until the announcement in early December 2013 by InterQil that Total were the successful
bidder of PRE15, which resulted in thTotal SPA.In accordance with agreements that
were already in place, Oil Search proceeded with negotiations to acquire a 5% (net)
interest in PRL 15 from InterQil and a 10% (net) interest in PRL 15 from Tiekal.
Botten says negotiations between Int€edd Oil Search stalled in January 2014 because

InterQil insisted on increased consideration tetfhs.

24.22 In early February 2014 negotiations between Oil Search and the Pac LNG companies
regarding PRLL5 recommenced when Mr Civelli, on behalf of the PAC LNG
Companies, approached QOil Search in early February 28 Ithese negotiations led to
the transaction by which Oil Search acquired those compakiieBotten's evidence

was 369

During these negotiations Mr Civelli said to me words to the effect that thee Pr
Minister and PNG Government supported the transacti®ythis | understood

Mr Civelli to mean that the Prime Minister and the PNG Government had no
objection to Oil Search acquiring a stake in PRL 15 by acquiring the Pac LNG
companies if such a traastion were to eventuatehis was consistent with

di scussions | had with Prime Minister
engagement of Oil Search with the Pac LNG companies as a means to address an
impasse that had arisen between the Pac LNG compamiekterOil as a result

of a reluctance on Mr Civellibés part

366 Further statement of Peter Botten dated 27 January 2022 §¥§/560021.0006.0001
367 Further statement of Peter Botten dated 27 January 2022 §¥J/560021.0006.0001
368 Further statement of Peter Botten dated 27 Jar@gg at [69]WIT.0021.0006.0001
369 Further statement of Peter Botternteth27 January 2022 at [56)/1T7.0021.0006.0001
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24.23 Mr Botten says there would have been many discussions between representatives of Oil
Search and representatives of the PNG Government about PRL 1 @2February
2014. A common subject in those discussions was concern about the lack of progress anc

Oil Searchodos interest ¥ acquiring an in

24.24 Mr O'Neill denied any knowledgiat Oil Search wished to raise money in issuing shares

to the State to acquire interest in PRL15 or that he had any dealings with Mr €#velli.

Mr O'Neill said the basic knowledge that the government or the leaders had was that Mr
Mulacek was the principal behind Inter&if. But Mr Maladina subsequently gave

evidence that Mr O'Neill and Mr Civelli, in the company of Mr Mulacek, had met on at

least two occasion¥?

24.25 On 25 February 2014, Oil Search agreed to purchase the PAC LNG companies that
together held 22.835% in PRL 15 for USD 900 mill#h.In its 2014 annual report, Oil
Search explained that it funded this purchase by the sale of shares to tR& State.

O'NEeill's evidence is that there was never any discussion about Oil Search using the funds
raised from the issue of the shares to purchase the PAC LNG Companies or an interest in
PRL 15 and that he that he never discussedMitBotten the purchase price fibre

shares which were purchased as part of the UBS*theabu would reject this evidence.

24.26 Mr Botten says Oil Search acquired the Pac LNG companies, rather than a direct
participating interests in PRL 15, as this provided the owners of the Pac LNG ¢esnpan
with a complete exit (which was something that all parties wanted), meaning that any
pref emption rights were not triggeredt. also allowed Oil Search, through its ownership

of the Pac LNG companies, to became a party to the existing PRL 15 3VOA.

370 Further statement d¢feter Botten dated 27 January 2022 at {§&P], WIT.0021.0006.0001
S Transcript at 37703771(7 February 2022)

872 Transcript of evidence of Peter O'Neill at [3763]February 2022)

373 Affidavit of Jimmy Maladina dated 9 February 20221T.0101.0005.0001

374 Oil Search ASX release 'Oil Search to acquire interest in PRL 15' (27 Februaryii)14,
375 0il Search Annual Report 2014nk), page 73.

376 Transcript of evidence of Peter O'Neill at [37§A]February 2021)

77 Further statement of Peter Botten dated 27 January 2022 at\[BRD021.0006.0001
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24.27 On 28 February 2014, SPI (208) Limited agreed to transfer 40.127529% of its interest in
PRL 15 to SPI (200) Limite#® The sale price was a nominal price of PGK 10. The
agreement was approved by the Honourable Nixon Duban MR Nthester for
Petroleum ad Energy) on 6 March 2014 and entered into the register on 7 March
201437

24.28 Accordingly, the Commission understands that PRiowAership as at 7 March 2014

was as follows®°
(@) 77.165% held by InterQil subsidiaries:
()  SPI(208) Limited 35.483871%;
(i)  SPI(200) Limited 40.127529%;
(i) SPI Security Holdings Limited 1.5536%;
(b)  22.835% held by Oil Search through the PAC LNG Companies.

24.29 As a result of Oil Search acquiring the PAC LNG companies' interest on 25 February
2014, the Total SPA could nbe completed because the Total SPA was contingent on
InterOil acquiring the minority interests in PRL 15 from the PAC LNG companies.

InterQil and Total subsequently entered into another transaction, announced on 26 March
2014, whereby a subsidiary of thetal SA Group agreed to purchase an InterQil
subsidiary that held a 40.1% participating interest in PRL 15 for USD 540.1 million.

24.30 While Oil Search disputed the validity of Total acquiring 40.1% of PRL 15 through
purchasing SPI (200) Limited and the dispwas referred to an arbitratiattiag in
London before the International Court of Arbitration of the International Chamber of
Commerce, the Total SPA was subsequently given effect by instrument of transfer and

registration with the State.

378 WIT.0042.0003.0542page 3.
$79WIT.0042.0003.0542page 1.
380WIT.0042.0003.0542page 6.
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25.

25.1

25.2

25.3

25.4

25.5

TOR (w): The scale and quantity of the PRL 15 resource
The scale and quantity of the PRL 15 resource has been queried.

For example, the Commission was provided with a report known as the "Sarkal report"
which concluded that the Elikntelope gas field, contained withHRL 15, may contain
no more than 0.52TCE of recoverable ga¥?

The Commission summonsed various relevant reports and engaged an independent
expert, Dr John Hornbrook from DeGolyer and MacNaughtogiv® his opinioron the
reasonableness of the evalaas of the gas resource in the reports and provide a review

of the Sarkal report.

Dr Hornbrook concluded that, in general, the various estimates of raw gas resources
associated with the El&Rntelope gas field are consistent and that variations in essmate
over time are in line with variation that should be expected with additional data and / or
additional analysidDr Hornbrook noted that the "best estimate" of gross raw gas
resources had ranged from 9.08TCF (31 December 2009), to 6.60TCF (31 December
2011), to 7.00TCF (31 December 2013), to 6.80TCF (30 June 2016), to 6.35TCF (31
October 2021)Dr Hornbrook noted that, while he did not have sufficient data to
independently review the specific calculations, the evaluations followed industry standard

procedures®®

In relation to the Sarkal report, Dr Hornbrook disagreed with the report's conclusion of a
"gas initially-in place" of 0.52TCF. In Dr Hornbrook's view, this was likely to be a

significant underestimaf&?

38LTCF or TSCF = trillion cubic feet.

382\W|T.0148.0001.1068page 1.

383WIT.0148.0001.0005t 0002, pages-2.

384\WIT.0148.0001.000At 0002,pages 5.
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25.6

25.7

26.

26.1

26.2

Oil Search also engaged an expertfiGgy Cline & AssociategGaffney Cline), to

comment on the Sarkal report. The Gaffney Ciemort also concluded that the Sarkal
report's gas initiallyin place estimate of 0.52TCF was unrealistically #8WThe Gaffney
Cline report concluded that theras nothing in the Sarkal report which caused it to
change Gaffney Cline's opinion that the best estimate of recoverable raw gas of the Elk
Antelope field is 6.8TCF as of 30 June 201%.

It is accordingly submitted that there has been nerepsesentatio of the size of the
PRL 15gas resource estimated in the various refdotter than the Sarkal repaort)

TOR (y): Which individuals or organisations benefitted from the 2014 sale of PAC

LNG Group of companies to Oil Search Limited and related transactios

The State borrowed more than AUD 1.2 billion to fund its purchase of 149.39 million Oll
Search shares at AUD 8.20 per share. Oil Search paid USD 900 million of that to various
entites.l n effect, the Stateds purahabésopuDdD
of PAC LNG companies, which in turn went to the beneficial owners of the entities listed
below, which includes the PAC LNG companies.

Shortly after 12 March 2014, Oil Search made the following payments from a USD
account it held with Weptic Bank PNG Limited®’

Payment to Beneficiary Amount (USD)

IPWI Partners LP IPWI Partners LP AUD | 0.6776
6,099,283.82 98

John Mack John J Mack AUD | 4.3528
39,175,352.87 17

385 Gaffney Cline, 'Comments on Sarkal Energy Report', 1 February 2022, p ©R125030.0001.000f12].

386 Gaffney Cline, 'Comments on Sarkal Energy Report', 1 February 2022, p ©RI125030.0001.00017].

387 0SL.0019.0006.02430SL.0019.0006.0515
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Bruce Hendry Sawmill Trust AUD | 4.3528
39,175,352.87 17

Pacific LNG Operations Limitec Pacific LNG AUD | 64.713
Operations Ltd 582,425,889.3¢ 9

Aton Select Fun Ltd Aton Select Fund AUD | 20.669
Limited 186,026,644.12 63

Papua's Crude Investment Papua's Crude AUD | 1.7406
Investment 15,665,401.61 00

Polygon PNG LP Polygon PNG LP AUD | 3.3762
30,385,988.5( 20

King & Spalding LLP King & Spalding LLP AUD | 0.0554
498,653.36 06

Baker Botts Baker Botts AUD | 0.0372
335,000.00 22

Maples and Calder Maplesand Calder AUD | 0.0106
96,087.37 76

Leahy Lewin Nutley Sullivan | Pacific LNG AUD | 0.0129
Lawyers Operations Ltd 116,346.15 3
TOTAL AUD 100

900,000,000.0(¢

Brattle & Opinion

26.3 Brattle considered whether the price paid by Oil Search for the interest in PRL 15 was

objectively justifiable, assuming an arm's length transaction between the buyer and seller.

Brattle noted that the temporal proximity of the Total SPA and Oil Searchase

ME_195780697_5
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26.4

26.5

26.6

26.7

26.8

27.

indicated that they might expect the two transactions to have a similar price, having taken
account of the differing sizes of the interests acquitéd.

Brattle noted that the sums paid were structured differently. Both had a fixed payment
and the a variable component depending on the scale of the resource. Oil Search's fixed

payment was greater than Total's but its variable payment less.

Which price would ultimately be best would depend on the scale of the resource. If it
were 7Tcf, then the mres paid were about the same. If the resource were smaller than
that figure, Oil Search would have paid more. The position would reverse if the resource

was greater than 7Tcf.

Brattle concluded that they had not seen any evidence to suggest thatehmatiby Oil
Search was not justified and that the prices paid by Oil Search and Total were3#ilar.

In February 2014, Oil Search estimated that the Elk/Antelope gas field contained 5.3Tcf.
If that estimate was accurate, Oil Search would pay mareTbtal. According to

Brattle 1, at that volume, Oil Search would pay USDO0.74 per mcfe whereas Total would
pay USDO0.47.

The strengths of Total and Oil Search's negotiating positions would have been different.

This is also likely to have been refleciedhe prices ultimately agreed.

TOR (aa) the rationale as to why the State/Kumul Petroleum Holdings Limited sold
the Oil Search shares in 2017 and (blwhether legal and administrative processes

were followed in the sale of the Oil Search shares?

The De@mber 2014 Novation

27.1

After the State entered into the UBS loan to acquire the Oil Search shares on 12 Mach
2014, various other associated transactions occurred in the intervening period leading to

the ultimate disposal of the shares in September 2017.

388 Brattle 1, page 67, Exhibit V\MVIT.0132.0001.0002
389 Brattle 1, page T, Exhibit VV, WIT.0132.0001.0002
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27.2

27.3

27.4

27.5

The State was never able or intended to be the long term borrower from UBS, although it
needed to be the initial borrower and shareholder in Oil Search. It could not have done sc
without breaching its debt to GDP ratio and it always intended to transferatinéol

another entity to remove the loan from the State's balance sheet. As the loan was
connected with the purchase of the Oil Search shares, it followed that the State's rights in

relation to the Oil Search shares should be transferred to the same entit

On 2 September 2014, the NEC issued decision 264/220mdrsuant to which the NEC
acknowledged the establishment of NPCP Holdings Limited (which later changed its
name to KPHI. as a wholly owned subsidiary of IPBC. It directed that all petroleum

assets of the State, including the Oil Search shares held by the Department of Treasury, b
consolidated into NPCP Holdings Limited and NPCP Kroton.

By December 2014:

(@) the UBS Bridge Feaility component of the UBS loan had been novated from the
State (NPCP Kroton) to KPHL;

(b)  the Bridge Facility component of the UBS loan had been discharged by repaying
most of it through letters of credit and converting the remainder of the loan into a

collar loan;

(c) the Oil Search shares held by NPCP (Kroton) had been transferred to NPCP
Holdings (which became KPHL).

In short, both the asset (the shares) and the debt became the concern ¢KRROP

NPCP/KPHL are reluctant shareholders

27.6

Simply put KPHL never had an appetite to hold the Oil Search shares. Mr Sonk was quite
definite about thisHe said:

(@) the Board of KPH did not consider it part of their mandatewhich was

pursuant to section 7 of Kumul Petroleum Holdings Limited Authorisation Act

390 affidavit of Wapu Sonk dated 21 Jar2021, Exhibit FF, Annexure WREL, WIT.0036.0001.0321
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2015 to hold and develop gas and oil interests, including participation in the
exploration, development, production, protegstransportation and marketing of
oil and gas producd®12 to include holding shares for investment on behalf of

the State, whether in Oil Search or any other compny;

() from the outset, the board Anever wan
wished to dispose of them as the shares and their associated debt was a burden or
KPHL;3%3

(c) as aresult the board of KPHL commenced looking for ways to dispose of the Oil

Search shares almost as soon as they were novated toRPHL.
27.7 The evidence of Frank Kramehe chair of NPCP Kroton, was to the same eff&ct.

Structure of KPHL

27.8 NPCP Holdings had originally been a subsidiary of IPBC which later changed its name to
KPHL. In September 2015, this structure was changed as a resuliafrthe
Petroleum Holding Limited Authorisation Act 281(KPHL Act).

27.9 By section 5 of the KPHL Act, the shares of NPCP Holdings (and its subsidiaries) were
transferred to the Kumul Petroleum Trustee (Kumul Trustee) and NPCP Holdings' name

was changed to KPHL.

27.10 The Kumul Trustee ithethencurrent Prime Minister who holds the shares on trust for
the benefit of the State.

27.11 The KPHL Act limits the authority of the board of KPHL. Section 13 of the KPHL Act

requires KPHL to prepare an annual plan which must then be approved by the Kum

39110 August 202 statement [2@7], WIT.0132.0001.0002
39210 August 2021 statement [28}IT.0132.0001.0002
39310 August 2021 statement [28], [32¥/T.0132.0001.0002
39410 August 2021 statement [34}/1T.0132.0001.0002

3% Exhibit CCC, statement of Francis Kramer, 5 November 2020 Y82],0037.0003.0002
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Trustee and the NEC. Section 13 also prohibits the board of KPHL from effecting
transactions that total more than K10 million in any accounting period unless they are in
accordance with the annual plan. The Kumul Trustee has the power to increase this
amount to K25 million in any accounting period but that power has never been

exercised?®

27.12 To effect a transaction above the K10 million threshold, the board of KPHL must refer
the matter to the Kumul Trustee (that is, the Prime Minister). The trusteectiees it to
the NEC for approval. As Mr Wapu Sonk put it in his statement,dfiect of Section 13
of the Act is therefore that any significant decision must involve the Prime Minister.

Without the involvement of Trustee (PM), no major decisioftéRHIL] can be made3®’

27.13 The Prime Minister is the trustee of the KurRetroleum Share Trust. The property of
the Trust is broadly defined but essentially includes the entire share capital of KPHL and
all rights and benefits attached to it, including dividend and other proj3éftge

beneficiary of the Trust is the State.

27.14 Clause 7 and 8 of the Trust Deed provide for limitations on the liability of the trustee and
an indemnities for any such liability. Importantly, the limitations and indemnities
expressly do not applyintheevenf Afr aud, gross negligenc

default of the Trustee including as a re

3% Evidence of Mr Sonk, T310112 August 202)L
397 Exhibit NNN, WitnessStatement of Mr Wapu Sonk dated 10 August 203] Y2IT.0036.(M06.0004

398 KPHL Trust Deed (dated 26 May 2016) is at 10 August 2021 statement [15], \yRBZ.0132.0001.0002Affidavit),
WIT.0132.0001.0002WRS21).
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The February 2016 refinancing

27.15 On 27 October 2015, NEC decision 308/2015 authorised KPHL to deal with the collar
loars, induding terminating the lo@wand disposing of the associated Oil Search

shares??

27.16 Whilst KPHL was, pursuant to that decision, authorised to deal with the collardsdn
pleased, any such course required the approval of the Trustee, which, for theitigye

was not forthcoming.

27.17 In January 2016, the board of KPHL resolved to seek Mr O'Neill's consent to unwinding

the collar loan$®°

27.18 ltis evident that Mr O'Neill refused this request because in February 2016, the March and
December 2014 collar loans wesdinanced agaiff with the new collar loan provided

by UBS, but with JP Morgan providing some of the loan funds to UBS.

27.19 It is unclear why KPHL elected to refinance tarch 2014 and December 2014 collar

loans rather thasimply allowing them to mature

27.20 In their fourth report, Brattle assessed that if KPHL had done this, the loss that the State
suffered as a result of the entire transaction, which Brattle assessed at AUD 336.3 million,
would have been reduced by between AUD 74.4 and AUD 75.2 millioimggavreduced
total loss to the State of AUD 261.2 to AUD261.9 million for the Sthtes therefore
clear that KPHL lost money by deciding to refinance. The principal components of this
difference are that:

(@) the State would have avoided paying UBS to imavthe March 2014 and
December 2014 collar loans and, later, the February 2016 collar loan;

3% Bundle of Documents comprising 22 pages provided by Grag@nSpage 1 and see amendment dated 30 October 2015 at pddes 13
WIT.0016.0001.0747

400\W|T.0036.0012.0003

401 Statement of Wapu@hk 10 August 202, Exhibit NNN [51] WIT.0036.0006.0004
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(b)  the State would have received different amounts in dividefids.dividend policy
under the March 2014 and December 2014 collar loans was more generous to the

Stae that the policy under the February 2016 collar loan, and

(c) the State would have received payments from UBS as the March 2014 and
December 2014 collar loans matured and the Oil Search shares were disposed of
between March and July 2016.

27.21 In addition to redoed losses, KPHL would have been freed of the loans and the shares,
an objective that it wanted to achieve so that it could undertake other projects that fell

more clearly within its mandate (in its view, holding Oil Search shares did not).

27.22 The February 206 refinancing was not fairly priced, according to Brattle, and favoured
UBS. Whilst the interest rate in the February 2016 loan was reduced, it was still above a
fair rate and the State received less than fair value when unwinding the March 2014 and
Decenber 2014 collar loansBrattle estimated in their third report that a fair payment to
unwind the March 2014 Collar Loan and December 2014 Collar Loan would have been
AUD 127.9 million paid to KPHL as the rights that KPHL was releasing had value.
fair payment to refinance with the February 2016 Collar Loan would have been AUD
191.0 million paid to UBS. On net, therefore, a fair payment would have been AUD 63.0
million from KPHL to UBS. KPHL in fact paid AUD 101.8 million. Thus, in aggregate,
these traresctions transferred AUD 38.8 million of value from KPHL to UBS

Attitude of the Trustee

27.23 Throughout 2016, the Board of KPHL maintained their view of exiting the collar loans as
soon as possibl&or example, at a Board meeting on 28 January 2016 it restlat
the Managing Director should return to the Shareholder to seek endorsement for KPHL to
unwind and not replace the existing equity collar on the basis that it is not commercially

viable."02

402 Kumul Petroleum Holdings Limited, Extract of Meeting Minute28 January 2016/IT.0036.0012.0003
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27.24 According to Mr Sonk's written evidence, KPHL received egdbout the sale of the
shareholding from a number of sourégs:

(@) From January 2015, it had received advice from Tony Kelly.

(b)  From about March 2017 to the sale of the shares in September 2017, KPHL's
primary adviser was Mr Robert Acevski, KPHL's CFO.

(©) From time to time, Mr Sonk would talk with Mr Jilek and Mr Turner of UBS.
They would discuss the market, the performance of thierapand when the right

time to sell might be, amongst other matters.

(d) By aletter dated 10 October 2015, Mr O'Neill had exercised his powers as trustee
of KPHL to appoint Dr Jacob Weiss as economic and financial advisor to himself
as trustee. The lettef appointment stated that Dr Weis was to be invited to all
KPHL board meetings and have the right to express his views and advice to the

board on economic and financial matt&fs.

27.25 As mentioned above, KPHL required, in effect, Mr O'Neill's approval agg&tstsell the
Oil Search shares. Mr Sonk said that he had discussed the sale with Mr O'Neill over a

lengthy period of time. His written evidence wé3:

(@)  Atthe time of the 2016 refinancing of the collar loans, Mr Sonk and Mr O'Neill
had several discussions in which Mr O'Neill had agreed that KPHL should unwind
the collar loans if it was unable to refinance the loans with a cheaper and more

traditional styé of loan.

(b)  From those discussions, Mr Sonk was also aware that Mr O'Neill wanted the State

to get out of the Oil Search shareholding because the collar loans were expensive

403 Statement of Wapu Sonk dated 10 August 20234B2Exhibit NNN,WIT.0036.0006.0004
404 Statement of Wapu Sonk dated 10 August 2021, AnnexédreExhibit NNNWIT.0036.0006.0063

405 Statement of Wapu Sonk dated 10 August 2021, [3BHff and [70]Exhibit NNNWIT.0036.0006.0063
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(€)

(d)

for KPHL to maintain in comparison to the minimal returns on dividends and Mr

O'Neil wanted KPHL to invest in the Papua LNG project.

Whilst there was no disagreement between Mr Sonk and Mr O'Neill about whether
the shares should be sold, Mr O'Néil Mr Sonk's estimatiorgaw a difficulty in
managing this politically. This was not ancern of KPHL but because of Mr

O'Neill's dual roles as Prime Minister and Kumul Trustee and the scale of the
transaction, KPHL had to wait for Mr O'Neill to give his approval to sell the

shares.

KPHL was thereforeseeminglywaiting for the politics, sharprice and other
factors to align before the shares could be sold. Mr Sonk noted that whilst the
timing had to be right for KPHL, the primary consideration of Mr O'Na#l Mr

Sonk understood ityas a politically acceptable narratith.

27.26 Mr Sonk furtherexplained in oral evidenc¥’

Q. Well, the obvious question then, Mr Sonk, is if you already had apjfirtxal

approval from the NEC at the end of October 2015 to finally exit this transactior,
why did it take until 2017 for you to actually exit thengaction?

A: There were two in this transactidrthere is two trigger points that we looked al
One was where is the share price and in relation to the put of $7.38. If it came |
$7.38, we would exit without paying any more money; that was our amgedlso

the political sensitivity around this decision because the same trustee made the
decision to go in and the same trustee has made the decision to come out. So
sensitive to something like that so we would be sensitive about making such a

decision.

é

406statement of Wapu Sonlatkd 10 August 2021 [359] Exhibit NNN, WIT.0036.0006.0004

407 Evidence of Mr Sonk, T3168110 (L2 August 202)L
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Q. é So, |l et us just clarify this.
October 2015 so is your evidence that from somewhere even a little bit before
October 2015, you had discussions Ww

out of the Oil Search shareholding?
A: He was prepared to get out hence these decisions, yes.

Q: And that is only what 18 months after the transaction was entered into in the

place?
A: Correct.

Q: And whyi so you have told us that one of thengs that you were keeping an ey
on was the share price but also you referred to the politics of it. Now, can | take
to paragraph 37. You say that what you understood from the discussions you h
with Prime Minister OO Nisagréementabout whethar
KPHL should dispose of the Oil Search shares but the difficulty the then Prime
Minister saw in managing this politically. What did he say to you about the polit

this decision to sell Oil Search shares?

A: Itis just 2016 he did not say, | am justpolitics is around the corner in 2017.
He did not say that but | am just saying that we saw it as him thinking about the

consequences of 2017 politics when making these decisions in 2016.
Q: You had regular discussions with theme Minister about this topic?
A: Not about his politics and how to manage these things [but] about the shares

Q: And that continued from the latter half of 2015 all the way to September 201

when the shares were finally sold, is that right?
A: Correct

Q: And you see paragraph 38, you sa
to give his approval to sell the Oil Search shares, without that approval KPHL ¢

simply not sell | take it? So, again despite having the authorization to dbahe
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shares, however you please, since October 2015 and the NEC decision, you s
you stil!l needed Peter OONeill 6s ap

A: Yes. And also | do not think a lot of people, even the politicians and even the
trustee maybe did manderstand that the right time to sell was when the share p
was at the put or below so we would not pay anything else and come out. That

look like we are selling at a loss and hard to message that was one of the diffic

Q: And the issuef the share prices is something that you regularly kept the Prin

Minister informed about?
A: Correct. Well, discussions around that and where it is at.

Q: You say in paragraph 29 that the timing had to be right for KPHL and | will jy
stop there, thais the share price. So in your mind the timing was timing in relatig

to share price, is that right?
A: Correct.

Q: And you said the primary concern

accepted narrative, And what narrative is that?

A: Narrative and explaining exactly why we are getting out and putting a positiv|
spin when the share prices are below $8.20 that was announced in 2014 that w

getting into.

27.27 However, Mr Sonk later clarified that he did not recall any actual conversationslwith
O'Neill about his need to manage the issue politically and that the only reasons Mr
O'Neill gave for his position were that the collar loans were expensive in comparison to
the returns on dividends and Mr O'Neill wanted KPHL to invest in the Papua LNG

project408

408 Statement of Wapu Sonk dated 22 February 2022;6p 5
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27.28 When Mr O'Neill was asked whether his primary consideration as to when to sell the
shares was a politically acceptable narrative he answered: "That is not quite true. A
politically acceptabledic] does not determine share prices. It will depentirely on
shares of value reflected on the stock market for Oil Search and that is for the Board to
consider.%%® But the fact remains that the vital strategic need to own Qil Search shares
disappeared very quicklyleaving not only large losses but the questionbat did the
UBS Loan achievé and what was it ever intended to achieve.

27.29 On 1 August 2017, Mr O'Nkwas formally reelected as the Prime Minister. This

development may have cleared the way for the sale of the Oil Search klmaveser,

when it was put to Mr O'Neill that he waited until he won the election to approve the sale

of the Qil Search shargise replied: "That is not quite true; g
27.30 KPHL obtained advice from Mr Tony Kelly on 10 August 2017 that:
(@ an Oil Search closing price of $6.48 wasthe money

(b)  KPHL could 'request Early Termination of both Collar Loans" and "the Back
CollarConf i rmati on Agreementeée requires
termination date. In practice, this means that the banks need to be allowed to
complete their Delta hedging programme underlying each Collar Loan in an
order |l y mar k e tobligeéto notifye[KPbila] of khe setdement
amount within [one] business day of the agreed Termination 'fates

(c) KPHL would "receive back from UBS and JPM the pro rata amounts epaie
interest relating to the unexpired period of the two Collar L6aasd

(d) the "approximate amount of interest to be repaid [at a share price of $6.48] is
A$20,878,656and 'the approximate net proceeds to KPHL of an early

termination given today would be approximately A$155 million

409 Evidence of Peter O'Neill, T3783.
410 Evidence of Peter O'Neill, T3785.

411 \WIT.0036.0007.0445
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27.31 In his statement of 10 August 2021, Mr Saakd that in or about August or September
2017, he was told by his chairman, Sir Moi Avei, who had met with Mr O'Neill that
KPHL could now sell the Oil Search shares. Sir Moi said that Mr O'Neill would manage

the politics of the situation and defend theigien*?

27.32 Sir Moi Avei provided a statement to the Commission dated 5 November 2020. The
statement does not mention the meeting with Mr O'Neill or the instruction to Mr Sonk but
states that at the 11 August 2017 KPHL board meeting, Mr Sonk recommeatled th
and Sir Moi should speak to Mr O'Neill as the Kumul Trustee about the risks and strategy

KPHL should consider in advance of the maturity d&te.

27.33 When Sir Moi Avei gave oral evidence to the Commission, he denied that he had met Mr
O'Neill to discusstte sale of the Oil Search shafés.

27.34 The 19 September 2017 board meeting of KPHL approved the unwinding of the collar
and sale of the Oil Search shates.

27.35 Mr Wato recalled that®

On 19 September 2019 [sic: 2017], the KPHL Board decided to seek the PniséeMi

[sic] consent to the sale of the Oil Search shares, but defer seeking and obtaining the
Nati onal Executive Counsel ds [sic] appro
subsequently seek the approval and ratification of the National Exe&divesel [sic].

This was necessary to manage share price sensitivities in the market because any leakag
of news that KPHL is about to sell the [Oil Search] shares would affect the [Oil Search]
share price and have a negative impact on the margin due td_Ki®kh the sale or

412 statement of Wapu Sonk dated 10 August 2021 [66] Exhibit NMN,0036.0006.0004
413 Statement of Sir Moi Avei dated 5 November 2020, Exhibit DIDDT.0074.0003.0002
44 Evidence of Sir Moi Avei, T2383

41510 August 2021 statement [68)IT.0036.0006.0004

416 Statement of Rogen Wato dated 8 June 2021, Annexurd RWIT.0038.0004.0004
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mi ght even result in a total | oss. Il un

approach was received prior to the Board

27.36 Mr Sonk said the following in his statement to the Commisdaiad 13 November 2020:

(@) Before 19 September 2017, he met with Peter O'Neill to discuss the possible sale
of the Qil Search sharé¥’

(b)  On 19 September 2017, KPHL had a Special Board Meeting at which multiple
options to reduce or cease the shareholding ir5€irch were canvass&d.The
board resolved t@uthorise a physical unwind of the collar structure to allow the
KPHL group to terminate the collar and for KPHL to have "no further exposure to

the [shares]*!®

(c) Between 19 September and 21 September 204 Bonk met with Mr O'Neill as
the Kumul Trustee regarding the board's decision to terminate the collar loans and

sellthe share¥®°No wr i tten approval of the sal

(d)  KPHL announced its decision to sell the shares after the classdofg on 21
September 20171

() KHPL sold the shares held by Kumul Investments on 22 Septembe?26126
September 20173

27.37 Mr Sonk gave oral evidence to the Commission confirming that:

417 Statement of Wapu Sonk dated 13 November 2020, ExhibMFE0036.0003.0002142]
418 Statement of Wapu Sonk dated 13 November 2020, ExhibMFE0036.0003.0009144]
419 Statement of Wapu Sonk dated 13 November 2020, ExhibiMFE0036.0003.0002146]
420 Statement of Wapu Sonk dated 13 November 2020, ExhibiMFE0036.0003.0002148]
421 Statement of Wapu Sonk dated 13 November 2020, ExhibiMFE0036.0003.0002149]
422 Statement of Wap8onk dated 13 November 2020, Exhibit FAT.0036.0003.0002125]

423 Staement of Wapu Sonk dated 13 November 2020, ExhibitWAF,0036.0003.002 [150]
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(@8 He met Prime Minister O'Neill on 19 September 2017 to seek his consent to the sale of
the Oil Search shares and unwinding the collar loans. He had some PowerPoint slides
which he showed to Mr O'Neill that, in Mr Sonk'’s view, demonstrated that it waglie r

time to sell the shares. Mr Sonk cannot now locate those #ides.

(b)  He had a second meeting with Mr O'Neill discussing the sale of the ékares.
From paragraph 148 of Mr Sonk's statement of 13 NovembefZp2@vould
seem likely that this meetingdk place on about 21 September 2017.

27.38 In his statement of 10 August 2021, Mr Sonk stated‘ffat:

From in person discussions | understood that the then Prime Minister Peter O'Neill
considered that he would be able to sell a narrative that the sale ofdhessdt that time

was in fact "made money" [sic] because:

(a) The sale was at above market price, being the difference between the market price of
AUD$6.70 and the average strike price of the put options at AUD$7.38 creating what is

described as a residuakofit;[is this the difference between cash and 'value']
(b) the sale generated AUD $35 million to KPHL comprising:

(i) the "residual profit"; and

(i) refund of the prepaid interest.

27.39 Of course, far from making money the UBS Loan as a whole creategealbss.

Sale of the Shares and unwinding the collar

27400n12 October 2017 NEC decision NG29/ 2017

revised operating plan together with a special dividend to the State of $31.5.million

424 Evidence of Wapu Sonk T16131 June 2021
425 Evidence of Wapu Sonk T16121( June 2021
426 Statement of Wapu Sonk dated 13 November 2020, ExhibiMFE0036.0003.0002148]

427 Statement of Wapu Sonk dated 10 August 2021 [70] Exhibit NMN,0036.0006.0004
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2741 Mr OO Nei | | d i ssexaminé Mr&pnk dnyhese @r acother other) issues.
Further, whi |l st Mr OO6 Nei | | gave further
2022, he did not seek to tender any further statement that might have responded to Mr

Sonkds evidence.
27.42 We note the flbowing people involved in the decision:
(a)  From January 2015, KPHL retained Anthony (or Tony) K&ify.

(b)  From March 2017 until the sale in September 2017, the primary advisor to the
KPHL board was Robert Acevski, Chief Financial Officer of KPHL

(c)  Mr Sonk had reglar contact with Paddy Jilek and Mitch Turner of UBS and

sought advice from them including in
b e'®.

d July 2017, JP Morgan present atanmea con
that is debunked by botfir Sonk as well as Brattle.

() Mr Sonk said that Mr OO6Neill 6s advi so
Isaac Lupari, Chief of Staff, and the Dr Jacob W&i8Br Weiss had been
appointed by Mr O6Neill to act as MnAEc
which in effect was Mr O&Neill 6s eye

27.43 Whilst Mr Sonk and his team were at times slow to produce documents and information,
he ultimatelygve evidence contrary to KPithaLi®te an
say, evidence which does not put KPHL or himself in a perfect light and he also exposed,

in an unfiltered way, some of the internal conduct and thinking inside KPHL. For that

42810 August 2021 statement [44){IT.0036.0006.0004
42910 August 2021 statement [46]VIT.0036.0006.0004
43010 August 2021 statement [42]VIT.0036.0006.0004

43110 August 2021 statement [4R43] , WIT.0036.0006.0004
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reasm, andbecause contemporaneous documents supportthgrsubmitted that he is a
witness to be believed.

27.44Where Mr Sonko6s evi deMrB8akictobe préferredt s wi t h

27.450n t he ot her hand, wher e Mr Sohekiévsorevi de
calculations of his advisors as set out in his evidence conflicts with Brattle, then Brattle is

to be preferred.

COUNSEL ASSISTING THE COMMISSION

DR JAMES RENWICK CSC SC DR DOMINIC KATTER  LEVENTE JURTH
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